
 
 

 

 

12 August 2020 

At 5.00 pm 

 

Local Planning Panel 
 

 
 



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 

  

Agenda 
  

 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   Confirmation of Minutes 

3.   Development Application: 21C Billyard Avenue, Elizabeth Bay - D/2019/665 

4.   Development Application: 6-8 Orwell Street, Potts Point - D/2020/65 

5.   Development Application: 306 Cleveland Street, Surry Hills - D/2020/230 

6.   Development Application: 22-28 Mandible Street, Alexandria - D/2019/578 

 



 

 

 

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to speak directly to 
Members of the Local Planning Panel (LPP) about items on a meeting agenda. 

Webcast  

In accordance with the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and the City of Sydney 
Local Planning Panel Operational Procedures, LPP meetings are recorded and webcast live on the 
City of Sydney website at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au.  

Members of the public attending a LPP meeting may have their image, voice and personal 
information (including name and address) recorded, publicly broadcast and archived. 

Consent  

By attending a LPP meeting, members of the public consent to this use of their image, voice and 
personal information.  

Disclaimer 

Statements made by individuals at a LPP meeting, and which may be contained in a live stream 
or recording of the meeting are those of the individuals making them, and not of the City/LPP. To 
be clear, unless set out in a resolution, the City/LPP does not endorse or support such 
statements. 

The City/LPP does not accept any liability for statements made or actions taken by individuals 
during LPP meetings that may be contrary to law, including discriminatory, defamatory or offensive 
comments. Such statements or actions are not protected by privilege and may be the subject of 
legal proceedings and potential liability, for which the City/LPP takes no responsibility. 

To enable the LPP to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time available, 
we encourage people interested in speaking at meetings to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Secretariat on 9265 9702 or emailing 
secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au before 10.00am on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the LPP report before speaking, as it may address your 
concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker and prepare your 
presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and information 
that the LPP may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to nominate 
three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how many people they are 
representing. 

At the start of each LPP meeting, the Chair may re-order agenda items so that those items with 
speakers can be dealt with first. 

LPP reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au  

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Disclosures of Interest 

In accordance with section 4.9 of the Code of Conduct for Local Planning Panel Members, 

all Panel members are required to sign a declaration of interest in relation to each matter on 

the agenda. 

1

Item 1.



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Confirmation of Minutes 

Minutes of the following meeting of the Local Planning Panel, which have been endorsed by 
the Chair of that meeting, are submitted for noting: 

Meeting of 22 July 2020 

1

Item 2.



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Application: 21C Billyard Avenue, Elizabeth Bay - D/2019/665 

File No.: D/2019/665 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 26 June 2019. Amended plans received on 23 October 
2019, 15 January, 7 May and 15 July 2020 

Applicant: Cracknell & Lonergan Architects 

Architect/Designer: Cracknell & Lonergan Architects 

Owner: Patrick Lane 

Cost of Works: $385,000 

Zoning: R1 General Residential. The proposed residential use is 
permissible with consent. 

Proposal Summary: Approval is sought for alterations and additions to an 
existing residential flat building comprising an additional 
storey containing a new living space and outdoor terrace to 
Unit No. 11.  

The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for 
determination as it is contentious development, being a 
development receiving 25 or more unique submissions by 
way of objection.  

The application was amended to address a number of 
issues identified by Council during assessment. These 
issues relate to owner's consent, solar access, floor to 
ceiling height, detailed design, materiality and provision of 
a 3D digital model.   

On 15 April 2020 the application was submitted to the 
Local Planning Panel for determination. The application 
was recommended for refusal as an adequate 3D digital 
model had not been received and a full and proper view 
sharing assessment could not be undertaken. The Panel 
resolved to defer consideration of the application until a 
subsequent meeting of the Local Planning Panel to enable 
the applicant to submit the necessary material to allow for 
assessment of the 3D model and the view loss impacts.  

1

Item 3.



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

The application was notified for a period of 14 days 
between 8 July and 23 July 2019. A total of 33 individual 
submissions were received following public exhibition of 
the application.  

Following the submission of amended plans and the 3D 
model, the application was renotified for a period of 14 
days between 25 May and 9 June 2020. A total of 13 
submissions were received. Issues raised include view 
loss, height, detrimental impacts on the streetscape and 
character of the heritage conservation area, solar access, 
owner's consent, construction impacts, structural capacity 
of the existing building and reduced access to the roof top. 
These concerns are addressed within the report. 

The proposal is generally consistent with the relevant 
planning controls contained in Sydney LEP 2012 and 
Sydney DCP 2012 and will not result in unacceptable 
impacts to adjoining properties, subject to conditions.  

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: (i) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

(ii) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

(iii) State Environmental Planning Policy (Building 
Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B. Selected Drawings 

C. Shadow Study  

D. 3D Visualisations  

E. View Sharing Photomontages 

 

  

2



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2019/665 subject to 
the conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The proposal is generally consistent with the relevant objectives and controls of 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

(B) The proposal exhibits a suitable built form, design and materiality in the context of the 
heritage conservation area and is appropriate within the streetscape.   

(C) The proposal will not result in unacceptable amenity impacts on surrounding properties 
and does not detrimentally impact upon view corridors. 

(D) The proposal exhibits design excellence in accordance with Clause 6.21 of the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

  

3



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. Site visits were carried out by Council staff on 21 August 2019, 16 June, 25 June and 
30 June 2020.   

2. The site is rectangular, with area of approximately 1,464sqm. It has a primary street 
frontage to Billyard Avenue and a secondary street frontage to Onslow Avenue. The 
site has a substantial slope from Onslow Avenue to Billyard Avenue. Two brick 
residential flat buildings are contained within the site. One fronts Billyard Avenue, and 
the other Onslow Avenue.    

3. The subject building is orientated towards Onslow Avenue and has an address of 10 
Onslow Avenue. This building presents as five storeys to Onslow Avenue. Due to the 
slope of the site the subject building is seven storeys at its highest point.  

4. Surrounding land uses are residential, primarily in the form of residential flat buildings 
in a diversity of styles. To the north west is the building known as 21 Billyard Avenue, 
which is on the same site as the subject building and is of the same construction. This 
building is separated from the subject building by approximately 4.5m and is orientated 
towards Billyard Avenue. 

5. To the immediate north is a residential flat building known as 8 Onslow Avenue. This 
building is red brick and presents as three storeys to Onslow Avenue. 

6. To the immediate south is a residential flat building at 12 Onslow Avenue known as 
Darnley Hall. This building presents as five storeys to Onslow Avenue. 

7. To the west across Onslow Avenue is an eight-storey heritage listed building at 13 
Onslow Avenue known as Meudon. To the south west at 15-19 Onslow Avenue is a 
16-storey contemporary residential flat building known as Elizabeth Bay Gardens.   

8. The site is within close proximity to a number of State and local heritage listed items, 
including Elizabeth Bay House, Onslow Place and Arthur McElhone Reserve located 
to the north and north-west of the site. 

9. The site is not a heritage item but is located within the Elizabeth and Rushcutters Bay 
Conservation Area (C20). 

10. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

4



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

 

Figure 2: Site viewed from Onslow Avenue looking north 

5



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 3: Site viewed from Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 4: Site viewed from Onslow Avenue looking west 

6



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 5: View looking south from top of Arthur McElhone Reserve towards the Meudon and 
Elizabeth Bay Gardens buildings   

 

Figure 6: View looking south east from Elizabeth Bay House  

7



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 7: View of subject site from Billyard Avenue 

Proposal 

11. Approval is sought for alterations and additions to Unit 11 consisting of: 

(a) the construction of a new storey on the southern portion of the building 
containing a living space, bathroom and outdoor terrace area; 

(b) installation of an internal circular stairwell connecting the new storey to the 
existing Unit 11; and 

(c) enclosure of northern terrace on the existing level Unit 11 for a wintergarden.   

12. The application was amended to delete a green roof that was originally proposed on 
the rooftop fronting Onslow Avenue. The amended plans and documents are the 
subject of this report.   

13. Plans of the proposed development are provided below. 

  

8



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 8: Proposed southern elevation 

 

Figure 9: Proposed northern elevation 

9



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

 

Figure 10: Proposed western elevation to Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 11: Proposed roof plan 

10



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

Amended documentation and additional information 

14. The application was amended on five separate occasions to address a number of 
issues relating to floor to ceiling height, materials, colours and finishes, as well as 
details for the now deleted green roof. The amended plans submitted on 15 July 2020 
address these items.  

15. In addition to the above amendments, additional information was requested throughout 
the course of the assessment, including:  

(a) Owners consent: 

(i) On the 4 July 2019 strata owners consent, was sought.  

(ii) On 6 September 2019, following submissions received from other unit 
owners within the building, Council requested further clarification for 
owners showing the relevant strata minutes permitting lodgement of the 
DA.  

(iii) Additional information was submitted on 6 September 2019 satisfactorily 
addressing this issue.       

(b) Shadow diagrams: 

(i) On 10 September 2019 hourly solar elevations were requested 
demonstrating the amount of direct sunlight to the northern facing windows 
of Darnley Hall at 12 Onslow Avenue.  

(ii) The required solar elevations were submitted on 24 October 2019. These 
elevations have since been updated to reflect further amendments to the 
height of the building. Shadow studies submitted on 15 July 2020 address 
this requirement.   

(c) View impact assessment:   

(i) The original application did not provide adequate information for a proper 
view sharing assessment of the potential impacts from adjoining properties.  

(ii) On the 10 September 2019 a view impact assessment was requested that 
specifically shows the existing and proposed views from adjoining 
properties potentially impacted by the proposal.  

(iii) On the 26 September 2019 the applicant was requested to submit a 3D 
digital model of the existing building to determine which properties would 
be potentially impacted by the proposal.  

(iv) On 8 November 2019 a 3D digital model was submitted by the applicant. 
The City's model makers advised that the model did not meet the City's 
requirements and could not be used to assess potentially view impacted 
properties.  

  

11



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(v) Additional requests for the submission of the 3D model were made on the 
13 November, 13 December and 15 January. Given the ongoing delay, on 
7 February Council requested the applicant withdraw the application and 
resubmit when the outstanding information was prepared.  

(vi) On 15 April 2020 the application was submitted to the Local Planning 
Panel (LPP) for determination. The application was recommended for 
refusal as an adequate 3D digital model had not been received. Due to 
lack of information, a full and proper view sharing assessment could not be 
undertaken, and the application could not be supported as it failed to 
demonstrate compliance with the objectives of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012, including Clause 4.3(c) Height of buildings and 
Clause 6.21(4)(c) Design excellence in relation to view sharing and 
potential detrimental impacts on view corridors. 

(vii) The resolution from the 15 April 2020 LPP meeting is as follows:  

Resolution - The Panel deferred consideration of Development Application 
No. D/2019/665 until a subsequent meeting of the Local Planning Panel to 
enable the applicant to submit the necessary material to allow for 
assessment of the 3D model and the view loss impacts.  

Reasons for Decision - The Panel considered it reasonable to defer 
rather than refuse the application as there appears to be reasonable 
potential for the additional information required to finalise assessment of 
the application to be submitted shortly.    

16. On the 26 May 2020 the applicant submitted an adequate 3D Model, as well as 
amended architectural drawings and shadow diagrams to addressed inadequate floor 
to ceiling height of the new addition.  

17. Following the submission of the adequate 3D Model, the City's Model Team and 
Surveyors were engaged to assist in the preparation of documentation to inform a 
detailed view sharing assessment.  

18. A full view sharing assessment is provided in the Issues section of this report. Selected 
view impact documentation and site photos are the provided in Attachments D and E.  

Final amended documentation 

19. During the preparation of view impact documentation, RLs included on the drawings 
previously submitted by the applicant were found to be inaccurate. In this regard, the 
existing building was noted at a height of RL 33.52 on the submitted elevations, 
however based on the 3D Model information, which has since been verified onsite by 
Council Surveyors, the existing building was found to be lower at a height of RL 33.31.  

20. On the 15 July 2020, amended architectural drawings and shadow diagrams were 
submitted to Council. These drawings show the height of the proposed addition at a 
maximum RL of 36.31, which is 210mm lower than the previous set of plans. 

21. The revised drawings show an overall height that is 210mm less than that shown on 
previously re-notified plans, representing a reduction in potential impact to adjoining 
properties. As such, the revised drawings were not re-notified.    

22. The revised drawings and shadow diagrams are included in Attachment B and C to 
this report and address all outstanding items raised by Council.   

12



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

23. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP) 

24. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

25. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protecting and improving hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic 
processes; 

(b) considering cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improving water quality of urban runoff and reducing the quantity and frequency 
of urban run-off; and 

(d) protecting and rehabilitating riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

26. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the 
deemed SEPP. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

27. The BASIX Certificate has been submitted with the development application. 

28. The BASIX certificate lists measures to satisfy BASIX requirements which have been 
incorporated in the proposal.  

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

29. The site is located within the R1 General Residential zone. The proposed use is 
defined as residential and is permissible  

30. The relevant matters under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 for the proposed 
development are outlined below. 

  

13



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 22m is permitted. 

A maximum height of 20.2m is 
proposed. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio Yes A maximum FSR of 4.5:1 is permitted. 

A FSR of 2.05:1 is proposed. 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The subject site is located within a 
heritage conservation area. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Division 4 Design excellence Yes The proposed development satisfies the 
requirements of this provision. 

The proposal presents an acceptable 
built form that is not out of character with 
the existing streetscape.  

The proposed development does not 
detrimentally impact on view corridors. 

The proposal will not result in 
unacceptable amenity impacts on 
surrounding development including 
visual and acoustic privacy or 
overshadowing.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 
  

14



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

31. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – The Bays 

The subject site is located in The Bays Locality. The proposed alterations and additions 
are in keeping with the unique character of the area and design principles in that it 
responds to the streetscape of the heritage conservation area and maintains important 
views to and from Elizabeth Bay House, Sydney Harbour and parks. 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal satisfies BASIX and 
environmental requirements. 

3.9 Heritage Yes The existing building is a neutral building 
in a conservation area.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

3.14 Waste Yes Standard conditions are recommended 
requiring the proposal comply with the 
relevant provisions of the City of Sydney 
Guidelines for Waste Management in 
New Development. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed-use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height 

4.2.1.1 Height in storeys 

4.2.1.2 Floor to ceiling height 

Assessed as 
acceptable 

The site is subject to a six storey height 
control. The proposed building currently 
presents as five storeys to Onslow 
Avenue. The proposal retains this 
appearance as the additional storey is 
setback 4.4m from the existing building 
and approximately 10m from the Onslow 
Avenue property boundary.  

The proposal increases the building 
height in the middle of the building from 
six to seven storeys. This is acceptable 
from a streetscape point of view. See 
discussion under heading Issues. 

15



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed-use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

The additional storey proposes an 
internal floor to ceiling height of 2.7m, 
which complies with the minimum DCP 
requirement.  

4.2.3 Amenity 

4.2.3.1 Solar access 

4.2.3.7 Private open space 

4.2.3.8 Common open space 

Yes The proposal will not adversely 
overshadow adjoining properties. See 
discussion under heading Issues. 

The proposal complies with the private 
open space provision by providing a 
terrace area in excess of the 10sqm 
minimum requirement.  

The roof top is not currently accessible 
and is not formally utilised as common 
open space for the residential flat 
building.   

Issues 

View sharing - background    

32. The application proposes alterations and additions in the form of an additional storey 
to the existing building. The allowable building height, as prescribed by Clause 4.3 of 
Sydney LEP 2012 is 22m. The proposal complies with this numerical requirement, with 
a maximum building height of 20.2m.  

33. In addition to compliance with the numerical building height control, the proposal must 
satisfy the objectives of the building height control, including objective 4.3(1)(c) to 
promote the sharing of views. The proposal must also satisfy the design excellence 
provisions including Clause 6.21(4)(c) whether the development detrimentally impacts 
on view corridors.   

34. The site is located in Elizabeth Bay where many properties enjoy views to the water. 
Some of these views are partial views from living areas, while others are from 
bedrooms across side boundaries. Due to the topography of the surrounding land and 
the density of the area, the proposal has the potential to impact many properties, to 
varying degrees.  

  

16



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

35. The originally submitted application did not provide adequate information to make a 
proper view impact assessment of the potential impacts from adjoining properties. The 
submitted Assessment of View Sharing report identified 11 properties that would be 
potentially impacted by the proposal. Section 3.1 of the report acknowledges the 
limitations of the assessment, including that physical access to the properties was not 
achieved, and as a result, assessment material including floor plans and photographs 
were sourced from marketing material. The assessment notes that while effort was 
made to verify the source material, inaccuracies such as the distortion of perspectives 
in images may exist. This is why properly verified view loss information was sought 
from Council.  

36. The applicant's Assessment of View Sharing report is not adequate to undertake a 
detailed view analysis of the proposal. As such, Council's Model Team and Surveyors 
were engaged to prepare view impact documentation that has been utilised to carry 
out a detailed view sharing assessment of the proposal.    

View sharing - methodology 

37. The 3D Model was used to generate a series of visualisations based on the abstract 
City Model. These 3D visualisations are included in Attachment D of this report. 

38. Based on a review of these 3D visualisations, several surrounding properties were 
identified as having potential view loss as a result of the proposal. These properties 
are identified in Figures 12, 13 and 14 and are listed below:  

(a) Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

(b) Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue 

(c) Unit 10/12 Onslow Avenue 

(d) Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue. 

39. On the 25 June 2020, a team of Council Officers visited the potentially affected 
properties. The team included Council's Assessment Planner, Surveyors and 3D 
Modellers. Photographs were taken from selected rooms of these properties using a 
35mm lens. The photographs were used to create photomontages illustrating the 
location of the proposed addition on the existing building. The location of the existing 
building was verified by Council's Surveyors. The photomontages prepared by 
Council's Model Team are consistent with the requirements of the NSW Land and 
Environment Court practice note.  

40. In addition to the team site visit undertaken on 25 June, additional site visits were 
undertaken by Council's Assessment Planner on 16 June and 30 June. These site 
visits were made to assess the potential view loss resulting from the proposal to a 
number of additional properties, which are identified in Figures 12, 15 and 16 and 
listed below: 

(a) Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

(b) Unit 2/13 Onslow Avenue 

(c) Unit 4/13 Onslow Avenue      

(d) Unit 5/13 Onslow Avenue 

17



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(e) Unit 8/13 Onslow Avenue            

 

Figure 12: Location of buildings with potential view loss (yellow) in relation to the subject site (blue)  

 

Figure 13: Northern elevation of Units 10, 11 and 12 of 12 Onslow Avenue, viewed from the location 
of the proposed addition  

11 10                      

12                     

18



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 14: Eastern and northern elevation of Units 4D and 5D of 15-19 Onslow Avenue, viewed from 
the location of the proposed addition 

  

Figure 15: Northern and eastern elevations of Units 2, 4, 5 and 8 of 13 Onslow Avenue, viewed from 
the location of the proposal 

5D 

4D 

8 

4 

2 

5 

19



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

41. As seen in Figures 14 and 15 above, a number of other buildings can be viewed from 
the location of the proposed addition. These include 36B Onslow Place, 40 Macleay 
Street, 42 Macleay Street, 6A Greenknowe Avenue and 11 Onslow Avenue. A detailed 
view sharing assessment has not been undertaken for these buildings for the following 
reasons:  

(i) 3D visualisations prepared for 6A Greenknowe Avenue show that while the 
addition would be visible from some kitchen and bedroom windows, the 
amount of view loss is negligible when compared to the overall views 
retained. See Attachment D for 3D Visualisations.  

(ii) The proposed addition when observed from 36B Onslow Place, 40 
Macleay Street and 42 Macleay Street would not be readily discernible as it 
would be viewed against the existing lift overrun and stairwell of the 
building.  

(iii) While the building at 11 Onslow Avenue is located directly opposite the 
development site, the building sits below the level of the proposed addition.  

View sharing - assessment  

42. Assessment of view impact is undertaken based on the principles of view sharing 
established in Tenacity Consulting v Warringah Council [2004] NSWLEC 140. In the 
Tenacity case, Senior Commissioner Roseth notes that: 

The notion of view sharing is invoked when a property enjoys existing views and 
a proposed development would share that view by taking some of it away for its 
own enjoyment. (Taking it all away cannot be called view sharing, although it 
may, in some circumstances, be quite reasonable.)  

43. To decide whether view sharing is reasonable or not, Senior Commissioner Roseth 
developed a four step assessment, which is summarised in part below: 

(a) The first step is the assessment of views to be affected. Water views are valued 
more highly than land views. Whole views are valued more highly than partial 
views, e.g. a water view in which the interface between land and water is visible 
is more valuable than one in which it is obscured.   

(b) The second step is to consider from what part of the property the views are 
obtained. For example, the protection of views across side boundaries is more 
difficult than the protection of views from front and rear boundaries. The 
expectation to retain side views is often unrealistic.   

(c) The third step is to assess the extent of the impact. This should be done for the 
whole of the property, not just for the view that is affected. The impact on views 
from living areas is more significant than from bedrooms or service areas.   

(d) The fourth step is to assess the reasonableness of the proposal that is causing 
the impact. A development that complies with all planning controls would be 
considered more reasonable than one that breaches them. 

44. Where views are partially obstructed by mature trees, 3D visualisations have been 
utilised to assess the existing view and potential view impacts without the vegetation 
present, in the event the trees are pruned or removed in the future.     

20



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

45. Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue is the penthouse apartment located immediately to the 
south of the proposed addition. It is located on the top floor and attic portion of 12 
Onslow Avenue and takes up the entire floorplate.  

(a) Views to be affected: Views north across the rooftop of the development site 
towards Sydney Harbour, including Fort Denison, as well as the headland of 
Garden Island.     

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the side (northern) 
boundary from a dressing room, master bathroom and laundry on the main floor 
and a bedroom/study on the attic floor. Views from this property are also 
obtained over the rear (eastern) property boundary from the kitchen, living/dining 
room and balcony. Views over the rear (eastern) boundary would not be 
impacted by the proposed addition.     

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figures 16, 17 and 18 the proposed 
addition will have a severe impact on views from the master bathroom. The 
proposal will completely obscure existing views from this room to Sydney 
Harbour, including Fort Denison. A similar extent of impact is expected from the 
dressing room (Figure 19 and 20). Notwithstanding this impact, views to the 
harbour, including Fort Denison are retained from the attic bedroom (Figure 21), 
as well as the kitchen (Figure 22), living/dining room (Figure 23) and balcony 
(Figures 24 and 25).      

(d) Reasonableness: The protection of views from the side windows of Unit 12 is not 
considered reasonable in this instance. The proposal complies with the relevant 
planning controls that control height, bulk and scale, including height in metres, 
solar access and height in storeys at Onslow Avenue. Opportunities for a more 
skilful design to reduce the view impact are limited as the addition is positioned 
directly above Unit 11, is setback from the northern, southern and western 
property boundaries and is provided with the minimum height to meet BCA 
standards. Further, while relocating the addition to the west to sit closer to 
Onslow Avenue may protect some views towards Sydney Harbour, protection of 
views to Fort Denison cannot be achieved.   

    

21



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 16: Existing view from master bathroom of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

    

Figure 17: 3D visualisation of proposal from master bathroom of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue  

 

22



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 18: View of proposal from master bathroom of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 19: Existing view from dressing room of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

23



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 20: 3D visualisation from dressing room of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 21: View of proposal from attic bedroom/study of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

24



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 22: Existing view to be retained from kitchen of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

  

Figure 23: Existing view to be retained from living/dining room of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

25



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 24: Existing view to be retained from balcony of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 25: Existing view to be retained from balcony of Unit 12/12 Onslow Avenue 

26



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue 

46. Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue is located on the 5th floor of the building immediately to the 
south of the proposed addition. It is contained within the eastern portion of the 
floorplate and shares the floor with Unit 10.  

(a) Views to be affected: Views northwest across the rooftop of the development site 
towards buildings of Potts Point and the sky.     

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the side (northern) 
boundary from a study and laundry. Views from this property are also obtained 
over the rear (eastern) property boundary from the balcony, kitchen and second 
study. Views over the rear boundary would not be impacted by the proposed 
addition.      

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figure 26 and 27 the proposed addition will 
be highly visible from the study and completely obscure existing views from the 
study to the buildings of Potts Point however views to the sky are retained. While 
the proposed addition will be highly visible from the property, the extent of impact 
is minor due to the nature of the views being obscured and the rooms from which 
they are viewed. A similar extent of impact is expected from the laundry. Views 
to the harbour over the eastern property boundary are retained from the balcony 
(Figure 28), kitchen (Figure 29) and second study (Figure 30).  

(d) Reasonableness: The protection of views from the side windows of Unit 11 is not 
considered reasonable in this instance as the proposal complies with the 
relevant planning controls and opportunities for a more skilful design to reduce 
the view impact are limited. For instance, relocation of the addition towards 
Onslow Avenue would not result in the retention of a meaningful portion of the 
existing view to Potts Point.  

 

Figure 26: Existing view from study of Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue 

27



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 27: View of proposal from study of Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 28: Existing view to be retained from balcony of Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue 

28



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 29: Existing view to be retained from kitchen of Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 30: Existing view to be retained from second study of Unit 11/12 Onslow Avenue 

29



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Unit 10/12 Onslow Avenue 

47. Unit 10/12 Onslow Avenue is located on the 5th floor of the building immediately to the 
south of the proposed addition. It is contained within the western portion of the 
floorplate and shares the floor with Unit 11. 

(a) Views to be affected: Views north across the rooftop of the development site. A 
small portion of tops of buildings located north of Sydney Harbour, with most of 
views being of the sky.     

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the side (northern) 
boundary from the dining room, kitchen and laundry. Due to the height and 
orientation of the unit, views to Sydney Harbour are not obtained from this unit 
from these or other rooms.   

(c) Extent of impact: Figures 31 and 32 shows that the proposed addition will 
obscure a small portion of distant buildings located north of Sydney Harbour, 
with the remainder of view to be obscured being to the sky. While the proposed 
addition will be highly visible from the property, the extent of impact is minor due 
to the nature of the views being obscured and the rooms from which they are 
viewed. A similar extent of impact is expected from the kitchen and laundry.  

(d) Reasonableness: The protection of views from the side windows of Unit 10 is not 
considered reasonable in this instance as the proposal complies with the 
relevant planning controls and relocating the addition towards Onslow Avenue 
would not improve the view impact.  

 

Figure 31: Existing view from dining room of Unit 10/12 Onslow Avenue 

30



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 32: View of proposal from dining room of Unit 10/12 Onslow Avenue 

Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

48. Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue is located on the opposite side of Onslow Avenue to the 
south of the proposed addition. It is a corner unit and is located in the northern corner 
of the floorplate.  

(a) Views to be affected: Partial views north across the rooftop of the development 
site towards Sydney Harbour and the headland of Garden Island.  

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the front (eastern) 
boundary from the balcony and the side (northern) boundary from the living 
room. A large street tree partially obscures views towards the development site 
and beyond. Views obscured by trees are also obtained over the front (eastern) 
property boundary from the balcony, kitchen and master bedroom.    

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figure 33, 34 and 35 the proposed addition 
will obscure a portion of Sydney Harbour and some of the Garden Island 
headland from the balcony. Figure 37 and 38 also show that views to the water 
and a small portion of Garden View will be obscured from the living room. Views 
towards portions of Sydney Harbour are retained above and to the side of the 
proposed addition from both of these rooms. While the proposed addition would 
be visible from the property, the extent of impact is moderate. This is due to the 
partial views that are both obscured and retained. Further, as shown in Figures 
39 and 40 below, partial views to Sydney Harbour are retained from this property 
across the front (eastern) boundary from the balcony and master bedroom.  

(d) Reasonableness: The protection of views from the side windows of Unit 5D is not 
considered reasonable in this instance as the proposal complies with the 
relevant planning controls relocating the addition towards Onslow Avenue would 
not improve the view impact. 

31



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 33: 3D visualisation of proposal from balcony of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 34: Existing view from balcony of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

proposed addition 

32



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 35: View of proposal from balcony of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 36: 3D visualisation of proposal from living room of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

proposed addition 

33



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 37: Existing view from living room of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 38: View of proposal from living room of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

34



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 39: View to be retained from balcony of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 40: View of to be retained from master bedroom of Unit 5D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

35



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

49. Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue is located on the opposite side of Onslow Avenue to the 
south of the proposed addition. It is a corner unit and is located in the northern corner 
of the floorplate.  

(a) Views to be affected: Partial views north across the rooftop of the development 
site towards Sydney Harbour and the headland of Garden Island.  

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the front (eastern) 
boundary from the balcony and the side (northern) boundary from the living 
room. A large street tree partially obscures views towards the development site 
and beyond. Views obscured by trees are also obtained over the front (eastern) 
property boundary from the balcony, kitchen and master bedroom.    

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figure 41 and 42 the proposed addition will 
obscure a portion of the Garden Island headland and the water from the balcony. 
Figure 43 and 44 also show that views to the water and a small portion of 
Garden View will be obscured from the living room. Views towards portions of 
Sydney Harbour are retained above and to the side of the proposed addition 
from both of these rooms. While the proposed addition would be visible from the 
property, the extent of impact is moderate. This is due to the partial views that 
are both obscured and retained. Further, as shown in Figures 45 and 46 below, 
partial views to Sydney Harbour are retained from this property across the front 
(eastern) boundary from the balcony and master bedroom.   

(d) Reasonableness: The protection of views from the side windows of Unit 4D is not 
considered reasonable in this instance as the proposal complies with the 
relevant planning controls and relocating the addition towards Onslow Avenue 
would not improve the view impact. 

 

Figure 41: 3D visualisation of proposal from balcony of Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

proposed addition 

36



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 42: Existing view from balcony of Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue.   

 

Figure 43: 3D visualisation of proposal from living room of Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

proposed addition 

37



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 44: Existing view from living room of Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 45: Existing view to be retained from balcony of Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

38



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 46: Existing view to be retained from master bedroom of Unit 4D/15-19 Onslow Avenue 

Unit 8/13 Onslow Avenue 

50. Unit 8/13 Onslow Avenue is located on the opposite side of Onslow Avenue to the 
west of the proposed addition. It is located at the point of the floorplate.  

(a) Views to be affected: Views east across the rooftop of the development site 
towards Sydney Harbour including Clarke Island and the headlands of Elizabeth 
Bay, Darling Point and South Head beyond, as well as headlands north of 
Sydney Harbour.  

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the front (eastern) 
boundary from the living/dining room. Views are also obtained towards Sydney 
Harbour and Potts Point across the side (northern) boundary from an enclosed 
balcony.  

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figure 47 the proposed addition will be 
visible from the living/dining room window. Due to the height of the unit above 
the proposed addition and the existing lift overrun and stairwell, the proposed 
addition will obscure a very small portion of water from the living/dining room. 
The impact is negligible. Further, as shown in Figures 48, 49 and 50 below, 
views to Sydney Harbour and headlands beyond are retained from this property 
across the front (eastern) and side (northern) boundaries from the enclosed 
balcony.  

(d) Reasonableness: The proposal would have a negligible impact on views from 
this property and as such, is considered reasonable. 

39



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 47: 3D visualisation from living/dining room of Unit 8/13 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 48: Existing view (vast majority to be retained) from living/dining room of Unit 8/13 Onslow 
Avenue 

proposed addition 

40



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 49: Existing view to be retained from living/dining room of Unit 8/13 Onslow Avenue 

  

Figure 50: Existing view to be retained from enclosed balcony of Unit 8/13 Onslow Avenue 

41



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Unit 5/13 Onslow Avenue 

51. Unit 5/13 Onslow Avenue is located on the opposite side of Onslow Avenue to the 
west of the proposed addition. It is located at the rear of the floorplate.  

(a) Views to be affected: Views east across the rooftop of the development site 
towards Sydney Harbour including Clarke Island and the headlands of Elizabeth 
Bay, Darling Point and South Head beyond, as well as headlands north of 
Sydney Harbour. 

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the side (northern) 
boundary from the enclosed balcony that is connected to the living/dining room.  

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figure 51 the proposed addition will be 
visible from the window of the enclosed balcony. Due to the height of the unit 
relative to the proposed addition and the existing lift overrun and stairwell, the 
proposed addition will obscure a very small portion of buildings in Darling Point 
and all water views would be retained. The impact is negligible. Further, as 
shown in Figures 51 and 52 below, views to Sydney Harbour are retained from 
this property across the side (northern) boundary from the enclosed balcony.  

(d) Reasonableness: The proposal would have a negligible impact on views from 
this property and as such, is considered reasonable. 

 

Figure 51: Existing water view to be retained from enclosed balcony of Unit 5/13 Onslow Avenue 

42



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 52: Existing view to be retained from enclosed balcony of Unit 5/13 Onslow Avenue 

Unit 4/13 Onslow Avenue 

52. Unit 4/13 Onslow Avenue is located on the opposite side of Onslow Avenue to the 
west of the proposed addition. It is located at the point of the floorplate.  

(a) Views to be affected: Views east across the rooftop of the development site 
towards Sydney Harbour including Clarke Island and the headlands of Elizabeth 
Bay, Darling Point and South Head beyond, as well as headlands north of 
Sydney Harbour.  

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the front (eastern) 
boundary from the living/dining room. Views are also obtained towards Sydney 
Harbour and Potts Point across the side (northern) boundary from a balcony.  

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figure 53, 54 and 55 the proposed addition 
will be visible from the living/dining room and balcony. Due to the height of the 
unit relative to the addition and the existing lift overrun and stairwell, the 
proposed addition will obscure a very small portion of Darling Point buildings 
from the balcony and sky from the living/dining room. No water will be obscured 
and the impact is negligible. Figures 54 and 55 also show that views to Sydney 
Harbour are retained from this property across the front (eastern) and side 
(northern) boundaries from the living room and balcony.  

(d) Reasonableness: The proposal would have a negligible impact on views from 
this property and as such, is considered reasonable. 

43



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 53: 3D visualisation from living/dining room of Unit 4/13 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 54: View towards proposed addition from living/dining room of Unit 4/13 Onslow Avenue 

44



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 55: Existing water views to be retained from enclosed balcony of Unit 4, 13 Onslow Avenue 

Unit 2/13 Onslow Avenue 

53. Unit 2/13 Onslow Avenue is located on the opposite side of Onslow Avenue to the 
west of the proposed addition. It is located at the point of the floorplate.  

(a) Views to be affected: Views above the rooftop of the development site of the sky.  

(b) Part of property viewed from: Views are obtained over the front (eastern) 
boundary from the living/dining room. Views are also obtained towards Sydney 
Harbour across the side (northern) boundary from a balcony.  

(c) Extent of impact: As demonstrated in Figure 56 the proposed addition will be 
visible from the living/dining room window, however largely obscured by a 
mature tree (Figure 57). The proposed addition would be more readily visible 
from the balcony (Figure 58). Due to the height of the unit relative to the addition 
and the existing lift overrun and stairwell, much of the addition will be viewed 
against the backdrop of the existing lift overrun and stairs, with a small portion of 
the sky being obscured. The impact is minor. As shown in Figure 59 and 57, 
water views from the living/dining room and balcony are retained.  

(d) Reasonableness: The proposal would have a minor impact on views from this 
property and as such, is considered reasonable. 

45



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 56: 3D visualisation from living/dining of Unit 2/13 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 57: Existing water views to be retained from living/dining of Unit 2/13 Onslow Avenue 

46



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 58: Existing view towards development site from balcony of Unit 2/13 Onslow Avenue 

 

Figure 59: Existing water views to be retained from balcony of Unit 2/13 Onslow Avenue 

47



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

View sharing - conclusion 

54. The proposed addition will be visible from a number of units within adjoining buildings, 
to varying degrees.  

55. The view sharing assessment found that the protection of views from adjoining 
properties is not considered reasonable in this instance. This is due to several reasons 
outlined below and for some properties, more than one reason applies:   

(a) despite the proposal obscuring views from some units, the value of views 
(including to water) that would be retained from these properties from other 
vantage points in the units remains high; 

(b) the location of existing views to be obstructed, being over side boundaries and/or 
from rooms that are not readily afforded protection such as bathrooms and 
bedrooms; 

(c) views that would be obstructed, being largely of sky are less valuable; 

(d) when significant views would be obstructed, these are partial views; and 

(e) opportunities for a more skilful design to reduce the view impact are limited to 
relocating the addition closer to Onslow Avenue. However, in all cases, this 
redesign would not result in a meaningful reduction of view impact from affected 
rooms.  

56. While it is acknowledged that the proposal is not without view sharing impacts, the 
results of the Tenacity assessment conclude that view loss from adjoining properties 
as a result of the proposed addition are reasonable for the reasons described above.   

Heritage  

57. The site is located within a Conservation Area and is therefore subject to the heritage 
provisions of Sydney DCP 2012. The subject building is defined as neutral and is 
within close proximity to a number of heritage listed items, including Elizabeth Bay 
House and Arthur McElhone Reserve.  

58. Section 3.9.8 of Sydney DCP 2012 requires that alterations and additions to neutral 
buildings respect the original building in terms of bulk, form, scale and height and use 
appropriate materials, finishes and colours that do not reduce the significance of the 
conservation area. The potential impacts of the proposed addition on the existing 
building and conservation area are discussed below.  

Height in storeys and streetscape 

59. The proposed addition is setback 4.4m from the front of the existing building and 
approximately 10m from the Onslow Avenue property boundary. This setback allows 
the proposal to retain the existing buildings five storey presentation to Onslow Avenue.    

60. The proposal increases the building height in the middle of the building from six to 
seven storeys. This is acceptable from a streetscape point of view as the proposal 
would not be overly visible from Onslow Avenue or Billyard Avenue, and the increased 
height in this location is adjacent to the existing lift overrun (Figure 60).  

  

48



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

61. It is noted that the no objectives with regard to protection of views are outlined in the 
height in storeys DCP objectives or provisions. The objectives and provisions, outlined 
in 4.2.1.1 of Sydney DCP 2012 relate to streetscape and neighbourhood character. 
The considerable setback of the addition from Onslow Avenue results in a building that 
is not inconsistent with the streetscape and will not detract from the heritage 
conservation area. The proposal satisfies the objectives and provisions of the DCP 
with regard to height bulk and scale and streetscape.      

 

Figure 60: North elevation of existing building and proposed addition showing setback from Onslow 
Avenue and additional height in storey 

Materials and finishes  

62. Following a review of the original proposal by the City's Heritage Specialist and Urban 
Designer, a number of concerns were raised with regard to materiality. The originally 
proposed materials, which included marble cladding, tile cladding and zinc, were out of 
character with the existing building, which is primarily constructed of brick and render. 
The application also lacked detail regarding materials, colours and finishes.     

63. The application was amended to simplify the proposed material palette to better align 
with the materials of the existing building and surrounding conservation area, as well 
as provide addition details on proposed colours and finishes.  

64. Revised materials include the use of metal cladding in a neutral, recessive colour 
(Colorbond Windspray) for the southern and western elevations and aluminium framed 
clear glazing to the northern elevation to match (Figure 61).      

  

49



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 61: Proposed materials and finished, eastern (L) and southern (R) elevation 

65. The refinement of materials results in a building that is not inconsistent with the 
streetscape and will not detract from the heritage conservation area.     

Solar access  

66. Sydney DCP 2012 requires that neighbouring developments achieve a minimum of 2 
hours direct sunlight between 9am and 3pm on 21 June to at least 1sqm of living room 
windows and 50% of the required private open space area. The DCP does not allow 
for the protection of rooms other than living rooms, such as kitchens, dining rooms, 
bathrooms, laundries or bedrooms.   

67. Immediately to the south of the subject site is 12 Onslow Avenue. As demonstrated in 
Figure 62, which was taken at 3pm on 25 June, the northern elevation of 12 Onslow 
Avenue already experiences overshadowing from the existing building at 10 Onslow 
Avenue. The proposed addition has the potential to create additional solar access 
impacts to the northern windows of 12 Onslow Avenue, particularly during mid-winter.   

68. The applicant has submitted a shadow study that includes elevational shadow 
diagrams indicating the extent of additional overshadowing on adjoining windows on 
the northern elevation of 12 Onslow Avenue as a result of the proposal. The shadow 
study was updated on the 15 July to reflect the RLs of the existing building and 
proposed addition, following verification by Councils Land Surveyors.         

50



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 62: Northern elevation of 12 Onslow Avenue, located immediately to the south of the site   

69. A review of floor plans as well as site visits  demonstrate that living room windows and 
private open space areas are either orientated to the east towards the harbour, or to 
the west towards Onslow Avenue. Windows located along the northern elevation are to 
bedrooms/studies, dining rooms, kitchens, laundries and bathrooms. Figure 63 shows 
the northern elevation of 12 Onslow, with corresponding unit and floor numbers.  

70. The shadow study demonstrates the proposal does not result in any increased 
overshadowing to the northern elevation:  

(a) to any windows on any floor between 9.00am and 11.00am at mid-winter  

(b) to any windows on the ground floor, first floor and second floor at any time 
between 9.00am and 3.00pm at mid-winter    

(c) to any windows on the fifth or sixth floors at any time between 9.00am and 
3.00pm at mid-winter.  

71. The shadow study demonstrates the proposal will have increased overshadowing to:  

(a) windows of Unit 6, located on the third floor, between 11.30am and 2.00pm      

(b) windows of Unit 7, located on the third floor between 1.00pm and 2.00pm 

(c) windows of Unit 9, located on the fourth floor, between 1.30pm and 3.00pm  

site 

12 Onslow 
Avenue 

51



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 63: Northern elevation of 12 Onslow Avenue, with corresponding unit and floor numbers    

72. While the proposed addition will result in some additional overshadowing on the 
northern elevation during mid-winter, overshadowing to 12 Onslow Avenue will not 
result in unacceptable impacts as follows:  

(a) The proposed addition will not result in the overshadowing to living rooms or 
private open space areas, as these are either orientated to the east towards the 
harbour, or to the west towards Onslow Avenue.  

(b) The proposed addition will result in additional overshadowing to windows of three 
units. The overshadowing of these windows is acceptable as these windows are 
not to living rooms and are therefore not protected from overshadowing under 
the DCP. 

(c) The windows that experience additional overshadowing will still receive a 
minimum of 2 hours of direct sunlight through the day to a significant portion of 
the window between 9am and 3pm on the 21 June.       

Other Impacts of the Development 

73. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA. 

74. The proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to environmental, social 
or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

75. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that proposed. 

52



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Internal Referrals 

76. The conditions of other sections of Council are included in the proposed conditions. 

77. The application was discussed with the Heritage and Urban Design Specialists; 
Building Services Unit and Surveyors who advised that the proposal is acceptable 
subject to the recommended conditions. 

External Referrals 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (Submission(s) Received) 

78. In accordance with the Community Participation Plan 2019 the proposed development 
is required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 14 days 
between 8 July 2019 and 23 July 2019. As a result of this notification a total of 317 
properties were notified and there were 33 submissions received.  

79. Following the submission of amended plans and documentation, the application was 
re-notified for a period of 14 days between 25 May and 9 June 2020. As a result of this 
notification a total of 13 submissions were received. 

(a) The proposal would result in loss of important views and vistas from private 
properties.   

The proposed works are unnecessary. Unit 11/10 Onslow Avenue already has 
area and harbour views and the addition will affect the views and amenity of 
residents in a number of nearby properties.  

Response - The extent of the loss of views has been assessed in detail in the 
Issues section of this report. As outlined in the Tenacity principles, the notion of 
view sharing is invoked when a property enjoys existing views and a proposed 
development would share that view by taking some of it away for its own 
enjoyment. While it is acknowledged that the proposal is not without view sharing 
impacts, the results of the Tenacity assessment conclude that view loss from 
adjoining properties as a result of the proposed addition is not unacceptable.   

In relation to whether the proposal is unnecessary, Commissioner Roseth in 
Super Studio vs Waverley Council [2004] NSWLEC 91 states that the 
acceptability of an impact depends not only on the extent of the impact but also 
on reasonableness of, and necessity for, the development that causes it. Unit 11, 
10 Onslow Avenue already benefits from views, however this does not mean that 
an additional terrace with views is inappropriate, rather, its impact should be 
assessed with more scrutiny. The proposed addition has been assessed in detail 
and is found to be acceptable.  

(b) The proposal would result in loss of important views and vistas from Elizabeth 
Bay House.  

Response - The location of the proposed addition, as viewed from Elizabeth Bay 
House is shown in Figure 6. The proposal, when observed from Elizabeth Bay 
House will be seen against the backdrop of the existing lift overrun and the 
building at 12 Onslow Avenue. It will not obscure views or vistas from Elizabeth 
Bay House.  

53



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(c) The View Sharing Assessment and Statement of Environmental Effects do not 
adequately address the potential loss of views from private properties and omits 
properties that will be affected. The pictures included in the submitted View 
Sharing Assessment are inaccurate.   

Response - Agreed. The submitted documentation provided by the applicant is 
inadequate in order to conduct a full and thorough view impact assessment. As 
outlined in the Issues section of this report, a view sharing assessment was 
undertaken independently by Council staff. 

(d) Properties are purchased on the basis that views will be maintained. It was 
understood by existing property owners and potential purchasers that current 
height restrictions were secure and could not be changed.    

Response - The proposal complies with the numerical building height control 
outlined within Sydney LEP 2012. This control was established when the LEP 
was gazetted in 2012 following an extensive period of public consultation. As 
planning controls are subject to review and change as development objectives 
change over time, it is not possible to expect absolute certainly that existing 
building heights will remain unchanged.  

(e) Loss of views would lead to a reduction in property values.   

Response - The assessment of potential reduction in property value as a result 
of the proposal is not a matter for consideration for this development application, 
as per Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.       

(f) Objections to the increase in height of the proposal by 300mm as this will create 
further impacts to views and solar access.   

Response - Throughout the course of the assessment the proposed addition 
was increased in height by 300mm in order to achieve the minimum floor to 
ceiling heights required under the Building Code of Australia. The amended 
proposal has been assessed with regard to view impacts and solar access and is 
acceptable.  

It is noted that the proposal has recently been amended to reduce the RL of the 
existing building and the proposed addition. The proposed addition has a 
maximum RL of 36.31, which is 210mm lower than the previous set of re-notified 
plans. A condition is recommended requiring the height of the building not 
exceed RL 36.31 to the top of the addition.   

(g) The proposal sets an unacceptable precedent for other buildings to build 
additional floors.  

Response - Any future development application that may be submitted for this 
building or another site in the surrounding area would be assessed against the 
relevant planning controls for the site and on the individual merits of the 
proposal. 

(h) The proposal is uncharacteristic of the historic heritage neighbourhood of 
Elizabeth Bay and will not make a positive contribution to the streetscape or 
when viewed from adjoining properties.    

54



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Response - The proposal was amended to address initial concerns raised by 
Council's Heritage Specialist and Urban Designer. As discussed in the Issues 
section, the amended proposal results in a building that is not inconsistent with 
the streetscape.  

(i) The proposal does not respect the curtilage of Elizabeth Bay House, and will 
diminish the public appreciation of the history of the subdivision and estate. The 
proposal does not respect the heritage listed Meudon building located at 13 
Onslow Avenue.    

Response - The proposal has been reviewed by the City's Heritage Specialist, 
who raised no objection to the proposal in relation to impacts on nearby heritage 
items including Elizabeth Bay House and Meudon.  

(j) The building at 10 Onslow Avenue is an eyesore and the proposal will make this 
unremarkable building even more of a blight on the landscape.   

Response - The existing building is classed as neutral building within the 
conservation area. As discussed in the Issues section above, the proposed 
addition will not result in unacceptable impacts to the conservation area. While 
the proposed addition will be visible from a number of surrounding private 
properties, it is not expected to diminish the appearance of the existing building, 
particularly in the context of the existing pebble roof, lift overrun and stairwell.        

(k) The proposed amount of glazing will result in unacceptable glare to nearby 
properties.  

Response - The proposal features glazing primarily on the northern elevation. 
The amount of glazing is not considered excessive and standard conditions are 
recommended to deal with reflectivity.  

(l) The proposal will block sunlight to adjoining properties. The proposal will block 
sunlight that currently streams through side windows and reaches living rooms.  
The shadow diagrams and supporting information is insufficient and inaccurate.  

Response - The potential overshadowing impacts of the proposal are assessed 
in detail above in the Issue section of this report and are acceptable.  

Regarding sunlight that reaches living rooms through side (northern) windows, 
the DCP protects only living room windows, which are located on the eastern 
and western elevations of the adjoining property (12 Onslow Avenue). View from 
the sun diagrams show that the proposal will not impact mid-winter morning sun 
from the east to the property to 12 Onslow Avenue.   

Regarding the accuracy of the documentation, the shadow diagrams are based 
on the 3D model which has been verified by Councils Model Team and 
Surveyors.    

  

55



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(m) The proposal will affect privacy to adjoining and nearby properties.  

Response - The proposal presents blank walls to the southern and western 
elevations and is separated from the adjoining property to the south by 
approximately 11m. The proposed terrace area is setback approximately 6.5m 
from the adjoining property to the north which is acceptable, as the adjoining 
property is only three storeys in height and does not contain any windows at the 
same level as the proposed addition. The proposed addition is located 
approximately 35m from the front (eastern) elevation of the property located at 
13 Onslow Avenue. Visual privacy to adjoining properties is acceptable.         

(n) The additional gross floor area is excessive and an overdevelopment. 

Response - The floor space ratio of the proposal compiles with the Sydney LEP 
2012 control.  

(o) The proposal (with regard to view sharing and solar access) does not take into 
consideration future changes to the floor plan of adjoining properties.     

Response - The assessment of future changes to the internal layouts of 
adjoining properties is not a matter for consideration under this development 
application.    

(p) Correct owner's consent for the submission of the development application has 
not been provided.  

Response - The applicant provided additional information that satisfies Council's 
owner's consent requirements, including minutes of a meeting of the Owner's 
Corporation at which the Owner's Corporation resolved to grant owner's consent 
to the making of the development application.   

(q) The Owner's Corporation of 10 Onslow Avenue have not provided approval for 
the owner of Unit 11 to build on top of the shared roof space or undertake 
refurbishment of the Unit. A vote on a special resolution is required.    

Response - This is a matter for the owner of Unit 11 and the Owners 
Corporation of the building to resolve. As outlined above, owner's consent is 
granted for Council to consider the development proposal.   

(r) The proposal reduces the rooftop common open space to less than 25% of the 
site and the owners corporation will not be able to develop that roof for other 
purposes for the benefit of all owners such as communal open space, green roof 
or solar panels.  

Response - The rooftop is not currently utilised by the residents of the building in 
a formal manner and is not currently required to meet common open space 
requirements. The exclusive use of the rooftop by Unit 11, as proposed in the 
application is a matter to be resolved and negotiated by the owner of Unit 11 and 
the Owners Corporation.   

  

56



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(s) Concerns raised over the lack of capacity of the existing building to hold the 
proposed addition and green roof.  

Response - The green roof has been deleted from the proposal. The applicant 
has submitted information from a structural engineer that demonstrates the 
existing building is capable of supporting loads from the additional storey.   

(t) Concern that external air conditioning units will be installed in inappropriate 
locations.  

Response - A condition is recommended restricting the installation of air 
conditioning units without further development assessment.  

(u) Safety concerns as a result of the proposal, including direct access to the roof 
from the fire stairs, absence of guardrails on the roof and safety issues for 
residents from potential falling debris during construction.  

Response - Aside from the proposed terrace area which is surrounding by a 
balustrade, the roof is not accessible. Conditions are recommended requiring the 
erection of any hoardings and temporary structures that may be required during 
construction.   

(v) Conditions should be imposed requiring dilapidation report be prepared for 10 
Onslow Avenue and that the applicant be responsible for any rectification works 
caused during construction.       

Response - A condition is recommended requiring the preparation of 
dilapidation reports for adjoining properties.  

(w) The waste management plan is inadequate and will result in demolition and 
construction waste being stored within common property and disposed of in 
residential bins.   

Response - A condition is recommended requiring the proposal comply with the 
relevant provisions of the City of Sydney Guidelines for Waste Management in 
New Development. 

(x) Concern that approval of a major refurbishment of the building as proposed will 
mean that residents are no longer entitled to apply for parking permits.   

Response - The proposal does not constitute a major refurbishment of the 
building. Notwithstanding, residential parking permits are issued in accordance 
with the City's Neighbourhood Parking Policy and are not restricted by planning 
controls.    

(y) The estimated cost of works is inadequate for a quality build using quality 
tradespeople. It is assumed it does not include the cost to purchase the 
exclusive use from the body corporate and does not include significant structural 
work required for the build.   

Response - The cost of purchasing exclusive use of the rooftop is not an 
expense required to be included in the estimated cost of works. The estimated 
cost of works has been prepared by a registered architect and is acceptable.  

  

57



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(z) Concerns over noise from use of the outdoor terrace.  

Response - Noise from a single residential unit is not expected to create 
unreasonable impact on surrounding properties.   

(aa) Concern that access to street parking and general infrastructure will be further 
limited due to additional residents.  

Response - The proposal seeks the addition of a new living room and outdoor 
terrace to the existing Unit 11. The proposal will not result in the addition of new 
residents that will generate unacceptable pressure on existing parking and 
infrastructure.    

(bb) Concern over construction impacts, including noise, dust and traffic.   

Response - Standard conditions are recommended to manage noise, dust and 
traffic during construction.  

(cc) The development application should be correctly registered as 10 Onslow 
Avenue, not 21C Billyard Avenue.   

Response - The address of the subject site is 21C Billyard Avenue, not 10 
Onslow Avenue. A site notice was placed on the Onslow Avenue frontage of the 
building during the exhibition of the application and the notification letter referred 
to the building at 10 Onslow Avenue.  

(dd) Criticism that some nearby residents were not formally notified.  

Response - The proposal was notified to all nearby properties within a 25m 
radius of the site in accordance with the City's Community Participation Plan. A 
site notice was also placed on the Onslow Avenue and Billyard Avenue frontages 
of the site during the exhibition period. 

(ee) The notification period does not provide sufficient time to respond.  

Response - The application was notified for 14 days in accordance with the 
Community Participation Plan. All submissions received during the assessment 
of the application have been considered.   

(ff) Council's description of the proposal as 'minor alterations and additions' is 
misleading.  

Response - The description on the notification letter and Council's website does 
not refer to the proposal as being minor.  

(gg) Support for the proposal as it does not exceed the lift shaft or have additional 
overshadowing impacts and will activate the roof with a green space.  

Response - Noted, however the green roof has since been removed from the 
proposal.  

58



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Public Interest 

80. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to recommended standard conditions. 

S7.11 Contribution 

81. The development is not subject to a S7.11 development contribution as it is for 
development were a contribution has previously been paid, which is a type of 
development listed in Table 2 of the City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 
2015 and is excluded from the need to pay a contribution.  A contribution is therefore 
not payable. 

Relevant Legislation 

82. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

Conclusion 

83. Approval is sought for alterations and additions to an existing residential flat building 
comprising an additional storey containing a new living space and outdoor terrace to 
Unit 11.  

84. The application has been amended to address a number of issues identified by 
Council during assessment. These issues relate to owners consent, solar access, 
detailed design, materiality and submission of a 3D digital model.   

85. A total of 45 objections were submitted as a result of notification and re-notification of 
the proposal. Issues raised include view loss, detrimental impacts on the streetscape 
and character of the heritage conservation area, height, solar access, construction 
impacts, owner's consent, structural capacity of the existing building and reduced 
access to the roof top. These concerns are addressed within the report.  

86. While the proposal will result in some view sharing impacts to adjoining properties, 
applying the Tenacity view sharing assessment concludes that view loss from 
adjoining properties as a result of the proposed addition is acceptable.   

87. The proposal exhibits a suitable built form, design and materiality in the context of the 
heritage conservation area and is appropriate within the streetscape.   

  

59



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

88. The proposal will not result in unacceptable amenity impacts on surrounding 
properties, including solar access and privacy. 

89. The amended proposal is generally consistent with the objectives, standards and 
guidelines of the relevant planning controls and is recommended for approval, subject 
to conditions.   

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Natasha Ridler, Area Coordinator 

60



 

 

Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

  

61



CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 

CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note: Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 

Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where 

indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2019/665 dated 26 June 2019 and the following drawings prepared by 
Cracknell & Lonergan Architects: 

Drawing 

Number 

Drawing Name Date 

DA101/E Unit 11 Floor Plan  13/07/2020 

DA102/E Penthouse Addition Floor Plan 13/07/2020 

DA103/E Roof Plan 13/07/2020 

DA201/E Elevations East and West 13/07/2020 

DA202/E Elevation South 13/07/2020 

DA/203/E Elevation North 13/07/2020 

DA204/E Detail Elevations 13/07/2020 

DA301/E Section A-A 13/07/2020 

DA401/E Areas Calculation Schedule 13/07/2020 

DA603/E  Materials & Finishes Schedule 13/07/2020 

DA604/E Materials & Finishes – Cladding Detail 13/07/2020 

 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the drawings will prevail. 

(2) BUILDING HEIGHT 

(a) The height of the building must not exceed RL 36.31 (AHD) to the top of the 
addition. 

(b) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor must 
provide certification that the height of the building accords with (a) above, to 
the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

62



(3) REFLECTIVITY  

Prior to issue of a Construction Certificate for above ground works the Accredited 
Certifier must ensure that the visible light reflectivity from building materials used 
on the facade of the building does not exceed 20 per cent. 

(4) AIR CONDITIONERS GENERALLY  

No air-conditioning equipment is to be visible from the public domain. Equipment 
and associated wiring shall:  

(a) Not be located on awnings or attached to the face of the building  

(b) Not be located on roofs in such a way that it is visible from any street, 
footpath or park  

(c) Be visually screened if located 1.8 metres above ground level in other 
locations  

(d) Wiring shall be fully concealed.  

(5) NO AIR CONDITIONING UNITS TO FACADE OR BALCONIES OF BUILDING  

Approval is not granted for the installation of individual air conditioning units to the 
façade, rooftop or balconies of the building. 

(6) STRATA SUBDIVISION 

Any proposal to Strata Subdivide Lot 11 and the Common Property of Strata Plan 
9561 will require development consent and therefore the lodgment of a separate 
development application or complying certificate application, and subsequent 
approval from Council or an accredited certifier of the Strata Plan and issue of a 
Strata Certificate under the Strata Schemes Development Act 2015. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

63



SCHEDULE 1B  

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH AND 

BUILDING 

(7) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a 
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW, 
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non-Friable (Class B) Asbestos 
Removal Licence which ever applies. 

A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in writing of 
the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. The 
notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor and 
include a contact person for the site together with telephone number and 
email address. 

(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and Safety 
Regulation 2017 and the NSW Government and SafeWork NSW document 
entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work place: Code of 
Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City of Sydney Managing 
Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and associated guidelines. 

(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly indicate 
the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. Signs must 
be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the asbestos 
removal work area is and should remain in place until removal is completed 
and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. Responsibilities for the 
security and safety of the asbestos removal site and removal must be 
specified in the asbestos removal control plan (where required). This 
includes inaccessible areas that are likely to contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that asbestos 
removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed at all of the 
main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where asbestos is 
present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of light-weight 
material and adequately secured so they remain in prominent locations. The 
signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -1994 Safety Signs for the 
Occupational Environment for size, illumination, location and maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without the 
written approval of Council. 

64



(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 594mm 
(A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(i) site activities and time frames. 

(8) BASIX CERTIFICATE – DETAILS TO BE LODGED WITH A CC  

A copy of the required completed BASIX certificate accepted as part of this 
Development Consent with respect to the proposed residential building works, 
must be lodged with an application for a construction certificate and the items 
nominated as part of the subject BASIX certificate must be specified on the plans 
submitted with the construction certificate application. – See Note.  

IMPORTANT NOTE:  

Any requirement detailed in the accompanying BASIX Certificate, MUST be 
included as a specific notation or inclusion on any future Construction Certificate 
plans and specification in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 1 of the EP&A 
Regulation, 2000.  

(9) EXTERNAL WALLS AND CLADDING FLAMMABILITY  

The external walls of the building including attachments must comply with the 
relevant requirements of the Building Code of Australia (BCA). Prior to the issue 
of a Construction Certificate and Occupation Certificate the Accredited Certifier 
and the Principal Certifier must:  

(a) Be satisfied that suitable evidence is provided to demonstrate that the 
products and systems proposed for use or used in the construction of 
external walls including finishes and claddings such as synthetic or 
aluminium composite panels comply with the relevant requirements of the 
BCA; and  

(b) Ensure that the documentation relied upon in the approval processes include 
an appropriate level of detail to demonstrate compliance with the BCA as 
proposed and as built. 

(10) PHYSICAL MODELS  

(a) Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate an accurate 1:500 scale 
model of the development as constructed must be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments/Area 
Planning Manager for the City Model in Town Hall House.  

Note:  

(i) The models must be constructed in accordance with the Model 
Specifications available online at 

65



http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/applicationguide/ap
plication-process/model-requirements Council’s modellers must be 
consulted prior to construction of the model.   

(ii) The models are to comply with all of the conditions of the Development 
Consent.  

(iii) The models must be amended to reflect any further modifications to 
the approval (under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act) that affect the external appearance of the building.  

(11) SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC CAD MODELS PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 
CERTIFICATE 

(a) Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued, an accurate 1:1 electronic 
CAD model of the completed development must be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments/Area 
Planning Manager for the electronic Visualisation City Model. 

(b) The data required to be submitted within the surveyed location must include 
and identify: 

(i) building design above and below ground in accordance with the 
development consent; 

(ii) all underground services and utilities, underground structures and 
basements, known archaeological structures and artefacts; 

(iii) a current two points on the site boundary clearly marked to show their 
Northing and Easting MGA (Map Grid of Australia) coordinates, which 
must be based on Established Marks registered in the Department of 
Lands and Property Information’s SCIMS Database with a Horizontal 
Position Equal to or better than Class C. 

The data is to be submitted as a DGN or DWG file on a Compact Disc. All 
modelling is to be referenced to the Map Grid of Australia (MGA) spatially 
located in the Initial Data Extraction file. 

(b) The electronic model must be constructed in accordance with the City’s 3D 
CAD electronic model specification. The specification is available online at 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements Council’s Modelling staff 
should be consulted prior to creation of the model. The data is to comply 
with all of the conditions of the Development Consent. 

(12) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR EXISTING BUILDING – ALTERATIONS 
AND ADDITIONS 

A qualified practising registered structural engineer must provide structural 
certification to Council (where Council is the Accredited Certifier) verifying that the 
existing structure can adequately support the proposed new loads and the 
structural design complies with the Structural Provisions of Part B1 (Vol 1) and 
Part 2.1 (Vol 2) of the Building Code of Australia prior to a Construction Certificate 
being issued. The proposed additional loads and/or alterations must not cause a 

66

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements


decrease in the existing structural performance of the building including its 
performance under earthquake actions (AS1170.4). 

(13) DILAPIDATION REPORT – MINOR 

Subject to the receipt of permission of the affected landowner, dilapidation report/s 
of adjoining buildings are to be prepared by an appropriately qualified practising 
structural engineer and submitted for the approval of the Accredited Certifier: 

(a) prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation works; and 

(b) on completion of construction demolition/excavation works. 

(14) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MINOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) The drainage system is to be constructed in accordance with the City's 
standard requirements as detailed in the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, as amended from time to time.  

The development is to be designed so that the flow of pollutants from the 
site due to stormwater is reduced. 

(b) Where a drainage system includes On-site Detention (OSD), the following 
requirements must be satisfied prior to the issue of any Occupation 
Certificate: 

(i) A Positive Covenant must be registered on the title for all drainage 
systems involving OSD to ensure the maintenance of the approved 
OSD system regardless of the method of connection; 

(ii) A Works-As-Executed survey must be prepared, signed, dated and 
certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and 
accepted by the Principal Certifier. The Works-As-Executed plan must 
be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage plans 
issued with the Construction Certificate, with variations to locations, 
dimensions, levels and storage volumes clearly marked;  

(iii) A Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), 
showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifier; 

(iv) Evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed 
documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifier; 

(v) The Principal Certifier must submit a copy of the Works-As-Executed 
plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation 
Sheet to the City of Sydney. 

(15) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including a 
road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 

67



barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to be 
submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

(16) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN) 

(a) The approved plans must be submitted to Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online 
service to determine whether the development will affect Sydney Water’s 
sewer and water mains, stormwater drains and/or easements, and if further 
requirements need to be met. Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online service is 
available at www.sydneywater.com.au, (see Plumbing, Building & 
Development and then Sydney Water "Tap-in"). 

(b) The Consent Authority or a Principal Certifier must ensure that Sydney 
Water has appropriately stamped the plans before the commencement of 
work. 

(17) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR 

The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Guidelines for 
Waste Management in New Developments 2018 which requires facilities to 
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal. 

 

  

68

http://www.sydneywater.com.au/


SCHEDULE 1C  

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(18) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy 
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or 
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing 
building. 

(19) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities in 
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the 
commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, transferring of 
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried 
out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, 
inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety inspections 
being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be carried out 
on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 
and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street 
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the 
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid 
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Team, prior to works proceeding 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(20) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or 
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result 
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

69



(21) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their loads 
fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

(22) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council 
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for 
a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the 
days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various 
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any 
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68 
of the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 
must be obtained. 

(23) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant 
and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which 
warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must be obtained from 
Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 hours 
beforehand for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council will 
create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case of full 
road closures and partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council, will 
create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials, 
hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower 
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outside of approved 
hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit being issued by Council 
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of 
the Roads Act 1993. 

 

  

70



SCHEDULE 2  

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS  

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply:  

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements under the 
Home Building Act 1989  

Clause 98A Erection of signs  

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements  

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues  

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage  

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property  

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au  

 

 

71

http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/


72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Application: 6-8 Orwell Street, Potts Point - D/2020/65 

File No.: D/2020/65 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 29 January 2020. Amended plans and additional 
information submitted 11 June 2020.  

Applicant: Tricon Management Group P/L 

Architect/Designer: Nordon Jago Architects 

Developer: Tricon Management Group P/L 

Owner: Australian Village No. 9 - Orwell Street P/L 

Cost of Works: $5,211,328.00 

Zoning: B4 Mixed Use zone - Affordable housing is permissible 
with consent within the zone.  

Proposal Summary: Approval is sought for alterations and additions to an 
existing 3 storey building with conversion into a 6 storey 
affordable housing residential flat building with 15 
residential units, a communal hub/lobby and bicycle 
storage area.  

The application has been made pursuant to State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 
2009, and seeks to utilise a 0.6 bonus floor space ratio.  
The total amended FSR proposed complies with the 
maximum floor space ratio of 3.6:1 permitted for the site.  

The affordable housing units will be managed by St 
George Community Housing (SGCH) a national Tier 1 
Community Housing Provider with a commitment to 
operate for a minimum of 25 years.   

The site is not identified as a heritage item but is a 
contributory building and is located within a heritage 
conservation area.  

 

1

Item 4.



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

The application was notified for a period of 28 days 
between 11 February and 11 March 2020. As a result of 
the notification 56 submissions were received. The key 
issues raised in the submissions relate to height, floor 
space ratio, privacy impacts from roof top terrace, noise 
impacts, view impacts, overshadowing, safety and crime, 
amenity, housing diversity, heritage impact and economic 
impacts.  

The application was presented to the Design Advisory 
Panel - Residential Subcommittee on 7 April 2020. The 
Panel raised concerns in relation to the following:   

 non-compliant height, FSR and setbacks; 

 facade expression and relationship to the existing 
contributory item;  

 floor plans and apartment layouts; and 

 design of services and ground floor configuration.  

The applicant submitted amended plans and information 
on 11 June 2020 addressing the issues raised by the 
residential subcommittee and the community. The 
amended design includes deletion of the roof top terrace, 
compliant height and FSR, 3m setback above the street 
frontage height to Orwell Street and reconfiguration of 
ground floor layout to increase amenity for occupants.  

The amended application was re-notified for a period of 14 
days from 10 June and 29 submissions were received. The 
issues raised to relate to height, floor space ratio, view 
impacts and overshadowing impacts.   

The amended scheme complies with the maximum height 
control permitted under the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012 (LEP) and maximum FSR permitted under the 
SEPP Affordable Rental Housing. The amended scheme 
provides acceptable amenity for future residents with 
acceptable amenity and physical impacts on neighbouring 
development. The amended scheme provides an 
appropriate form that responds to its context and exhibits 
design excellence subject to conditions.  

  

2



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: State Environmental Planning Policy No 65 – Design 
Quality of Residential Flat Development  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental 
Housing) 2009 

State Environmental Planning Policy (BASIX) 2004 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012  

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012  

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B. Selected Drawings 

 

 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2020/65 subject to 
the conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use 
zone. 

(B) The proposed development is generally consistent with the relevant objectives and 
controls within State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009, 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

(C) The proposed development improves the presentation of the site to Orwell Street and 
revitalises a building into a legitimate new affordable housing development for older 
socially disadvantaged women and women experiencing domestic violence.  

(D) The affordable housing provider is committed to provide accommodation as well as 
management services for a period of 25 years with no breaks.  

(E) Suitable conditions of consent have been applied and the development is in the public 
interest. 

 

  

4



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 17 March 2020. 

2. The site is located at 6-8 Orwell Street, Potts Point. The site is legally described as Lot 
1 DP45027.  

3. The site is a corner allotment, located on the northern side of Orwell Street and the 
eastern side of Hughes Lane and southern side of Hughes Place.  

4. It has an area of approximately 241sqm, with an approximate 10m frontage to Orwell 
Street (southern boundary), 24m frontage to Hughes Lane (western boundary) and 
11m frontage to Hughes Place (northern boundary). 

5. On site is a 3 storey building with roof top terrace built to the boundary and is currently 
used for backpacker accommodation (106 beds). There is no vegetation.  

6. Existing pedestrian access is directly from Orwell Street and no vehicular access is 
provided. 

7. The surrounding area is characterised by a mix of uses including commercial uses, 
tourist and residential development.  

8. Adjoining to the north is Hughes Place which provides rear lane access to six, two 
storey terrace developments which front Hughes Street.  

9. Adjoining to the East is a four storey residential apartment building and further east is 
Orwell Lodge, a four storey development providing short-term tourist accommodation. 
Further east along Orwell Street are a number of three and four storey residential 
developments. 

10. To the south across Orwell Street is a 13-storey mixed use residential development 
known as Springfield Apartments with ground floor retail. The site forms part of 
Springfield Gardens which accommodates a public open space area and a number of 
retail premises.  

11. West of the site is Hughes Lane which is characterised by two and three storey 
terraces built to the rear boundary alignment. Hughes Lane runs north-south from the 
corner of Orwell Street towards Hughes Street.   

12. The site is not listed as a heritage item but is identified as a contributory item. It is 
located within the Potts Point Heritage Conservation Area (C51) and is within the 
vicinity of locally listed heritage items at 28-30 Orwell Street and 120-124 Victoria 
Street, Potts Point.  

13. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

5



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

6



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 2: Subject site - 6-8 Orwell Street  

7



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 3: View west along Orwell Street  

 

8



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 4: Development south of site directly across Orwell Street 'Springfield Apartments' 

  

9



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 5: View north Hughes Lane  

10



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 6: View south - Hughes Lane  

11



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 7: View east - Hughes Place  

  

12



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 8: Looking east along Hughes Place - residential development to north of Hughes Place 

Initial Proposal 

14. Approval is sought for alterations and additions to an existing 3 storey building with 
rooftop (currently used as a backpacker’s accommodation) and its conversion into a 6 
storey affordable housing building with rooftop terrace comprising 16 X one (1) 
bedroom affordable housing residential units consisting:  

(a) Ground Floor: 

 new awning; 

 entry to residential apartments; 

 new lobby/common open space; 

13



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 bicycle storage; 

 1 x one bedroom affordable housing unit facing Hughes Lane;  

 lift; 

 bin room; and 

 pump room. 

(b) Levels 1 - 5 

 15 x one bedroom affordable housing units; and 

 lift. 

(c) Level 6 Roof terrace 

 communal open space; 

 shade canopy; 

 storage area; and 

 lift. 

15. St George Community Housing (SGCH), a Tier 1 provider under the National 
Regulatory System for Community Housing and a not-for-profit organisation, was 
awarded a service agreement to deliver 260 dwellings as part of the Social Affordable 
Housing Fund 2 program. SGCH have identified six specific sites in high demand 
locations where vulnerable households, particularly older women and women 
experiencing domestic violence, have a strong growing need for community housing. 
The subject site is one of these six sites for community housing dwellings with a focus 
on older women and women experiencing domestic violence.   

16. The Social and Affordable Housing Fund Stage Phase 2 (SAHF 2) program from 
Family and Community Services (FACS) is a 25-year program for the provision of 
accommodation as well as management of services. The contract between SGCH and 
FACS will guarantee social and affordable housing for a 25-year period with no breaks. 

14



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 9: 3D view of original proposal - View east along Orwell Street  

  

15



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 10: 3D view of original proposal - View west along Orwell Street  

  

16



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Amended Proposal  

17. The application was amended 2 June 2020 in response to issues raised by Council. 
The key amendments include: 

(a) Reduction of the Floor Space Ratio with a total GFA of 857.04m2 or 3.56:1 FSR. 
This is compliant with the maximum permissible floor area of 866.16sqm and 
GFA of 3.6:1 allowable for the proposed use. 

(b) Removal of the private open space on the roof top which previously exceeded 
the height control.  

(a) Height reduction to comply with the maximum 22m building height limit in 
accordance with the SLEP2012 (the amended scheme now proposes a 
maximum height of RL55.400m (lift overrun) above ground floor RL34.450 
(20.95m)). 

(b) Incorporation of a 3m setback above the street frontage height on Orwell Street.  

(a) Full sized balconies on the northern elevation are replaced with Juliet balconies 
to reduce overlooking and privacy impacts. 

(a) Removal of the residential apartment from the ground floor replacing it with an 
indoor communal space area, plant room, storage, bicycle parking, 
communications services, bin room and utilities. 

(b) Revised facade detailing, and colours now comprise a lighter, natural colour 
scheme for the existing building and comprise a darker colour scheme for the 
new addition. This results in a visually recessive addition when viewed from the 
public domain that retains the existing building as the focal point. 

(c) The fire hydrant relocated from the primary entrance to a recessed cavity on 
Hughes Lane.  

(d) Detailed solar access plans, both in plan and elevation. These illustrate the 
existing and revised shadow impact on neighbouring development at hourly 
intervals between 9.00am and 12.00noon and 3.00pm on 22 March and 21 June. 
Additional shadow studies have also been included for the 21 December.  

(e) Removal of the awning.  

(f) Incorporation of downpipes within the property boundary so they longer 
encroaching within the footway.  

(g) The primary communal open space relocated to the ground level. 

(h) Updated Waste Management Plan submitted.  

18. The amended plans and documentation are the subject of this report.   

19. Plans of the proposed development as amended are provided below. 

17



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 11: Proposed ground floor and proposed level 1 plan  

18



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 12: Proposed level 2 and proposed level 3 plan  

19



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 13: Proposed level 4 and proposed level 5 plan  

20



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 14: Proposed roof plan  

  

21



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 15: Orwell Street elevation (south elevation) 

22



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 16: Hughes Lane elevation (west elevation) 

23



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 17: Hughes Place elevation (north elevation) 

  

24



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 18: Orwell Street - streetscape elevation   

 

Figure 19: Orwell Street - 3D view   

25



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 20: Orwell Street looking east - 3D view   

History Relevant to the Development Application 

20. D/2002/1353 - Development consent granted on 18 August 2003 for the addition of a 
common room to the roof terrace. The application was subsequently modified to 
reconfigure the additions.  

21. D/2016/63 - Development consent granted on 20 June 2016 for alterations and 
additions to a backpackers’ hostel including a roof top addition and internal 
reconfiguration.  

26



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

22. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 65 - Design Quality of Residential Flat 
Development 

23. SEPP 65 provides that in determining an application for a residential flat development 
of three or more floors and containing four or more apartments, that the consent 
authority take into consideration a number of matters relating to design quality, 
including 9 design quality principles, being: 

(a) Principle 1: Context and Neighbourhood Character 

The site is well connected to public transport with a bus stop located at the 
corner of Orwell and Macleay Streets (170m walk) and Kings Cross Station 4 is a 
minute walk providing access to the CBD and other transport interchanges.  The 
subject site allows future residents to conveniently access various modes of 
public transport. 

The development is proposed within the B4 Mixed Use zone and is generally 
consistent with the aims and objectives of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012, the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and ARH SEPP. 

The proposal seeks to maintain the contributory item within its prominent corner 
setting and enhance the characteristics that contribute to the immediate 
streetscape and Potts Point HCA generally.  

(b) Principle 2: Built Form and Scale 

The design of the building including setbacks, height, FSR and building depth 
ensures that the density is appropriate for the area and will not unreasonably 
affect the amenity of adjoining buildings.   

(c) Principle 3: Density 

The proposed residential building is BASIX compliant and a condition is 
recommended to ensure the development complies with the commitments in the 
BASIX certificate.  

The number of proposed units is appropriate having regard to the overall 
development for the site.  

(d) Principle 4: Sustainability 

The proposed floor plans demonstrate that the development is generally 
compliant with cross ventilation and solar access requirements.  

(e) Principle 5: Landscape 

It is noted that within the high-density inner-city context, site area and setbacks 
established by surrounding development generally preclude the provision for 
ground level open space and/or deep soil planting.   

27



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(f) Principle 6: Amenity 

The proposed development is able to achieve natural cross ventilation for 66.7% 
(where 60% is required) and 100% of units will receive a minimum of 2 hours 
direct sunlight (where 70% is required). 

Amenity concerns relating to individual apartments and building elements are 
identified and discussed in detail in the relevant sections of this report. The 
identified concerns are addressed through the recommended conditions. 

(g) Principle 7: Safety 

The development provides new opportunities for passive surveillance on Orwell 
Street by locating the communal space facing Orwell Street. The lower level 
apartments will provide passive surveillance at street level to Hughes Place and 
Hughes Lane reducing opportunities for anti-social behaviour.  

(h) Principle 8: Housing Diversity and Social Interaction 

The proposal provides a mix of housing types. The proposed mix is responsive 
to the needs of those on waiting lists for affordable housing. The proposed mix is 
therefore acceptable in the specific context of an affordable housing 
development. 

(i) Principle 9: Aesthetics 

The proposed materials and design of the new addition are acceptable. The 
overall design will positively contribute to the aesthetics of the qualities of the 
streetscape.  

24. The development is generally acceptable when assessed against the SEPP including 
the above stated principles and the associated Apartment Design Guide (ADG). These 
controls are generally replicated within the apartment design controls under the 
Sydney DCP 2012. Consequently, compliance with the SEPP generally implies 
compliance with Council’s own controls.  A detailed assessment of the proposal of 
against the ADG is provided below. 

  

28



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Apartment Design Guide 

2E Building Depth Compliance Comment 

12-18m (glass to glass) No The existing building occupies the 
entire site. The adaptive re-use of 
the existing building and alterations 
and additions above proposes a 
building depth of between 24m and 
20m. Notwithstanding the non-
compliance with the building depth 
control the proposed building is able 
to meet the solar access and 
ventilation requirements. The 
variation to the requirements of this 
provision is acceptable in this 
instance.  

 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (approximately 
12 metres): 

 12m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 9m between habitable and 
non-habitable rooms 

 6m between non-habitable 
rooms 

 

No, but 
acceptable. 

Hughes Lane: Level 1-4: 6.15m 
building separation distance is 
proposed between habitable rooms 
to development facing Hughes 
Lane. Development across Hughes 
Lane is built to the boundary 
alignment and is a mixture of 
residential and hotel uses.  

Hughes Place: Level 1-4: 6m - 6.3m 
building separation distance to 
boundary of development on 
Hughes Place is provided. 
Development across Hughes Place 
is residential development with 
predominantly rear garages built to 
the boundary alignment.  

Orwell Street: Level 1-4: 5m-9.8-
13m m building separation distance 
can be provided to development 
across Orwell Street to the south 
and complies.  

Common boundary (east): The 
proposed building will have zero 
setback to the eastern boundary 
which is a continuation of the 
existing relationship within an 
established, high density 
streetscape and is acceptable.  

29



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

Building separation cannot be 
achieved to Hughes Lane (west) or 
Hughes Place (north) of the site 
given the existing development is 
built to the boundary alignment and 
adjacent development is built to the 
boundary alignment. In addition, the 
separation distances to the 
boundary are already below the 
minimum required.  Given the 
numerical non-compliances, the 
building is still able to achieve the 
objectives of the building separation 
control and this is further discussed 
in the issues section of this report.  

Refer to 3F Visual Privacy for 
discussion on visual impact and 
privacy impacts. 

Five to eight storeys 
(approximately 25 metres): 

 18m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 12m between habitable and 
non-habitable rooms 

 9m between non-habitable 
rooms 

No Building separation to adjoining 
boundary alignments cannot be 
achieved above 5 storeys as the 
separation distance between 
existing development is less than 
what is required given the built-up 
nature of the surrounding area - 
refer above. 

Refer to 3F Visual Privacy for 
discussion on visual impact and 
privacy impacts.  

At the boundary between a change 
in zone from apartment buildings to 
a lower density area, increase the 
building setback from the boundary 
by 3m. 

No The zoning of land directly north of 
the subject site is R1 - Residential.  

As mentioned above, minimum 
building separation cannot be 
achieved due to the built up nature 
of the surrounding area.  

 
  

30



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

Communal open space has a 
minimum area equal to 25% of the 
site. 

No, but 
acceptable.  

A communal area at roof level was 
originally proposed. This resulted in 
and unsatisfactory non-compliance 
of the building height control and 
has since been deleted. The 
amended proposal deleted the roof 
top communal open space and 
replaced this with a ground floor 
internal common area. This room 
will result in less impacts to 
adjoining neighbours. It also 
complements the operational needs 
of the use. With regards to the site's 
location and the constraints of an 
adaptive reuse development, a 
variation to the requirement of 
communal open space is 
acceptable. The applicant is St 
George Community Housing a Tier 
1 community housing provider and 
they have confirmed that the use of 
the communal open area will be 
used for a range of purposes 
including education and training 
workshops for residents, break-out 
space, counselling services and 
meeting area.    

 

3E Deep Soil Zones Compliance Comment 

Deep soil zones are to have a 
minimum area equivalent to 7%. 
(Note: sites with an area of less 
than 650sqm do not have minimum 
dimensions for deep soil zones).  

No Given the site's urban character and 
the existing building occupies the 
entire site, it is acceptable that no 
deep soil is provided. A variation to 
the requirements of this provision is 
acceptable.  

Separation between windows and balconies is required to ensure visual privacy is achieved. 
Minimum separation distances from buildings to the side and rear boundaries are outlined 
below. 

  

31



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (12 metres): 

 6m between habitable rooms 
/ balconies 

 3m between non-habitable 
rooms 

Yes Building separation is constrained 
by the built-up nature of 
development along Hughes Place 
and therefore compliance cannot 
physically be achieved as the 
proposal is unable to comply with 
the minimum building separation 
controls which in turn relate to 
separation between windows and 
balconies.  

Sunshades have been incorporated 
into the northern facade design.   

Small sunshade projections are 
proposed on the western elevation 
as the windows contain deeper 
reveals and to ensure that the 
shades do not encroach on the 
boundary. No sunshades are 
proposed on the southern elevation.  

The proposed balconies on the 
northern elevation have also been 
amended. Instead of full-size 
balconies, the development now 
proposes Juliet balconies which will 
reduce overlooking and privacy 
impacts. 

This is discussed under the 
“Building Separation” section of this 
report above. 

See discussion in the Issues 
section. 

Five to eight storeys (25 metres): 

 9m between habitable rooms 
/ balconies 

 4.5m between non-habitable 
rooms 

Yes 

 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

70% of units to receive a minimum 
of 2 hours of direct sunlight in 
midwinter to living rooms and 
private open spaces. 

Yes 100% of apartments receive a 
minimum of 2 hours of direct 
sunlight.  

 
  

32



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4B Natural Ventilation Compliance Comment 

All habitable rooms are naturally 
ventilated. 

Yes All habitable rooms are naturally 
ventilated.  

Minimum 60% of apartments in the 
first nine (9) storeys of the building 
are naturally cross ventilated. 

Yes 66.7% of all apartments achieve 
cross flow ventilation. 

Overall depth of a cross-over or 
cross-through apartment does not 
exceed 18m, measured glass line 
to glass line. 

Yes The maximum depth of apartments 
proposed do not exceed 18m.  

Measured from finished floor level to finished ceiling level, minimum ceiling heights are as 
follows in the table below. 

4C Ceiling Heights Compliance Comment 

Habitable rooms: 2.7m Yes A minimum 2.7m floor to ceiling 
height is proposed in all habitable 
rooms.  

Non-habitable rooms: 2.4m Yes Minimum ceiling heights are 
provided in all non-habitable rooms.  

 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Minimum unit sizes: 

 Studio: 35m2 

 1 bed: 50m2 

 2 bed: 70m2 

 3 bed: 90m2 

The minimum internal areas 
include only one bathroom. 
Additional bathrooms increase the 
minimum internal area by 5m2 
each. 

A fourth bedroom and further 
additional bedrooms increase the 
minimum internal area by 12m2 
each. 

Yes Apartment sizes are proposed as 
follows: 

 Studio: 35.16 – 36.45sqmm 

 1 bed: 50.01 – 54.34sqm 

 2 bed: 70.84sqm 

33



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Every habitable room is to have a 
window in an external wall with a 
minimum glass area of 10% of the 
floor area of the room. 

Yes All habitable rooms have access to 
an external window.  

Habitable room depths are to be no 
more than 2.5 x the ceiling height. 

Yes The habitable room depths are 
generally not greater than 8m.  

8m maximum depth for open plan 
layouts. 

Yes All dwellings offer an open plan style 
layout and a maximum building 
depth of 8m from a window 
generally complies.   

Minimum area for bedrooms 
(excluding wardrobes):  

 master bedroom: 10m2  

 all other bedrooms: 9m2 

Minimum dimension of any 
bedroom is 3m (excluding 
wardrobes). 

Yes All apartments are able to comply 
with the minimum bedroom size.  

Living and living/dining rooms 
minimum widths: 

 Studio and one-bedroom: 
3.6m 

 Two-bedroom or more: 4m 

Partial 
compliance 

All apartments comply with the 
exception of the studio apartments 
(studio apartments proposed 3.5m 
wide).  

4m minimum width for cross over 
and cross through apartments. 

Partial 
compliance 

All apartments comply with the 
exception of the studio apartments 
(studio width between 3.5-3.6m 
widths). 

 
  

34



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4E Private Open Space and 
Balconies 

Compliance Comment 

Studio apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 4m2 with 
a minimum depth of 1m. 

One bed apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 8m2 with 
a minimum depth of 2m. 

Two bed apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 10m2 
with a minimum depth of 2m. 

Three bed apartments are to have 
a minimum balcony area of 12m2 
with a minimum depth of 2.4m. 

Partial 
compliance 

Given the constraints of the site and 
built up nature of the surrounding 
area, not all apartments have been 
designed to meet the minimum 
balcony area. Juliet balconies are 
proposed to apartments facing north 
to reduce overlooking impacts and 
to increase internal amenity.  

Apartments 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14 and, 
15 will include Juliet balconies. This 
style of balcony type provides a mix 
of private open spaces whilst 
permitting more flexibility in the 
internal spatial arrangements. 
Where full balconies are proposed, 
they comprise an area of 8sqm with 
a depth of 2m. All apartments are 
provided with balconies (and this 
includes Juliet style balconies).  

 

4F Common Circulation and 
Spaces 

Compliance Comment 

The maximum number of 
apartments off a circulation core on 
a single level is eight (8). 

Yes No more than 4 apartments are 
accessed from the lift core. 

Daylight and natural ventilation are 
provided to all common circulation 
spaces. 

Yes Windows are provided to the lift 
corridors and provide access to 
daylight.  

 
  

35



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4G Storage Compliance Comment 

Minimum storage provision 
facilities: 

 Studio: 4m3 

 1 bed: 6m3 

 2 bed: 8m3 

 3 bed: 10m3 

(Minimum 50% storage area 
located within unit) 

Yes Adequate storage is provided within 
each apartment.  

 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP) 

25. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

26. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban 
run-off; and 

(d) protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

27. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the 
deemed SEPP. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

28. A BASIX Certificate has been submitted with the development application. 

29. The BASIX certificate lists measures to satisfy BASIX requirements which have been 
incorporated in the proposal. A condition is recommended ensuring the measures 
detailed in the BASIX certificate are implemented. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 

30. The application has been made pursuant to the provisions of State Environmental 
Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 (ARHSEPP). The relevant provision 
of the SEPP (Division 1 In-fill affordable housing) are addressed in the table below: 

36



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

10 Development to which this 
Division applies  

Yes Permissible in the zone.  

13 Floor space ratio Yes A maximum FSR of 3:1 is permitted 
under the SLEP 2012. 

Under the State Environmental Planning 
Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 
(ARH SEPP 2009) the development is 
eligible for an additional 20% (0.6:1) 
which can be applied to the maximum 
FSR control under Clause 13(2)(b)(1) of 
the ARH SEPP as the proposed 
development will allocate more than 
50% of the gross floor area to affordable 
housing.  

The site has a maximum FSR provision 
of 3.6:1 under the ARH SEPP. 

The revised scheme proposes an FSR 
of 3.56:1 and complies with the 
development standard for this use.  

14 (1) Standards that cannot 
be used to refuse consent: 

(a) repealed  

N/A  

(b) site area 

At least 450sqm. 

No  The site area is 241sqm. 

(c) landscaped area 

At least 35 square metres of 
landscaped area per dwelling 
is provided.  

No The amended scheme has deleted the 
roof top terrace from the proposal and 
therefore, landscaping can no longer be 
achieved. This design amendment is 
acceptable given the high-density 
context around the site and reduced 
physical impacts on surrounding 
development.  

(d) deep soil zones  

(i)  there is soil of a sufficient 
depth to support the growth of 
trees and shrubs on an area of 
not less than 15 per cent of the 

No Given the dense urban location and the 
existing building built to all boundary 
alignments, deep soil cannot be 
achieved at ground level.  

37



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

site area (the deep soil zone), 
and 

(ii)  each area forming part of 
the deep soil zone has a 
minimum dimension of 3 
metres, and 

(iii)  if practicable, at least two-
thirds of the deep soil zone is 
located at the rear of the site 
area, 

 

(e) solar access 

A minimum of 70 per cent of 
the dwellings of the 
development receive a 
minimum of 3 hours direct 
sunlight between 9am and 
3pm in mid-winter. 

Yes  All apartments are able to receive solar 
access between 9am and 3pm in mid-
winter.  

14(2) General 

(a) parking  

(i)  in the case of a 
development application made 
by a social housing provider 
for development on land in an 
accessible area—at least 0.4 
parking spaces are provided 
for each dwelling containing 1 
bedroom, at least 0.5 parking 
spaces are provided for each 
dwelling containing 2 
bedrooms and at least 1 
parking space is provided for 
each dwelling containing 3 or 
more bedrooms, 

No No car parking is proposed. This is 
acceptable given the urban environment 
and proximity to public transport. In 
addition, the development proposes 
bicycle parking which is acceptable.  

(b) dwelling size 

if each dwelling has a gross 
floor area of at least— 

(i)  35 square metres in the 
case of a bedsitter or studio, or 

Yes Apartment sizes are proposed as 
follows: 

• Studio: 35.16 – 36.45sqmm 
• 1 bed: 50.01 – 54.34sqm 
• 2 bed: 70.84sqm 

38



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

(ii)  50 square metres in the 
case of a dwelling having 1 
bedroom, or 

(iii)  70 square metres in the 
case of a dwelling having 2 
bedrooms, or 

(iv)  95 square metres in the 
case of a dwelling having 3 or 
more bedrooms. 

 

14(3)  A consent authority may consent to development to which this Division applies 
whether or not the development complies with the standards set out in subclause (1) or (2) 
above. 

15 Design requirements Yes The proposed residential development 
will provide 15 new community housing 
dwelling apartments for older women 
and women experiencing domestic 
violence.  

16 Continued application of 
SEPP 65 

Yes The affordable housing building has 
been assessed against SEPP 65.  

16A Character of local area  Yes The amended proposal is consistent 
with the character of the local area as it 
has been reduced in height and scale to 
comply with the maximum permitted 
height and floor space controls. The 
proposal retains the facade of the 
existing building and its contribution to 
the conservation area. The vertical 
extension has been appropriately 
setback to ensure it is recessive to the 
existing contributory structure on the 
lower levels as well as to the nearby 
contributory buildings in the vicinity of 
the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

39



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

17 Must be used for affordable 
housing for 10 years  

Yes The SAHF 2 program from Family and 
Community Services (FACS) is a 25-
year program for the provision of 
accommodation as well as management 
of services. The contract between 
SGCH and FACS will guarantee social 
and affordable housing for a 25-year 
period with no breaks.  

A condition is recommended to comply 
with the provisions of the SEPP i.e. the 
development must be used for 
affordable housing for a minimum of 10 
years from the date of the issue of the 
occupation certificate. 

18 Subdivision  Yes  The proposal does not include 
subdivision.  

 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

31. The site is located within the B4 Mixed Use zone. The proposed use is defined as 
affordable housing and is permissible.  

32. The relevant matters under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 for the proposed 
development are outlined below. 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 22m is permitted. 

A height of 22m is proposed. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio Yes A maximum FSR of 3:1 is permitted. 

Under the State Environmental Planning 
Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009 
(ARH SEPP 2009) the development is 
eligible for an additional 20% (0.6:1) 
which can be applied to the maximum 
FSR control under Clause 13(2)(b)(1) of 
the ARH SEPP as the proposed 
development will allocate more than 
50% of the gross floor area to affordable 
housing.  

40



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

The site has a maximum FSR provision 
of 3.6:1 under the ARH SEPP. 

The revised scheme proposes an FSR 
of 3.56:1 and complies with the 
development standard for the proposed 
use. 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The subject site is not a heritage item 
but is identified as a contributory building 
and is located within a heritage 
conservation area. The subject site is 
within the vicinity of the following 
heritage items; 

 ‘Terrace group including interiors 
and front fencing’, 120- 124 
Victoria Street, item no. I1179; 

 ‘Flat building “Melton Flats” 
including interiors and front fence’, 
116- 118 Victoria Street, item no. 
I1177; 

 ‘Minerva Theatre, former “The 
Metro” including interior’, 28- 30 
Orwell Street, item no I1150; 

 ‘Electrical substation No. 166’, 1 
Orwell Lane, item no. I1149; 

 ‘Flat building “Corrowong” 
including interior’, 1 Springfield 
Avenue, item no. I1156; 

 ‘Commercial building “The 
Roosevelt”, former 2KY Radio 
Station including interior’, 32-34 
Orwell Street, item no. I1151 

 105-111 Macleay Street, item no. 
I1144; 

 ‘Flat building “Byron Hall” including 
interior’, 97-99 Macleay Street, 
item no. I1143. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 
  

41



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Car parking ancillary 
to other development 

Yes No car parking is proposed and this 
complies with the LEP maximum car 
parking rates for the site.  

The amended design proposes 16 
bicycle parking spaces for 15 affordable 
units.  

7.15 Flood planning Yes The site is not affected by the 1% AEP 
but is affected by the PMF. 

The revised plans have been amended 
to address the City’s Interim Floodplain 
Management Policy and is supported by 
Council's Public Domain Unit.  

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

33. The relevant matters under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 for the proposed 
development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – City East - Kings Cross  

The subject site is located in the Kings Cross locality. The proposed affordable housing 
residential development building is in keeping with the unique character of the area and 
design principles in that it will encourage an inclusive community and mixture of 
accommodation and services for local needs of the community. The proposed 
development will enhance and update the contributory building to ensure it continues to 
contribute positively to the heritage conservation area.   

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes Overall the proposed development will 
enhance the public domain by upgrading 
the existing building, appropriate 
setbacks for the new addition from 
Orwell Street and is able to ensure 
adequate sun access to publicly 
accessible spaces and considering 
public views. 

The revised scheme and shadow 
diagrams show no additional 
overshadowing occurs over the 
Springfield open space area. 

42



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

The building has been designed to 
maintain the location of existing entries 
in respect to the original building. Active 
street frontages are provided in 
the form full height glazing to Orwell 
Street and will ensure a direct line of 
sight to the main entry from the ground 
floor common space hub and lobby as 
well as residential units above; and by 
strategically locating the common open 
space area at ground level with views to 
the street.  

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The proposal satisfies BASIX and 
environmental requirements. 

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Yes The site is not identified as being on 
flood prone land, however as the 
proposal includes the demolition and 
reconstruction of the floor and internal 
walls at the ground floor level the floor 
level is to comply with the City’s Interim 
Floodplain Management Policy i.e. the 
ground floor level is to be minimum of 
300mm above the gutter invert adjacent 
the Orwell Street entry point in 
accordance with the Policy. The 
amended proposal has been designed 
to comply and is satisfactory subject to 
recommended conditions.   

3.8 Subdivision, Strata 
Subdivision and Consolidation 

NA Strata subdivision is not proposed as 
part of the application.  

3.9 Heritage Yes The existing building is a contributory 
building and within a heritage 
conservation area, see discussion under 
the heading Issues. 

3.11 Transport and Parking Yes 1 bike parking space is required per 
dwelling.  

16 bicycle parking spaces are proposed 
within the ground level of the building for 
15 residential apartments and complies. 

    

43



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.12 Accessible Design Yes A condition is recommended to provide 
appropriate access and facilities for 
persons with disabilities in accordance 
with the DCP and the BCA.  

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Yes The proposed development provides 
adequate passive surveillance and is 
generally designed in accordance with 
the CPTED principles in that the building 
configuration and window openings to 
the street will increase natural and 
passive surveillance to Orwell Street, 
Hughes Lane and Hughes Place.  

3.14 Waste Yes Waste Management has reviewed the 
amended application and supports the 
proposal subject to conditions.  

A condition is recommended to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the City of 
Sydney Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Development. 

 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height Yes A maximum of 6 storeys is permitted.  

The development proposes a 6-storey 
building height and 3 storey street 
frontage height and complies. 

4.2.2 Building setbacks Partially 
complies 

The setback above the street frontage 
height is to be a minimum of 3m.  

A setback of 3m above the street 
frontage height is proposed to Orwell 
Street and complies.  

No setback provided to Hughes Place 
and Hughes Lane, see discussion under 
the heading Issues. 

 

44



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.3 Amenity Assessed as 
acceptable. 
Refer to 
Issues 
section 

Solar access 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

Landscaping  

The roof top landscaping area has been 
deleted to address the non-compliance 
with the maximum height control and to 
address privacy concerns raised by the 
public.  

Deep soil 

Given the high-density context of the site 
to all street boundaries deep soil zones 
cannot be achieved at ground level. 

Common open space 

Considering the urban environment it is 
acknowledged there is limited area to 
achieve large areas of communal open 
space. 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

4.2.6 Waste and Recycling 
Management 

Yes The application is supported by a Waste 
Management Plan and is considered 
acceptable subject to conditions.  

4.2.8 Letterboxes Yes Letter boxes are proposed at found floor 
and have direct access to the street.  

 
  

45



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Issues 

View Loss 

34. The application proposes alterations and additions to the existing building resulting in a 
6-storey building.  

35. The site has a maximum building height of 22 metres and FSR of 3:1 with a bonus 
FSR of 0.6:1 permitted under the SEPP ARH for affordable housing. The proposed 
development is below the 22 metre maximum building height limit and proposes an 
FSR consistent with the SEPP ARH of 3.56:1.  

36. The subject site and street block between Orwell Lane, Orwell Street and Hughes 
Lane and Hughes Place has a permitted height limit of 22m under the Sydney LEP.  

37. Views from buildings to the south of the subject site have views across the site in part 
as a result of the subject block not being developed and the existing buildings are at a 
level far below the permitted height limits.  

 

Figure 21: Building height map showing street block with 22m height limit control  

38. An assessment of view impact is undertaken based on the principals of view sharing 
established in Tenacity Consulting v Warringah Council [2004] NSWLEC 140. The 
four-step assessment is as follows:  

(a) The first step is the assessment of views to be affected. Water views are valued 
more highly than land views. Whole views are valued more highly than partial 
views, e.g. a water view in which the interface between land and water is visible 
is more valuable than one in which it is obscured. 

  

46



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(b) The second step is to consider from what part of the property the views are 
obtained. For example, the protection of views across side boundaries is more 
difficult than the protection of views from front and rear boundaries. The 
expectation to retain side views is often unrealistic. 

(c) The third step is to assess the extent of the impact. This should be done for the 
whole of the property, not just for the view that is affected. The impact on views 
from living areas is more significant than from bedrooms or service areas. 

(d) The fourth step is to assess the reasonableness of the proposal that is causing 
the impact. A development that complies with all planning controls would be 
considered more reasonable than one that breaches them. 

39. The impact on views from 5-15 Orwell Street, Potts Point (located to the south of the 
subject site) are discussed below: 

(a) Views: Views north across the subject site towards the city skyline, Circular Quay 
and partial view of the Sydney Harbour Bridge pylon and arch.  

(b) Part of property viewed from: Balcony, living room and kitchen, sitting and 
standing on balcony and standing in kitchen - view across northern boundary.  

(c) Extent of impact: As a result of the proposed development, the extent of the 
impact will be moderate as the existing view of the Sydney Harbour Bridge is 
only a partial view/glimpse and is interrupted by a number of buildings, however, 
city skyline views will be maintained.  

(d) Reasonableness of proposal: The only way to protect views from 5-15 Orwell 
Street is to prohibit any development above the height of the existing building. 
The revised scheme proposes a 3m setback to Orwell Street and is compliant 
with the maximum building height control and FSR control permitted for the site 
and therefore the impact on views is considered reasonable in this instance.  

47



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 22: View from Apartment 602, 5-15 Orwell Street (photo source: Resident)  

48



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 23: View from Apartment 603, 5-15 Orwell Street (photo source: Resident). View of city sky 
line to north west will be retained. 

49



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 24: View from Apartment 302, 5-15 Orwell Street (photo source: Resident) 

50



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 25: View from Apartment 402, 5-15 Orwell Street (photo source: Resident) 

40. From the photos provided by residents at 5-15 Orwell Street it is clear that the views to 
Circular Quay and the portion of the Sydney Harbour Bridge are considered partial 
views through narrow view corridors and between buildings. It is also noted from the 
photos provided that some existing elements interrupt the scope of the Sydney 
Harbour Bridge view.  

41. Development along Orwell Street has a permitted height of 22m. The partial views to 
the north currently enjoyed by residents are a result of the adjoining sites not being 
developed to their permitted potential.  

42. The view loss is a result of a development compliant with the LEP height and floor 
space controls and is assessed as being acceptable as views of the city skyline will be 
maintained in particular views to the west/north-west towards the city skyline will not 
be impacted upon.  

  

51



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

43. The impact of views from 25 Hughes Street, Potts Point (located to the north-east of 
the subject site) 

(a) Views: City skyline and Sydney Tower - Views west along Hughes Place towards 
the City skyline and Sydney Tower.   

(b) Part of property viewed from: Roof top terrace - view west across side boundary 
of subject site.  

(c) Extent of impact: As a result of the proposed development, the extent of the 
impact will be low i.e. only part of the City skyline to the south-west will be 
impacted upon and not the iconic view of the Sydney Tower.  

(d) Reasonableness of proposal: Protection of views is unreasonable as the 
proposed is compliant with the maximum building height control and FSR control 
permitted for the site.  

 

Figure 26: View from rooftop of 25 Hughes Street (photo source: Resident). View of Westfield Tower, 
northern CBD skyline and view of Sydney Tower to be retained.   

52



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

44. From the photos provided by residents at 25 Hughes Street it is clear that the views to 
west of the CBD are present from the side boundary of the property with clear and 
uninterrupted views of the Sydney Tower.   

45. As mentioned above, the proposed revised scheme results in a compliant FSR and 
building height control with a 3m setback to Orwell Street.  

46. The views impacted upon are from the side boundary view. Side boundary views are 
difficult to protect. It is however noted that some views of the CBD across the side 
boundary of the to the west and south west will be lost as a result of the proposed 
development, however the high value iconic views of the Sydney Tower will not be 
impacted upon at all by the development.  

47. The view loss is low impact and is a result of a compliant proposal and therefore 
acceptable in this instance.  

Residential Amenity / Privacy (Building Separation) 

48. The Apartment Design Guide (ADG) states that building separation is measured 
from the outer face of the building envelope which includes balconies. Building 
separation controls assist in providing residential amenity including visual and 
acoustic privacy, natural ventilation, sunlight and daylight access and outlook. 

49. The ADG states that where applying separation to buildings on adjoining sites, apply 
half the separation distance measured to the boundary.  

50. The required distance depends upon density and whether windows are at the same 
level and directly facing each other. Privacy is hardest to achieve in developments that 
face each other at the same level, and this is the case along Hughes Place where 
development on the adjoining site and the subject site are built to the boundary 
alignment.  

51. Apart from adequate separation, the most effective way to protect privacy is by the off-
set arrangement of windows and the use of devices such as fixed louvres, high and/or 
deep sills. To enhance privacy and potential overlooking impacts between apartments 
a number of window treatments have been proposed such as: 

(a) limiting the number of single aspect apartments facing Hughes Place and 
Hughes Lane; 

(b) restriction in the size and extent of glazing; 

(c) reduction in balconies to minimise impacts of the development across the street 
to manage and reduce overlooking; and 

(d) deep set windows and use of integrated Juliet balconies in lieu of standard 
balconies.  

  

53



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

52. Notwithstanding the above, further design measures are required to be conditioned to 
minimise potential amenity impacts as outlined below: 

(a) All north-facing openings on levels 3-5 are to be amended to incorporate the 
following: 

 a box frame that projects 450mm from the external façade to provide 
weather protection, privacy mitigation and promote passive sun control for 
the glazed openings forming the Juliet balconies.  

 a balustrade that sits adjacent the sliding doors in line with the external 
wall.  

 one panel of the sliding doors is to be provided as an operable panel to 
promote airflow whilst managing safety.  

 a maximum opening width of 1800mm. 

(b) The facades are to be amended as follows: 

 north facing openings on levels 1 and 2 are to incorporate a bi-folding 
screen system that provides passive sun control and promotes privacy. 
Drawings are to demonstrate compliance with provision (1)(a) of Schedule 
4 of the DCP 2012. 

 south facing openings to living and bedroom areas on levels 3 to 5 are to 
incorporate weather protection. 

 west facing openings to living and bedroom windows on levels 1 and 2 are 
to incorporate sliding or shuttered screens that provide passive sun control 
and promote privacy. 

 west facing openings to living and bedroom windows on levels 3 to 5 are to 
incorporate sliding or shuttered screens that provide passive sun control 
and promotes privacy.  Weather protection is also to be provided. 

 The two west facing openings to the inset balcony on levels 1 and 2 are to 
be replaced with a single opening having a width of at least 3m.  

(c) The west facing Juliet balconies are to be amended by recommended design 
modification conditions to incorporate: 

 weather protection, privacy mitigation and promote passive sun control 
measures.  

 one panel of the sliding doors is to be provided as an operable panel to 
promote airflow whilst managing security and privacy. 

 a maximum opening width of 1800mm is required. 

53. As detailed in the Apartment Design Guide, degrees of privacy are also influenced by 
a number of factors including the activities or each of the spaces where overlooking 
may occur, the times and frequency these spaces will be used.  

  

54



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

54. Notwithstanding the numerical non-compliance with the minimum building separation 
guidelines in the ADG, the proposal is able to maintain appropriate levels of residential 
privacy to development sharing the laneway interface. Subject to conditions the overall 
design achieves acceptable environmental impacts given the high-density context of 
the immediate area.  

Overshadowing Impacts  

55. The ADG and Part 4.2.3.1(1) of the DCP requires the proposed development and 
neighbouring developments to achieve a minimum of 2 hours direct sunlight between 
9am and 3pm on 21 June onto at least 1sqm of living room windows and a minimum of 
50% of the requirement minimum area of private open space area.   

56. The applicant has undertaken a detailed overshadowing analysis in plan and elevation 
that show solar access to proposed apartments and the shadow impact on 
development surrounding the site on 22 March, 21 June. Additional shadow studies 
have also been included for the 21 December (summer).  

57. It should be noted that access to sunlight for habitable rooms and private open space 
is measured in mid-winter (21 June) as this is when the sun is lowest in the sky, 
representing the 'worst case' scenario for solar access. 

21 June overshadowing impacts 

58. The overshadowing analysis shows that some additional overshadowing will occur to 
10-12 Orwell Street, 5-15 Orwell Street and from 3pm over the roof of 14-16 Orwell 
Street.  

(a) 5-15 Orwell Street: The overshadowing plans show that there will be some 
additional shadows cast over the communal area and pool between 10am and 
12pm in mid-winter, however the amended scheme ensures that the communal 
open space will receive 50% solar access for 2 hours between 9am and 3pm.   

(b) 10-12 Orwell Street: The overshadowing plans show that the open space area 
on the roof retains more than 2 hours of solar access to 50% of the private open 
space for 2 hours between 9am and 3pm.  

(c) 14-16 Orwell Street: The overshadowing plans show that the communal open 
space area will receive 50% solar access for 2 hours between 9am and 3pm.  

(d) Springfield Open Space: The overshadowing plans show that no additional 
overshadowing over the existing shadows will occur.  

(e) Residences to the west of the subject site (facing Victoria Street):  the 
overshadowing plans show that there is some minor overshadowing impacts 
between 9am and 10m, however will not impact the original overshadowing 
impacts this development already receives.  

59. Additional overshadowing plans indicate the extent of any impact in the middle of 
summer over the pool area at 5-15 Orwell Street. The overshadowing plans submitted 
show that the development as amended will not result in any additional overshadowing 
to the pool or communal open space at 5-15 Orwell Street on the 21 December. 

  

55



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

60. In addition to the above overshadowing analysis provided by the applicant further 
elevation studies at half hourly intervals was requested to be provided to a number of 
affected properties / facades surrounding the site to further assess the shadows 
created by the existing and proposed development and is discussed below.  

(a) The additional elevation shadow analysis study confirms the following: 

Affected property Impact Affected 
elevations/additional 
information 

5-15 Orwell Street Level 2 podium communal 
open space and pool area 

- The podium is almost in 
full sun from 11am to 3pm. 

- The proposal will not 
create additional 
overshadowing of the pool 
or level 2 podium common 
open space in midsummer. 

- The pool achieves good 
midsummer solar access 
between 12pm and 3pm. 

 Level 1, 2 and 3 NE and 
NW apartments.  

- A review of shadow plan 
studies against floor plans 
for the building show that 
all apartments except the 
two level 1 north facing 
apartments will achieve a 
minimum of 2 hours solar 
access (i.e. east facing 
from 9am-11am and west 
facing from 1pm - 3pm). 

- Given the proposal also 
complies with the maximum 
LEP building height, and 
that in excess of 70% of 
apartments (5-15 Orwell 
Street) will still be able to 
achieve 2 hours solar 
access to living area 
glazing and to private open 
spaces, these impacts are 
acceptable. 

 

56



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Affected property Impact Affected 
elevations/additional 
information 

126 Victoria Street 9.30am shadows to roof 
area and level 3 living 
area 

The additional 
overshadowing will reduce 
the quantum of daylight at 
9.30am, but will not affect 
the solar compliance of the 
level 3 east facing unit. The 
east living area glazing 
currently achieves 1 hour of 
daylight in midwinter from 
10-11am and the proposal 
will not affect this. 

128 Victoria Street The shadows appear to 
affect the roof and east 
elevation at 10am. 

The impacted glazing does 
not adjoin a living space. 

1 Earl Street Impacted between 9am -
10.30am.  

The impacted glazing does 
not adjoin a living space. 

3 Orwell Street Impacted between 9am -
10.30am. 

- The affected glazing on 
the east façade does not 
adjoin a living space. 

- The additional 
overshadowing will reduce 
the quantum of daylight 
reaching the north façade 
(units 2 and 3), but will not 
impact the solar 
compliance of either unit as 
both north facing private 
open spaces will achieve 
direct solar access from 
11am  onwards, and the 
living area glazing does not 
currently achieve a 
minimum 1sqm solar  
access during midwinter. 

3 Earl Street Impact at 9am The additional shadow falls 
on the roof only.  

 

57



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Affected property Impact Affected 
elevations/additional 
information 

140 Victoria Street Impact at 9am to roof 
terrace 

The majority of the roof 
terrace achieves good 
quality solar access from 
10am onwards. 

130-136 Victoria Street Eastern facade at level 1 
and 2 will be 
overshadowed at 9am. 

Level 1 - At 9am each 
opening will be 
overshadowed by the 
proposal. However, each 
window will still achieve 1.5 
hours of daylight in 
midwinter.  

- Level 2 - At 9am each 
opening on level 2 will 
receive good daylight 
access for 2 hours in 
midwinter.  

138 Victoria Street The northern most level 1 
window on the east 
facade will be impacted at 
9am. 

The additional 
overshadowing will not 
affect the solar compliance 
of the dwelling as the 
window does not currently 
achieve 1sqm of solar 
access at 9am. 

10-12 and 14-16 Orwell 
Street 

Rooftop terrace adjoins 
the subject site 

Both terraces achieve good 
solar access for a minimum 
of 2 hours in midwinter. 

61. The overshadowing analysis confirms that as a result of the amended design scheme 
that development surrounding the site will achieve acceptable levels of solar access 
compared to the original scheme and is consistent with the DCP.  

Setbacks above Street Frontage  

62. The DCP sets out the minimum setbacks above the street frontage height. The street 
frontage height in storeys is the vertical height of the part of the building closest to the 
street boundary. 

63. Part 4.2.1.1(3) of the DCP states that the street frontage height must not exceed the 
maximum height on the Building street frontage height in storeys map. 

  

58



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

64. The street frontage heights identified for the site are as follows: 

(a) Orwell Street: 3 storey street frontage height. Above the street frontage height 
along Orwell Street buildings are required to be setback 3m or follow adjacent 
building upper level setbacks in accordance with Part 4.2.2.2(2) of the DCP. 

(b) Hughes Lane and Hughes Place: 2 storey street frontage height. Above the 
street frontage along Hughes Lane and Hughes Place buildings are required to 
be setback 3m or follow adjacent building upper level setbacks. 

65. The proposal seeks the adaptive re-use of an existing 3 storey interwar building. The 
existing building is above the 2 storey street frontage height control that applies to 
Hughes Lane and Hughes Place.  The existing building is a 3 storey building built to 
the boundary on all three street frontages.  

66. The amended design scheme proposes a 3 metre setback above the street frontage 
height along the primary street frontage - Orwell Street. This compliant street frontage 
setback results in reduced environmental impacts to development south of the site and 
will establish the street frontage setback of upper levels along Orwell Street.  

67. The new addition is setback approximately 0.328 metres from the boundary along 
Hughes Place to the rear and no setback is proposed to Hughes Lane. The 0.328 
metre setback to Hughes Place is minor but allows for some building articulation on 
the facade facing Hughes Place and the existing 3 storey street wall height to be 
defined  

68. The design of the new addition allows the existing 3 storey building below to be 
discerned and the design of the building is clearly viewed as a 3 storey building with 
new addition above. The character of development surrounding the site to Hughes 
Lane and Hughes Place is development that is predominantly built to the street 
alignment.  

69. There are a number of constraints to setting back the new addition above the street 
frontage height to Hughes Place and Hughes Lane as the proposal intends to maintain 
the existing floors and ceilings and any further setbacks to the structure below has the 
potential to pose structural constraints involved in retaining the internal aesthetic 
architectural features of the building and poses significant structural intervention into 
the building which will limit and restrict possible re-use opportunities of the site 
resulting in significant loss of internal fabric and floors levels.  

70. In addition to the above, the non-compliance with the setbacks to Hughes Place and 
Hughes Lane is considered acceptable in this instance as there will be no 
overshadowing impacts to development north of the site and the overshadowing plans 
provided show that any overshadowing impacts to development west of the site 
(across Hughes Place) is compliant with the solar access requirements detailed in the 
DCP and considered acceptable.  

Heritage and Urban Design  

71. The subject site is not identified as a heritage item but is a contributory building within 
a heritage conservation area.  

72. A Heritage Impact Statement has been submitted and reviewed as part of the 
assessment. The subject site is within close proximity to a number of heritage items 
within the precinct; however the proposal does not have any material impact on the 
heritage significance of those items or the heritage conservation area.  

59



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

73. Council’s Heritage Specialist has raised the following concerns with regards to the 
proposed development and proposed material and colour palette: 

(a) The number of existing windows proposed to be removed is considered a 
significant loss for the contributory building and has a negative impact on the 
existing fenestration of the building and the original window openings and 
locations should be reinstated.  

(b) The proposed colour palette of "monument" proposed for the upper floor addition  
has no contextual relationship with the adjoining buildings. The colour palette 
should be revised to fit in with the warm earthy tones inspired from exposed brick 
within the vicinity of the site. 

(c) The applicant is stating that the proposed works will comprise demolition of the 
internal walls with the retention of ceilings as they contain decorative features 
which will retain the character of the building. There is a lack of information 
provided with the application to understand how the original decorative ceilings 
are to be retained. 

74. Contributory buildings make an important and significant contribution to the character 
of the area and the subject building although not heritage listed forms part of an intact 
group of interwar apartment buildings with their primary frontage facing Orwell Street. 

 

Figure 27: Subject site and adjoining development along Orwell Street  

60



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

75. The proposed development includes the realignment and reconstruction of a high 
proportion of windows to the secondary frontages of the building namely the northern 
and western elevation as part of the adaptive reuse of the contributory building (refer 
to Figure 24) including a new external stairwell. The realignment of the windows on 
Hughes Lane and Hughes Place is a direct result of the challenges with improving the 
internal living conditions whilst retaining the external fabric of the building. The design 
and rhythm of the new window openings on the northern and western elevation have 
been carefully designed out of the symmetry of the original building openings and to 
respond to the relationship of the site and to the development across the laneway. The 
ground floor window openings are designed to allow light into the new ground floor 
communal area and to activate the laneway, however the size of the windows should 
be reduced. Although quite significant the proposed external works to the buildings' 
fenestration is considered acceptable in this instance and an appropriate condition is 
recommended to reduce the size of the two large window openings to complement the 
existing and proposed openings on the western elevation.  

 

Figure 28: Subject site - west elevation demolition plan    

61



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 29: Subject site - west elevation proposed plan    

76. The original scheme proposed a lighter colour scheme for the upper floor addition. The 
amended scheme proposes dark metal cladding to the addition and will provide too 
great a contrast with the light colour proposed for the contributory building.  A lighter 
colour which is less intrusive to the contributory building and that will promote better 
ESD outcomes should be provided. A condition is recommended to provide an 
updated schedule of materials, colours and finishes to include earthy tones more 
sympathetic to the conservation area. 

77. A condition is recommended to request a reflected ceiling plans for the first and 
second floors within the existing building to be provided to demonstrate the retention of 
all existing decorative ceilings.  

Urban Design  

78. The following concerns have been raised by Council's Urban Designer:  

(a) The revised scheme has amended the ground floor layout and deleted the 
ground floor apartment to create a more user friendly and efficient space, 
however further design refinement is required.  

(b) The bike parking and comms cupboard are intrusive elements in the entry and 
common area. Both should be relocated to a less prominent area (to the north 
side of the lift core if space permits) to provide a more dignified and inviting 
entry. 

62



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

79. The common area is to be amended to provide amenity in the form of: 

(a) seating for both individual recreation and social interaction; 

(b) facilities including a small kitchenette; 

(c) a space where children and young people are safe and contained; and  

(d) the accessible toilet is to be relocated closer to the common area if space 
permits. The entry door is not to be directly opposite the door to the waste room. 

80. A condition is recommended to address the above concerns raised with the ground 
floor common area.  

Communal Internal Space  

81. The ADG requires that communal open space has a minimum area equal to 25% of 
the site.  

82. The re-location of the communal space from the roof top to the ground floor addresses 
a number of concerns raised by adjoining residential development and results in a 
reduction in the height of the building to a compliant height.  

83. The re-location of the open space area originally located on the roof to the ground floor 
indoor area results in no outdoor communal open space being proposed.  

84. The location of the communal space on the ground level is well suited to the affordable 
housing development use and, subject to appropriate design, will provide a safe and 
accessible breakout space for the future users of the affordable housing development 
which is intended in particular for older women.  

85. The applicant has confirmed that the activity and use of the communal area will be for 
the enjoyment of occupants and to provide a safe environment for the following uses:  

(a) Education and training area for women to attend workshops designed to assist in 
re-entry into the workforce; 

(b) Break-out area for tenants to get to know each other and form relationships 
which is particularly important given many of these women have been socially 
isolated for long periods of time; 

(c) Quiet space at certain times of the day for tenants to read, watch electronic 
devices and undertake other activities within a quiet space; and 

(d) Meeting area for tenant meetings etc. 

86. The removal of the open space area from the roof top (which originally exceeded the 
height control and posed privacy and overshadowing concerns) to the ground floor is 
acceptable in this instance as the indoor communal area will result in less impacts to 
adjoining neighbours and will, subject to appropriate design, complement the 
operational needs of the affordable housing use. 

87. As discussed above a condition is recommended to redesign this area to provide an 
appropriate level of amenity.   

63



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Private Open Space and Balconies  

88. The ADG requires  apartments to have a primary balcony, however, also states that in 
certain circumstances where the development is resulting in an adaptive reuse of 
existing buildings, Juliet balconies can be provided.  

89. Primary balconies are proposed to 3 out of the 15 apartments with all other apartments 
proposing Juliet balconies and therefore the proposed design does not technically 
comply with the number of balconies required under the ADG.    

90. The benefit of Juliet balconies in this location is that they will allow the rooms to be 
filled with light and provide a high level of amenity whilst maintaining privacy to 
adjoining properties and allowing larger internal areas to be achieved to the 
apartments.  

91. The non-compliance with the ADG balcony control is considered acceptable in this 
instance. The apartments that do not have open space/balconies have Juliet balconies 
which provide  a good level of r light and ventilation to the apartments. In addition, 
residents have access to public open space in close proximity to the subject site. 
Springfield Gardens located at 17 Orwell Street directly across the road from the 
subject site. 

Access 

92. It is recommended via condition that disabled access be provided in accordance with 
the provisions of the DCP. 

Other Impacts of the Development 

93. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA.  

94. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

95. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial/residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that 
proposed. 

Internal Referrals 

96. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

97. The application was discussed with the Heritage and Urban Design Specialists; 
Building Services Unit; Environmental Health; Public Domain; Surveyors; Transport 
and Access; Waste Management who advised that the proposal is acceptable subject 
to the recommended conditions. 

64



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

External Referrals 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation  

98. In accordance the Community Participation Plan 2019 the proposed development is 
required to be notified and advertised. As such the application was notified and 
advertised for a period of 28 days between 11 February 2020 and 11 March 2020. As 
a result of this notification a total of 1603 properties were notified and there were 56 
submission(s) received. 

Re-Notification and Delegation  

99. In accordance with the City's Community Participation Plan 20196, the proposed 
amendments to the development were required to be notified. As such the application 
was re-notified for a period of 14 days and notification sent to previous objectors. As a 
result of this re-notification 29 submissions were received.  

100. The submissions are discussed below: 

(a) Non-compliant building height, 6 storeys is too high.  

Response - A 22 metre maximum height control applies to the subject site in 
accordance with the Sydney LEP 2012 and the site is subject to a maximum 6 
storey height in storeys control in accordance with the Building height in storeys 
map contained within the DCP.  

The revised design complies with the 22m height control, 6 storey height control 
and 3 storey street frontage height control to Orwell Street. The additional 3 
levels above the street frontage height have been setback 3m behind the 
parapet on the front facade on Orwell Street and an additional 328mm planter 
box setback to Hughes Place. No rooftop terrace is proposed in the amended 
proposal. 

(b) Non-compliant floor space ratio 

Response - The site has a maximum base FSR control of 3:1 under the Sydney 
LEP 2012. Under the Affordable Housing SEPP 2009 (ARH SEPP 2009) the 
development is eligible for an additional 20% (0.6:1) which can be applied to the 
maximum FSR control under Clause 13(2)(b)(1) of the ARH SEPP as the 
proposed development will allocate more than 50% of the gross floor area to 
affordable housing. Therefore, the site has a maximum FSR provision of 3.6:1 
under the ARH SEPP.  

The original scheme proposed an FSR of 4:1 which was not supported. The 
revised proposal has reduced the floor space ratio resulting in a total FSR of 
3.56:1 and is now compliant with the maximum permissible FSR of 3.6:1. 

(c) Overdevelopment of site - development will dominate the narrow street, wind 
tunnel effect and privacy impacts to terraces on Hughes Street with rear yards 
facing the development. 

Response - The revised design scheme complies with the core development 
standards that apply to the site i.e. height and floor space and complies with the 
maximum height in storeys control.  

65



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Concerns relating to privacy and overlooking impacts have been addressed in 
the 'issues' section of this report. A number of design modification measures are 
recommended to windows on the northern and western elevation to ensure the 
design of the development will maintain appropriate levels of residential privacy 
to development sharing the laneway interface. 

(d) Roof top terrace: Noise impacts and privacy impacts 

Response - The amended design scheme has deleted the roof top terrace from 
the proposal.  

(e) Overshadowing - overshadowing of communal open space, pool area and 
dwellings including balconies to the development to the south and to Springfield 
Gardens. 

Response - The height of the overall development has been reduced to comply 
with the allowable maximum building height control and the development has 
been setback 3m from Orwell Street. The updated overshadowing plans 
provided show that there will be some overshadowing impacts to the pool in mid-
winter but the new shadows cast will not result in more than 50% of the open 
space area to be impacted upon. Notwithstanding, the proposed development 
will not impact the pool or communal open space area in summer when the area 
will be highly utilised. Refer to the Issues section of this report for a detailed 
assessment.  

(f) Overlooking of the Springfield Tower common pool and communal open space 
area. 

Response - The revised design scheme has setback the building 3m from the 
Orwell Street frontage resulting in acceptable building separation. No balconies 
are proposed above Level 3 to allow occupants to be unreasonably overlook the 
common pool and communal open space area.  

(g) View loss of City skyline and view loss to Harbour Bridge as a result of the height 
of the development.  

Response - There will be some view loss to the Harbour Bridge and northern 
views as a result of the development of the subject site. Refer to Issues section.  

(h) Architectural design is out of character with streetscape 

Response - The proposed revised scheme complies with the maximum height 
limit control and maximum floor space ratio control applicable to the site.  

The proposed development and adaptive reuse of the contributory building will 
retain the character of the existing building whilst upgrading it to provide for the 
needs of the community. The colour palette proposed for the new addition is not 
in keeping with the conservation area and an appropriate condition will be 
recommended to propose more earthy tones.  

  

66



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(i) No car parking proposed - traffic impacts and parking and pedestrian congestion  

Response - The proposed development results in a reduction in the number of 
occupants that currently use the site. The existing backpackers has 
approximately 106 beds and this will be reduced to 15 apartments resulting in a 
less intensive use of the site.  

The Sydney LEP 2012 parking rates are based on providing maximum car 
parking numbers. The proposed development is not proposing car parking and 
therefore complies. Notwithstanding, the proposed development proposes 
bicycle parking and is within close proximity to available transportation and 
utilities.  

(j) Affordable housing - is this legitimate and how long will this use be available  

Response - The proposal has been assessed under SEPP Affordable Rental 
Housing and will be required to be used for affordable housing for a minimum of 
10 years. Under the SEPP, specific conditions are imposed requiring all 
dwellings within the development to be used for affordable housing and for all 
affordable housing accommodation to be managed by a registered housing 
provider.  

The proposal seeks to provide new social and affordable housing (community 
housing) under the Social and Affordable Housing Fund Stage Phase 2 (SAHF 
2) program, which is a model that allows not for-profit organisations to put 
forward innovative proposals to increase the supply of this critically important, 
and undersupplied housing. The affordable housing provider is seeking to secure 
this site for 25 years with no breaks.  

(k) Construction impacts  

Response - The City of Sydney manages noise and associated impacts created 
from construction works through the implementation of its Construction Hours. In 
addition, the City of Sydney Code of Practice Construction Hours/Noise permits 
general hours of construction works within the local government area and 
construction hours will be conditioned.  

Public Interest 

101. The proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, subject to 
appropriate conditions being proposed. 

S7.11 Contribution 

102. The development is not subject to a S7.11 development contribution as it is for 
affordable housing by a registered social housing provider which is a type of 
development listed in Table 2 of the City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 
2015 and is excluded from the need to pay a contribution.  A contribution is therefore 
not payable. 

67



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Relevant Legislation 

103. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

Conclusion 

104. The development proposes 15 affordable housing units for older women and women 
experiencing domestic violence.  

105. The proposed development is consistent with the core planning controls contained with 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and relevant controls and objectives 
contained within State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 
2009.  Where variations are proposed it has been demonstrated that non-compliances 
still maintain residential amenity. 

106. The proposal seeks to provide new social and affordable housing (community housing) 
under the Social and Affordable Housing Fund Stage Phase 2 (SAHF 2) program, with 
a commitment to operate for a minimum of 25 years with no break. 

107. The proposed development is not considered to have any unreasonable impacts on 
the amenity of the surrounding environment subject to conditions and is in the public 
interest.   

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Vanessa Cagliostro, Senior Planner  

68



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

69



CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note:  Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a 
Construction Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation 
Certificate, where indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2020/65 dated 29 January 2020 and the following drawings prepared 
by Nordon Jago Architects: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

DA030 B Demolition Plans 27.5.2020 

DA031 C Demolition Elevations 21.7.2020 

DA100 D Proposed Ground and Level 
1 Plan 

19.6.2020 

DA101 D Proposed Level 2 and 3 Plan 19.6.2020 

DA102 D Proposed Level 4 and 5 Plan 19.6.2020 

DA110 D Proposed Roof Plan   29.5.2020 

DA200 D Proposed Sections  29.5.2020 

DA300 D Proposed Elevations 29.5.2020 

DA301 C Proposed Elevations 29.5.2020 

DA310 C Street Context Elevation  29.5.2020 

 

and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

70



(2) IN-FILL AFFORDABLE HOUSING  

(a) In accordance with State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable 
Rental Housing) 2009 the subject site must be used for affordable 
housing for a minimum of 25 years from the date of the issue of the 
Occupation Certificate. 

(b) All dwellings proposed to be used for the purposes of affordable housing 
will be used for the purposes of affordable housing.  

(c) All accommodation that is used for affordable housing will be managed 
by a registered community housing provided, and 

(d) A restriction will be registered, before the date of the issue of the 
Occupation Certificate, against the title of the property on which 
development is to be carried out, in accordance with Section 88E of the 
Conveyancing Act 1919 that will ensure that the requirements of 
paragraph (a) are met.  

(3) RESTRICTION ON RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT (AFFORDABLE 
RENTAL HOUSING UNITS) 

The following restriction applies to buildings approved for residential use: 

(a) All residential accommodation units must be used as permanent 
residential accommodation only and not for the purpose of a hotel, motel, 
serviced apartments, private hotel, boarding house, tourist 
accommodation or the like, other than in accordance with the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(b) A restrictive covenant is to be registered on the title of the development 
site in the above terms and restricting any change of use of those 
residential units from “residential” as defined in Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. The covenant is to be registered on title prior 
to any Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, to the satisfaction of the Council. All costs of the 
preparation and registration of all associated documentation are to be 
borne by the applicant. 

(c) If a unit contains tenants, it must be subject to a residential tenancy 
agreement for a term of at least three months. 

(d) No person can advertise or organise the use of residential apartments 
approved under this consent for short term accommodation or share 
accommodation. 

(4) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS 

The design of the building must be modified as follows: 

(a) Ground floor layout: 

(i) The bike parking and comms cupboard are intrusive elements in 
the entry and common area. Both are to be relocated to a less 
prominent area (to the north side of the lift core if space permits) 
to provide a more dignified and inviting entry. 

71



(ii) The common area is to be amended to provide amenity in the form 
of: 

a. seating for both individual recreation and social interaction; 

b. facilities including a small kitchenette; 

c. a space where children and young people are safe and 
contained.  

(iii) The accessible toilet is to be relocated closer to the common area 
if space permits. The entry door is not to be directly opposite the 
door to the waste room. 

(iv) The ground floor window openings facing Hughes Lane are to be 
redesigned to be more aligned to the existing rhythm of windows 
on the west elevation.   

(b) Facade amendments:  

(i) All north facing openings on levels 1 and 2 are to incorporate a bi-
fold screen system that provides passive sun control and promotes 
privacy. Drawings are to demonstrate compliance with provision 
(1)(a) of Schedule 4 of the DCP 2012. 

(ii) All south facing openings to living and bedroom areas on levels 3 
to 5 are to incorporate weather protection. 

(iii) West facing openings to living and bedroom windows on levels 1 
and 2 are to incorporate sliding or shuttered screens that provide 
passive sun control and promotes privacy. 

(iv) West facing openings to living and bedroom windows on levels 3 
to 5 are to incorporate sliding or shuttered screens that provide 
passive sun control and promotes privacy.  Weather protection is 
also to be provided. 

(v) The west facing Juliet balconies are to be amended to incorporate: 

a. weather protection, privacy mitigation and promote passive 
sun control measures.  

b.  a maximum opening width of 1800mm. 

c. Drawings are to demonstrate compliance with provision 
(1)(a) of Schedule 4 of the DCP 2012 and (for privacy 
measures) how direct overlooking is prevented.  This will 
require that updated contextual information including glazing 
of adjoining properties be provided on plans, sections and 
elevations.   

(c) All north-facing openings on levels 3-5 are to be amended to incorporate 
the following: 

(i) a box frame that projects 450mm from the external façade to 
provide weather protection, privacy mitigation and promote 

72



passive sun control for the glazed openings forming the Juliet 
balconies.  

(ii) a balustrade that sits adjacent the sliding doors in line with the 
external wall.  

(iii) a maximum opening width of 1800mm. 

(vi) Drawings are to demonstrate compliance with provision (1)(a) of 
Schedule 4 of the DCP 2012. 

(d) Air conditioners: 

(i) No provision has been made for air-conditioning equipment.  
Provision for a proposed or future roof zone that complies with the 
maximum LEP building height limit is to be identified. Detail of the 
rooftop plant enclosure is to be provided demonstrating that it is 
integrated into the building, screened from view of neighbouring 
developments, and concealed from the public domain behind a 
parapet. 

(ii) An updated roof plan showing the proposed or future zone.  

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Planning Manager prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(5) MATERIALS AND SAMPLES SCHEDULE  

(a) The materials and samples schedule submitted has not been approved.  

(b) The schedule of materials, colours and finishes must be revised and 
must include earthy tones sympathetic to the conservation area colour 
and material palette. 

(c) A detailed materials, colours and finishes schedule (including visible 
rainwater goods and services) keyed to each building elevation must be 
submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to 
a Construction Certificate being issued. The materials and samples 
schedule/board must not include generic material or colour descriptions, 
or use terminology such as ‘or similar’ 

(6) CLADDING DETAIL 

Provide 1:20 construction / section details of the proposed cladding where it 
stops on top of the existing parapet. The cladding detail is to be submitted to 
Council’s Area Planning Manager for approval prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. 

(7) REFLECTED CEILING PLAN  

Reflected Ceiling Plans for first and second floors within the existing building 
must be provided to demonstrate the retention of all existing decorative 
ceilings. Clearly mark on plans how the new internal walls align with the 
existing ceilings. The reflected ceiling plans is to be submitted to Council’s 
Area Planning Manager for approval prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued. 

73



(8) ASSOCIATED ROADWAY COSTS  

All costs associated with the construction of any new road works including kerb 
and gutter, road pavement, drainage system and footway shall be borne by 
the developer. The new road works must be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the City’s Sydney Streets Technical Specification including 
amendments and Sydney Streets Code. 

(9) BICYCLE PARKING  

(a) The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces to be provided for the 
development must comply with the table below. 

Bicycle Parking Type Number Requirements 

Affordable housing 
units 

15 Class 2 bicycle parking facility 
in accordance with “Class B of 
Australian Standard 
AS2890.3:2015”  

 

 (b) The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with the 
minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS 2890.3 Parking 
Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities. The details must be submitted 
to and approved by the Accredited Certifier confirming compliance prior 
to the Construction Certificate being issued. 

(10) COST OF SIGNPOSTING 

All costs associated with signposting for any kerbside parking restrictions and 
traffic management measures associated with the development shall be borne 
by the developer. 

(11) AIR CONDITIONERS IN RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS   

Any air conditioner/s must comply with the requirements of Protection of the 
Environment Operations (Noise Control) Regulation 2017 and shall not:   

  
(a)  emit noise that is audible within a habitable room in any other residential 

property (regardless of whether any door or window to that room is 
open):   

(i) before 8.00am and after 10.00pm on any Saturday, Sunday or 
public holiday; or   

 
(ii) before 7.00am and after 10.00pm on any other day; or   

  
(b) emit a sound pressure level when measured at the boundary of any other 

residential property, at a time other than those specified in (i) and (ii) 
above, which exceeds the background (LA90, 15minutes) by more than 
5dB(A). The source noise level must be measured as a LAeq 15 minute.  

 

74



(12) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES  

(a) All relevant performance parameters (including but not limited to 
requirements, engineering assumptions and recommendations) in the 
DA Acoustic Report prepared by William Wang of Day Design Pty Ltd, 
dated 10th October 2019, ref 6834-1.1R revision 1, titled Environmental 
Noise Assessment Proposed Residential Development 6-8 Orwell 
STREET, Potts Point, NSW, Council Ref: 2020/043091 must be 
implemented in the development prior to the commencement of its use.  
 

(b) Prior to the issue of any relevant Construction Certificate, the final 
construction drawings and final construction methodology must be 
assessed and reported to be in accordance with the requirements of the 
DA Acoustic Report in (a) above, with reference to relevant 
documentation. This must be done by a Suitably Qualified Acoustic 
Consultant* (see definition below).  This work will be to the satisfaction 
of the accredited certifier.  

 
(c) Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate, a Suitably Qualified 

Acoustic Consultant* is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report 
to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier that the development complies 
with the requirements set out in the Report and in (a) and (b) above.  
 
Note: Suitably Qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of 
the Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member.  

 
(d) All physical aspects of the building’s structure installed in order to meet 

performance parameters in accordance with this condition must be 
maintained at all times.  

 

(i) A single residential air conditioner must not have a Sound Power 
Level greater than 66dBA.   

 
 

 

 

 

75



SCHEDULE 1B 

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH 
AND BUILDING 

(13) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) A Construction Traffic Management Plan must be submitted to and 
approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plans are to be prepared in 
accordance with Standard Requirements for Construction Traffic 
Management Plan on the City’s website 

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-
responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-
plans  

(14) BCA COMPLIANCE - ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS - UPGRADE OF 
BUILDING IS REQUIRED (CC REQUIRED) 

(a) Pursuant to Clause 94 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2000, where currently non-compliant, the whole building 
must comply with the performance requirements relating to the following 
parts of the Building Code of Australia (BCA): 

(i) Fire resistance and stability - Part C1; 

(ii) Compartmentation and separation - Part C2; 

(iii) Protection of openings - Part C3; 

(iv) Provision for escape - Part D1; 

(v) Construction of exits - Part D2; 

(vi) Fire fighting equipment - Part E1; 

(vii) Smoke hazard management – Part E2; 

(viii) Visibility in an emergency, exit signs and warning systems - Part 
E4; 

Prior to a construction certificate being issued, the Certifying Authority 
must ensure that the proposed works and other upgrading works 
required by this condition satisfy the Building Code of Australia by 
complying with Clause A2.1 of the BCA. 

(15) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

The building must be designed and constructed to provide access and facilities 
for people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

If, in complying with this condition, amendments to the development are 
required, the design changes must be submitted to and approved by Council 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

76

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans


(16) EXTERNAL WALLS AND CLADDING FLAMMABILITY 

The external walls of the building including attachments must comply with the 
relevant requirements of the National Construction Code (NCC). Prior to the 
issue of a Construction Certificate and Occupation Certificate the Principal 
Certifier must: 

(a) Be satisfied that suitable evidence is provided to demonstrate that the 
products and systems proposed for use or used in the construction of 
external walls including finishes and claddings such as synthetic or 
aluminium composite panels comply with the relevant requirements of 
the NCC; and 

(b) Ensure that the documentation relied upon in the approval processes 
include an appropriate level of detail to demonstrate compliance with the 
NCC as proposed and as built. 

(17) DILAPIDATION REPORT – MINOR 

Subject to the receipt of permission of the affected landowner, dilapidation 
report/s of adjoining buildings are to be prepared by an appropriately qualified 
practising structural engineer and submitted for the approval of the Accredited 
Certifier: 

(a) prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation works; and 

(b) on completion of construction demolition/excavation works. 

(18) ROAD OPENING PERMIT 

A separate Road Opening Permit under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 
must be obtained from Council prior to the commencement of any: 

(a) Excavation in or disturbance of a public way, or 

(b) Excavation on land that, if shoring were not provided, may disturb the 
surface of a public road (including footpath). 

(19) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by 
a suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework 
NSW, holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non-Friable (Class B) 
Asbestos Removal Licence which ever applies. 

A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in 
writing of the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. 
The notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor 
and include a contact person for the site together with telephone number 
and email address. 

77



(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and 
Safety Regulation 2017 and the NSW Government and SafeWork NSW 
document entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work 
place: Code of Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City 
of Sydney Managing Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and 
associated guidelines. 

(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly 
indicate the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. 
Signs must be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the 
asbestos removal work area is and should remain in place until removal 
is completed and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. 
Responsibilities for the security and safety of the asbestos removal site 
and removal must be specified in the asbestos removal control plan 
(where required). This includes inaccessible areas that are likely to 
contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that 
asbestos removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed 
at all of the main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where 
asbestos is present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of 
light-weight material and adequately secured so they remain in 
prominent locations. The signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -
1994 Safety Signs for the Occupational Environment for size, 
illumination, location and maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without 
the written approval of Council. 

(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 
594mm (A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type 
size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(iii) site activities and time frames. 

(20) HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SURVEY REQUIRED 

A Hazardous Materials Survey Report must be prepared by a certified 
Occupational Hygienist (Australia Institute of Occupational Hygienists) and 
submitted to the satisfaction of Council’s Area Coordinator Planning 
Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to any demolition / refurbishment 
work commencing at the site.  The report must identify and record the type, 
location and extent of any hazardous materials on the site and make 

78



recommendations as to their safe management and/or removal to ensure the 
site is made safe for demolition, construction and future use/occupation. 

(21) APPLICATION FOR HOARDINGS AND SCAFFOLDING INSTALLED ON 
OR ABOVE A PUBLIC ROAD AND OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES 
INCLUDING BUILDING MAINTENANCE UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD 

(a) A separate application under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be made to Council to 
erect a hoarding and/or scaffolding (temporary structures) on or above a 
public road (footway and/or roadway). 

(b) Where an approval (Permit) is granted allowing the placement of 
temporary structures on or above a public road the structures must 
comply fully with Council’s Hoarding and Scaffolding Policy; Guidelines 
for Hoardings and Scaffolding; and the conditions of approval (Permit) 
granted including: 

(i) maintaining a current and valid approval for the full duration that 
the temporary structure/s is in place; 

(ii) maintaining temporary structure/s in a structurally sound and 
stable condition for the full duration of installation (Clause 2.11.1); 

(iii) bill posters and graffiti being removed within 24 hours of their 
placement (Clause 2.11.2); 

(iv) maintaining temporary structures and the public place adjoining 
the work site in a clean and tidy condition including repainting 
and/or repair of graphics (Clauses 2.11.1, 2.11.4, 2.14.1 and 
3.9.3); 

(v) maintaining a watertight deck (Type B hoardings) to prevent liquids 
including rainwater, falling onto the footway/roadway surfaces 
(Clauses 3.9.1 and 3.9.4); 

(vi) approved site sheds on the decks of a Type B hoarding being fully 
screened from the public place (Clause 3.9.5); 

(vii) material and equipment not being placed or stored on the deck of 
Type B hoardings, unless specifically approved by Council (Clause 
3.9.4); 

(viii) providing and maintaining operational artificial lighting systems 
under Type B hoardings including at high-bay truck entry points 
(Clause 3.9.9); and 

(ix) ensuring all required signage is provided and maintained (Clauses 
3.9.3, 3.9.6, 3.9.8, 3.10.1 and 4.2). 

If it is proposed to operate a hoisting device including a building maintenance 
unit above a public road which swings, hoists material/equipment and/or slews 
any part of the device over the public road, a separate application under 
Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads 
Act 1993 must be made to Council to obtain approval. 

79



(22) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including 
a road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to 
be submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

(23) PHOTOGRAPHIC ARCHIVAL DOCUMENTATION (MINOR WORKS) 

Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, an archival photographic 
recording of 6-8 Orwell Street is to be prepared to Council's satisfaction. The 
recording is to be in digital form, or a combination of both, prepared in 
accordance with the NSW Heritage Division of the Department of Environment 
and Heritage guidelines titled "Photographic Recording of Heritage Items using 
Film or Digital Capture". One copy of the record is to be submitted to Council 
to be lodged with Council's Archives.  

The form of the recording is to be as follows: 

(a) The Development Application number must be noted on the submitted 
information. 

(b) Include a summary report detailing the project description, date and 
authorship of the photographic record, method of documentation and 
limitations of the photographic record. 

(c) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the 
applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a 
perpetual non-exclusive licence to make use of the copyright in all 
images supplied, including the right to make copies available to third 
parties as though they were Council images. The signatures of both the 
applicant and the photographer must be included. 

(d) The report is to be submitted on a USB, CD or DVD, in PDF/A format, 
(created directly from the digital original), with the digital catalogue of 
images containing the following data for each: DOS title, image 
subject/description and data photograph was taken. 

(e) The electronic images are to be taken with a minimum 8 megapixel 
camera, saved as JPEG TIFF or PDF files with a size of approximately 
4-6MB, and cross referenced to the digital catalogue sheets and base 
plans. Choose only images that are necessary to document the process, 
and avoid duplicate images. 

(24) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT  

The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Guidelines 
for Waste Management in New Developments 2018 which requires facilities to 
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal. 

(25) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent.  

80



(b) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be submitted to and 
approved by Principal Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued. The plan must comply with the Council's Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments 2018. All requirements of the 
approved Waste and Recycling Management Plan must be implemented 
during construction of the development. 

(c) The building must incorporate designated areas or separate garbage 
rooms constructed in accordance with Council’s Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments 2018, to facilitate the separation of 
commercial waste and recycling from residential waste and recycling. 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(d) Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must obtain Council’s 
approval of the waste and recycling management facilities provided in 
the development and ensure arrangements are in place for domestic 
waste collection by Council. 

(26) WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION CONTRACT 

Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued and/or commencement of the 
use, whichever is earlier, the building owner must ensure that there is a 
contract with a licensed contractor for the removal of all waste. No garbage is 
to be placed on the public way, e.g. footpaths, roadways, plazas, reserves, at 
any time. 

(27) WASTE/RECYCLING COLLECTION 

(a) The collection of waste and recycling must only occur during the 
designated zone collection times as outlined in the City’s Waste Policy – 
Local Approvals Policy for Managing Waste in Public Places 2017. 

(b) Garbage and recycling must not be placed on the street for collection 
and must have a wheel in wheel out collection 

(28) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public 
domain site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the 
direction that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the 
relevant street frontage; 

81



(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location 
plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must 
be submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project 
description, identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date 
and authorship of the photographic record, the method of documentation 
and limitations of the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the 
applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a 
perpetual non-exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all 
images supplied, including the right to make copies available to third 
parties as though they were Council images. The signatures of both the 
applicant and the photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with 
the City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public 
Domain Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the 
development, whichever is earlier. 

(29) SURVEY INFRASTRUCTURE – IDENTIFICATION AND RECOVERY 

Under Section 24 of the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002, it is an 
offence to remove, damage, destroy, displace, obliterate or deface any survey 
mark unless authorised to do so by the Surveyor-General. Accordingly, the 
applicant must, where possible, ensure the preservation of existing survey 
infrastructure undisturbed and in its original state or else provide evidence of 
the Surveyor-General’s authorisation to remove or replace marks. 

Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, documentary evidence must 
be prepared by a Registered Surveyor and submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Area Planning Manager / Coordinator.  This evidence must include 
either: 

(a) A copy of any Surveyor-General’s Approval for Survey Mark Removal 
granted by NSW Spatial Services for the subject site, including all 
documentation submitted as part of that application (for example the 
survey mark audit schedule, strategy plan and strategy report); or 

(b) A letter, signed by a current NSW Registered Land Surveyor and 
including his or her Board of Surveying and Spatial Information (BOSSI) 
identification number, stating that all investigations required under 
Surveyor-General’s Direction No.11 have been made for the subject site 
and that no survey infrastructure will be affected by the proposal. 

Council’s Principal Surveyor may request further information and/or add 
conditions to any Surveyor-General’s Approval at their discretion. 

(30) PUBLIC DOMAIN LEVELS AND GRADIENTS  

Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, a Public Domain Levels and 
Gradients submission for the building and site frontages must be submitted to 
and approved by the City’s Public Domain Unit. The submission, must be 

82

http://www5.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/nsw/consol_act/sasia2002362/s3.html#survey_mark
http://www5.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/nsw/consol_act/sasia2002362/s3.html#survey_mark
http://www5.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/nsw/consol_act/sasia2002362/s3.html#surveyor-general


prepared in accordance with the City’s Public Domain Manual and submitted 
with a completed Application for Public Domain Levels and Gradients.  
Information on how to complete the submission can be downloaded from the 
City’s website at https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/. 

Any requirements to comply with Disability Discrimination Act at the entrance 
to a building or publically accessible space must be resolved inside the site 
boundary. 

Note: Public Domain Levels and Gradients plans are to be included with Public 
Domain Plan – Detailed Documentation for Construction Condition submission. 

(31) PUBLIC DOMAIN LIGHTING UPGRADE 

Prior to issue of any Construction Certificate for excavation, civil construction, 
drainage or building work (whichever is earlier),  a concept Public Domain 
Lighting Upgrade Plan for pedestrian and street lighting in the public domain 
must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager / 
Coordinator. The Lighting Plan must be prepared in accordance with the 
Sydney Streets Technical Specifications A5 and B8, Sydney Lights Design 
Code and Public Domain Manual.  This information is available for download 
from the City’s website at https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/.  

The lighting upgrade plan must cover all adjacent Orwell St, Hughes Ln & 
Hughes Pl street frontages and shall be designed to include the following: 

Orwell St 

 On Ausgrid pole SY10990 – Replace existing 100w SON luminaire 
with 100w LED Aldridge luminaire. 

 On Ausgrid pole SY11036 – Replace existing 125w MBF luminaire 
with 100w LED Aldridge luminaire. 

Hughes Ln & Hughes Pl 

 Install COS standard wall lights complying to AS1158.3.1.Category 
P1. 

 Lighting designs certified by a suitably qualified practicing lighting 
engineer must be submitted for approval by council prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued for above ground building 
works. 

 Developers must establish an Easement for installation and on-going 
maintenance of building mounted public lighting. 

 

Advice on site specific lighting requirements must be obtained from Council’s 
Public Domain Unit before proceeding with the preparation of any final lighting 
design proposals. 

(32) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN DETAILED DOCUMENTATION FOR 
CONSTRUCTION  

A detailed public domain plan and all relevant documentation must be 
submitted to and approved by the City’s Public Domain Unit prior to the 
construction of any public domain works.  This Plan must document all works 
required to ensure that the public domain complies with the City of Sydney’s 

83

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Public Domain Manual, Sydney Streets Code, Sydney Street Tree Masterplan,  
Sydney Lights Design Code, Sydney Streets Technical Specification and 
Sydney’s Parks Code.  The plan must consider road pavement, footway 
pavement, kerb and gutter, drainage, pedestrian ramps, lighting, street trees, 
signage and other public domain elements. The documentation must be 
checked, accurate, and comply with specified requirements.  Plans must be 
based on an accurate survey, to scale and fully coordinated across all 
disciplines and submissions. The supplied documentation must be to 
construction standard and will be approved under Section 138 of the Roads 
Act. 

The Public Domain Manual and all other relevant documents are available for 
download from Council’s website at https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/. 

The Public Domain Plan documentation must be submitted with an Application 
for Public Domain Plan Assessment and include the approved Public Domain 
Levels and Gradients documentation. If the proposed detailed design of the 
public domain requires changes to any previously approved levels, an 
Application for Public Domain Levels and Gradients must be submitted to and 
approved by the Public Domain Unit to reflect these changes prior to an 
approval being issued for the construction of public domain work.  

Note: Stamped plans will be issued for construction and approved under 
Section 138 of the Roads Act. 

(33) SECTION 138 ROADS ACT APPROVAL  

Approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must be obtained from 
Council prior to the commencement of any excavation in or disturbance of a 
public way for the construction of approved public domain works. 

(34) HOLD POINTS 

Prior to an approval being issued for the construction of public domain work, 
including civil, drainage and subsurface works, a set of hold points for 
approved public domain, civil and drainage work is to be provided by the City's 
Public Domain Unit in accordance with the City of Sydney's Public Domain 
Manual and Sydney Streets Technical Specification (an approved list of hold 
points will be included in the Public Domain works Approval letter). These hold 
points must be adhered to during construction works. 

(35) LIGHTING RETICULATION 

Prior to the issue of any relevant approval for the construction of public domain 
works, a detailed Public Domain Lighting Plan for pedestrian and street lighting 
in the public domain must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Public 
Domain Unit in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Sydney Lights Design 
Code, Sydney Streets Code, Sydney Streets Technical Specification and 
Public Domain Manual.   

The Public Domain Manual and all other relevant documents are available for 
download from Council’s website at https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/. 

If applicable, this public domain lighting documentation shall include pole 
footing locations and structural details, location and details of underground 

84

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


electrical reticulation including connections and conduits, pit cabling and 
certifications as described in the City’s Public Domain Manual. The public 
domain lighting is to be superimposed on the public domain plan to show any 
conflicts between lighting and the proposed landscape design. 

(36) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS BOND 

A Public Domain Works Bond will be required as security for the public domain 
works and for repairing damage that may be caused to the public domain in 
the vicinity of the site, in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted fees 
and charges and the Public Domain Manual. The Public Domain Works Bond 
must be submitted as cash, an unconditional bank guarantee or insurance 
bond as per the Council’s Performance Bond Policy in favour of the City as 
security for completion of the obligations under this consent (Guarantee). 

The City’s Public Domain Unit must be contacted to determine the guarantee 
amount prior to lodgement of the guarantee. The guarantee must be lodged 
with the City prior to an approval being issued for the Public Domain Plan. 

The Guarantee will be retained in full until all Public Domain works, including 
rectification of damage to the public domain, are completed to City of Sydney 
standards and approval and the required certifications, warranties and works-
as-executed documentation are submitted and approved by the City in writing. 
On satisfying the above requirements, 90% of the security will be released. 
The remaining 10% will be retained for the duration of the specified Defects 
Liability Period. 

(37) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS  

All works to the City’s public domain, including rectification of identified defects, 
are subject to a 6 month defects liability period from the date of final 
completion. The date of final completion will be nominated by Council on the 
Certificate of Practical Completion for public domain works. 

(38) NO OBSTRUCTIONS 

All public footways and paths of travel must be free from obstructions.  If 
services are required to be relocated to clear paths of travel then this must be 
undertaken at the developer’s expense.  All obstructions are to be removed 
prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate. 

(39) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS COMPLETION 

The Public Domain works are to be constructed in accordance with the Public 
Domain Works Approval, approved stamped plans for Gradients and Levels, 
Stormwater, Public Domain Lighting, the City of Sydney's Public Domain 
Manual, Stormwater Drainage Manual, Sydney Lights Design Code and 
Sydney Streets Technical Specification.   

The public domain work must be inspected and a Certificate of Practical 
Completion must be issued by Council’s Public Domain Unit prior to the issue 
of any Occupation Certificate or before the commencement of use, whichever 
is earlier. 

85



(40) PUBLIC DOMAIN COMPLETION - WORK AS EXECUTED 
DOCUMENTATION 

Prior to a Certificate of Practical Completion being issued for public domain 
works, works-as-executed (As-Built) plans and documentation, must be 
submitted to and accepted by the City of Sydney for all public domain works, 
including where required Stormwater, Public Domain Lighting and Road 
construction. These works must be certified by a suitably qualified, 
independent professional. Details of the documentation required for approval 
will be advised by the City’s Public Domain Unit. 

(41) SURVEY INFRASTRUCTURE – RESTORATION 

(a) Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued for the development, 
documentary evidence of restoration must be prepared by a Registered 
Surveyor and submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning 
Manager / Coordinator.  This evidence must include: 

(i) Certification that all requirements requested under the Surveyor-
General’s Approval for Survey Mark Removal or by the City’s 
Principal Surveyor  under condition “Survey Infrastructure – 
Identification and Recovery” have been complied with; 

(ii) Certification that all requirements requested under any Surveyor-
General’s Approval for Deferment of Survey Marks from condition 
“Survey Infrastructure – Pre Subdivision Certificate works” have 
been complied with and; 

(iii) Time-stamped photographic records of all new survey 
infrastructure relating to the site clearly showing the mark itself and 
sufficient context to aid in identifying the mark on site. 

(42) CONSTRUCTED FLOOR LEVELS 

A certification report prepared by a suitably qualified practitioner engineer 
(NPER), must be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to issue of any 
Occupation certificate stating that the development has been constructed and 
the required levels achieved in accordance with the approved DA plans. 

(43) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE  

(a) A Public Domain Damage Bond calculated on the basis of 55 square 
metres of concrete and asphalt site frontage must be lodged with Council 
in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and 
Charges. The Public Domain Damage Bond must be submitted as an 
unconditional bank guarantee or insurance bond as per the Council’s 
Performance Bond Policy in favour of Council as security for repairing 
any damage to the public domain in the vicinity of the site (Guarantee). 

(b) The Guarantee must be lodged with Council prior to an approval for 
demolition being granted or any Construction Certificate being issued, 
whichever is earlier. 

(c) The Guarantee in this condition will be retained in full until the Public 
Domain Works Deposit Guarantee is lodged with Council. Upon 

86



lodgement of the Public Domain Works Deposit Guarantee, the 
Guarantee in this condition will be released.   

(44) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS 

(a) The existing stone kerbs on the Hughes Pl & Hughes Ln frontages of the 
site are to be retained and properly protected during demolition, 
excavation and construction works. 

(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during excavation and construction 
works for the development, temporary removal and storage of the stone 
kerbs may be approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone kerbs 
(i.e. those that are in good condition as agreed by Council officers) must 
be re-installed in accordance with the City of Sydney’s standard details 
and specifications after the construction works have been completed. A 
temporary concrete kerb will need to be constructed to retain the footpath 
until the stone kerbs can be reinstalled. 

(c) Note the following: 

(i) all costs associated with the works are to be borne by the 
developer. 

(ii) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s 
satisfaction or as otherwise advised by Council officers.  

(iii) Where new vehicle crossings or temporary crossings are to be 
constructed to access the property, the affected kerb stones 
should be salvaged and reused wherever possible. 

(iv) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with 
stone kerbs to match existing stones or as specified by City 
officers.  

(v) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed. 

(vi) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone 
kerbs for stormwater kerb outlets. 

(vii) Stone kerbs and gutters may be bonded in accordance with the 
City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges.  If so, 
this will be included with the Public Domain Damage Bond. 

(45) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS  

All existing or proposed utility drainage and service pit lids throughout the 
public domain shall be to City of Sydney specifications and heel / bicycle safe, 
slip resistant, infill with material to match surrounding surface, finished flush 
with the adjacent pavement to avoid trip hazards and be clear of obstructions 
for easy opening and cleaning.  Infill pit lids are to be detailed where specified 
by Council’s Public Domain Officer. Private pits are not permitted within the 
public domain. All details of pit lids must be shown on the public domain plan 
and must be approved by Public Domain Unit prior to the issue of an approval 
for public domain works.  

87



(46) TACTILE GROUND SURFACE INDICATORS AND HANDRAILS 

All tactile ground surface indicators, handrails and other elements required to 
provide access into the building / property must be located entirely within the 
private property boundary. 

(47) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MINOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) The drainage system is to be constructed in accordance with the City's 
standard requirements as detailed in the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, as amended from time to time.  

The development is to be designed so that the flow of pollutants from 
the site due to stormwater is reduced. 

(b) Where a drainage system includes On-site Detention (OSD), the 
following requirements must be satisfied prior to the issue of any 
Occupation Certificate: 

(i) A Positive Covenant must be registered on the title for all drainage 
systems involving OSD to ensure the maintenance of the approved 
OSD system regardless of the method of connection; 

(ii) A Works-As-Executed survey must be prepared, signed, dated 
and certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to 
and accepted by the Principal Certifier. The Works-As-Executed 
plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater 
drainage plans issued with the Construction Certificate, with 
variations to locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes 
clearly marked;  

(iii) A Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum 
NER), showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, 
and must be submitted to and be accepted by the Principal 
Certifier; 

(iv) Evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-
Executed documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance 
Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal 
Certifier; 

(v) The Principal Certifier must submit a copy of the Works-As-
Executed plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate 
and Calculation Sheet to the City of Sydney. 

(48) STRATA SUBDIVISION – DEVELOPMENT CONSENT 

Any proposal for strata subdivision will require development consent and 
therefore the lodgement of a separate development application or complying 
development application and subsequent approval from Council, or an 
accredited certifier, of the Strata Plan – and issue of a Strata Certificate, under 
the Strata Schemes Development Act 2015. 

88



(49) ELECTRICITY SUBSTATION 

If required by the applicable energy supplier, the owner must dedicate to the 
applicable energy supplier, free of cost, an area of land within the development 
site, but not in any landscaped area or in any area visible from the public 
domain, to enable an electricity substation to be installed. The size and 
location of the substation is to be submitted for approval of Council and 
Ausgrid, prior to a Construction Certificate being issued or the commencement 
of the use, whichever is earlier. 

(50) BASIX CERTIFICATE – DETAILS TO BE LODGED WITH A CC 

A copy of the required completed BASIX certificate accepted as part of this 
Development Consent with respect to the proposed residential building works, 
must be lodged with an application for a construction certificate and the items 
nominated as part of the subject BASIX certificate must be specified on the 
plans submitted with the construction certificate application. – See Note. 

IMPORTANT NOTE: 

Any requirement detailed in the accompanying BASIX Certificate, MUST be 
included as a specific notation or inclusion on any future Construction 
Certificate plans and specification in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 1 of 
the EP&A Regulation, 2000. 

 

 

89



SCHEDULE 1C 

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(51) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a 
copy submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the 
whole or any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to 
an existing building. 

(52) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and 
activities in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with 
preparation for the commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading 
of goods, transferring of tools etc) in connection with the proposed 
development must only be carried out between the hours of 7.30am and 
5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on 
Saturdays, with safety inspections being permitted at 7.00am on work 
days, and no work must be carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 
1992 and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-
street use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to 
a permit being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid 
the loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to 
avoid structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in 
accordance with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

(53) USE OF INTRUSIVE APPLIANCES – NOT APPROVED 

This development consent does not extend to the use of appliances which emit 
noise of a highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and hydraulic 
hammers) or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City 
of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992”. 

A separate Section 4.55 application must be submitted to the Council for the 
use of any equipment of a highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and 

90



hydraulic hammers) or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 
of the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992. 

 

(54) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 

No portion of the proposed structure shall encroach onto the adjoining 
properties. 

(55) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(56) SURVEY 

All footings, walls and floor slabs adjacent to a boundary must be set out by a 
registered surveyor. On commencement of brickwork or wall construction a 
survey and report, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to 
the Principal Certifier indicating the position of external walls in relation to the 
boundaries of the allotment. Any encroachments by the subject building over 
adjoining boundaries or roads must be removed prior to continuation of 
building construction work. 

(57) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION 

A Survey Certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor must be submitted to 
the Principal Certifier at the completion of the building work certifying the 
location of the building in relation to the boundaries of the allotment. 

(58) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE 

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must 
be obtained from Sydney Water Corporation. 

Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Coordinator. 
Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section on the web site 
www.sydneywater.com.au then refer to “Water Servicing Coordinator” under 
“Developing Your Land” or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance. 

Following application a “Notice of Requirements” will advise of water and 
sewer infrastructure to be built and charges to be paid. Please make early 
contact with the Coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can 
be time consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway 
or landscape design. 

The Section 73 Certificate must be submitted to Council or the Principal 
Certifier prior to any Occupation Certificate or subdivision/strata certificate 
being issued. 

(59) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

91



(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a 
Works Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible 
on site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to 
Council at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An 
approval for a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain 
hours of the days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities 
at various stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed 
periodically for any adjustment necessitated by the progress of the 
construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be 
undertaken including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval 
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of 
the Roads Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(60) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips 
or the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement 
will result in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(61) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of 
plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower 
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must 
be obtained from Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must 
be obtained 48 hours beforehand for partial road closures which, in the 
opinion of Council will create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks 
beforehand in the case of full road closures and partial road closures 
which, in the opinion of Council, will create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of 
materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling 
of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes 
outside of approved hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

(62) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their 
loads fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

92



(63) VEHICLE CLEANSING 

Prior to the commencement of work, suitable measures are to be implemented 
to ensure that sediment and other materials are not tracked onto the roadway 
by vehicles leaving the site. It is an offence to allow, permit or cause materials 
to pollute or be placed in a position from which they may pollute waters. 

 

93



SCHEDULE 2 

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 

 

94



Attachment B 

Selected Drawings

95



 

Proposed Ground and Level 1 plan 

96



 

Proposed Level 2 and Level 3 Plan  

97



 

Proposed Level 4 and Level 5 Plan  

98



 

Proposed Roof Plan  

 

 

Proposed South Elevation (Orwell Street) and West Elevation (Hughes Lane) 

99



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Application: 306 Cleveland Street, Surry Hills - D/2020/230 

File No.: D/2020/230 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 17 March 2020 

Applicant: ES Design 

Designer: ES Design 

Owner: Harmon International Holdings Pty Limited 

Cost of Works: $0 

Zoning: Sex services premises are permissible with consent within 
the B4 Mixed Use zone.  

Proposal Summary: The proposal involves the change of use and fitout of 2 x 
existing terrace buildings at 306 and 308 Cleveland Street, 
to expand an existing sex services premises (brothel) 
located at 310 and 312 Cleveland Street.  

The 2 x terrace buildings at 306 and 308 Cleveland Street 
have previously been used as a dwelling house and 
boarding house respectively, and have been used more 
recently as an expanded brothel without consent. The 
subject application therefore seeks consent to regularise 
the unauthorised use of 306 and 308 Cleveland Street as a 
brothel. 

The proposal involves the provision of 7 x additional 
working rooms, increasing the number of approved rooms 
from 14 to 21 and increasing the number of workers 
permitted within the premises by 7, from 12 to 19.  

The proposal retains an existing entrance at 310 Cleveland 
Street and an existing entrance from Goodlet Lane. New 
openings are proposed to connect the buildings (between 
306, 308 and 310). Conservation works are proposed to 
the rear of the buildings including the replacement of 
render that has been removed and replacement of 
aluminium windows using timber windows.  

1

Item 5.



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 2 x additional staff rooms and storage rooms are proposed 
within the new premises at 306 and 308 Cleveland Street. 
An additional waiting room is proposed to be located at the 
ground level of 308 Cleveland Street.  

The new part of the brothel is proposed to operate in 
accordance with approved hours of operation for the 
existing brothel, which are between 10:30am and 12.00 
midnight, Sunday through to Thursdays and between 
10.30am and 2:00am the following day on Fridays and 
Saturdays. 

The expansion of an existing sex services premises is 
defined as sensitive development in accordance with 
Schedule 3 of the Local Planning Panels Direction. The 
application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for 
determination.  

A development application that is similar to the subject 
proposal was refused by the Local Planning Panel on 17 
July 2019 (D/2019/149). Reasons for refusal included that 
the proposal was contrary to the relevant planning controls 
relating to the concentration of sex services premises and 
the amenity of adjoining residential dwellings, that the plan 
of management was inadequate in terms of addressing the 
number and amenities of staff and management of access 
from Goodlet Lane, that the proposal did not address 
accessible entry to the premises, the heritage conservation 
of the premises and waste management.  

The subject application seeks to address the reasons for 
refusal of the previously refused application. Whilst several 
of the reasons for refusal of the previous application have 
been addressed by the proposal, the subject application is 
recommended for refusal on the basis that the site is 
located less than 75 metres from an approved brothel at 
278-284 Cleveland Street, resulting in an unacceptable 
concentration of brothels in the locality.  

The proposal will have significant impacts on the 
residential amenity of neighbouring dwellings that have 
frontages to Wilton Street, Goodlet Street and Cleveland 
Street, noting the  Plan of Management does not provide 
sufficient detail in relation to mitigating noise and anti-
social impacts for neighbouring dwellings in the vicinity of 
Goodlet Lane.  

The applicant has failed to address the loss of affordable 
housing in the locality that has resulted from the 
unauthorised change of use of 308 Cleveland Street from 
an approved boarding house to a brothel. 

 

2



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

The development was notified and advertised for 21 days 
between 11 May 2020 and 2 June 2020. 14 submissions 
by way of objection were received. The objections raised 
the following concerns:  

  the proposal is contrary to the City's planning 
controls relating to sex services premises; 

 the site is not suitable for the proposed use due to its 
impacts on residential amenity; 

 parking impacts; and 

 impacts on the existing buildings and streetscape. 

Summary Recommendation: This proposal is recommended for refusal. 

Development Controls: (i) State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 
2007; 

(ii) Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney 
Harbour Catchment) 2005; 

(iii) State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable 
Rental Housing) 2009 ('ARHSEPP2009'); 

(iv) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
('SLEP2012'); 

(v) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
('SDCP2012'). 

Attachments: A. Selected Drawings 

  

3



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that consent be refused for Development Application No. D/2020/230 for the 
reasons outlined below. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for refusal for the following reasons: 

(A) The entrance to the site is located less than 75 metres to the entrance to an approved 
brothel at 278-284 Cleveland Street and is located adjacent to and opposite to 
residential dwellings that are within a residential zone. The proposal intensifies and 
expands existing sex services premises and seeks to regularise the unauthorised 
change of use of a boarding house to a brothel. The development will have an adverse 
impact on the streetscape, character and amenity of the surrounding area and fails to 
satisfy the following planning provisions:  

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

(i)  Clause 1.2(2)(e) - to encourage the growth and diversity of the residential 
population of the City of Sydney by providing for a range of appropriately located 
housing, including affordable housing 

(ii) Clause 1.2(2)(h) - to enhance the amenity and quality of life of local communities 

(iii)  Clause 1.2(2)(j) - to ensure ensuring that new development exhibits design 
excellence and reflects the existing or desired future character of particular 
localities 

(iv)  Clause 2.3(2) - B4 Mixed Use zone - To provide a mixture of compatible land 
uses and to ensure uses support the viability of centres 

(v)  Clause 7.21 - Location of sex services premises 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

(vi)  Section 2.13.1 - Cleveland Street locality statement 

(vii)  Section 4.2.9 - Non-residential land uses in the B4 - Mixed Use zone 

(viii)  Section 4.4.6.1 - proximity to residential premises and existing sex services 
premises 

(B) The applicant has failed to address the reduction of availability of affordable housing 
within the locality that has resulted from the unauthorised change of use of an existing 
boarding house at 308 Cleveland Street to a brothel. The development fails to comply 
with the relevant provisions of the State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable 
Rental Housing) 2009. 

 

 

4



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

(C) The Plan of Management lodged with the application fails to address the how access 
will be managed from Goodlet Lane. The development fails to comply with the 
following planning provisions: 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

(i) Section 4.4.6.2 - Access to the premises 

(ii) Section 4.4.6.4 - Health, Safety and Security 

(iii) Section 4.4.6.6 - Plan of Management 

(D) The proposal fails to comply with the City's Planning Policies regarding sex services 
premises and would intensify existing impacts on residential amenity that are 
significant. Approval of a development that contradicts the planning policies and that 
would adversely impact upon the character and amenity of the surrounding dwellings 
and the locality would not be in the public interest.  

 

  

5



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. Due to Covid-19 restrictions, Council's assessing officers were not able to carry out an 
internal site visit of the premises. An external site visit was carried out on 28 May 
2020. 

2. The proposal relates to 4 x 2 storey Victorian terrace buildings that are legally known 
as Lots A and B in DP 443480 (306 and 308 Cleveland Street) and Lots A and B DP 
438607 (310 and 312 Cleveland Street).  

3. The site is located on the northern side of Cleveland Street, close to its intersection 
with Wilton Street. Clients are able to access the site via a front door entry at 310 
Cleveland Street and a rear door entry at the rear of 310 Cleveland Street on Goodlet 
Lane. Vehicular access is provided to the rear of 310 Cleveland Street via a roller door 
to Goodlet Lane (Figure 4).  

4. Surrounding land uses are residential and commercial. To the west and east of the site 
at 304 and 314 Cleveland Street are located 2 storey mixed use buildings containing 
commercial premises at the ground level and shoptop housing above.  

5. To the north and north-east are residential dwellings that have frontages to Wilton 
Street and Goodlet Street (Figures 6-8). To the south , on the opposite side of 
Cleveland Street are 2 storey dwelling houses (295 and 297 Cleveland Street) (Figure 
9).  

6. A mixed use building containing commercial premises at the ground level and shop top 
housing above is located at 299-301 Cleveland Street. A commercial warehouse is 
located opposite the site at 303 Cleveland Street.  

7. A building with approval to operate as a brothel is located approximately 60m to the 
west of the site at 278-284 Cleveland Street. A place of worship (mosque) is located 
approximately 45m to the east of the site at 328-330 Cleveland Street (Figure 2 
below).  

8. The site is identified as a contributory building within the Goodlet Street conservation 
area (C63). 

9. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

6



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

 

Figure 2: Site and surrounding land uses including residential, commercial, an approved brothel and 
a place of worship  

7



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 3: Site and adjoining mixed use buildings viewed from the opposite side of Cleveland Street, 
looking north. 2 x terrace buildings at 306-308 Cleveland Street are proposed to be used as an 
expanded brothel, in association with an existing brothel at 310-312 Cleveland Street.  

 

Figure 4: Site and rear entry door to the site at 310 Cleveland Street, viewed from Goodlet Lane, 
looking south-west 

8



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 5: Rear elevations of 310 & 312 Cleveland Street, viewed from Goodlet Lane, looking south 

 

Figure 6: Site, rear entry door at Goodlet Lane and dwellings on the western side of Wilton Street, 
looking south-west from Wilton Street 

9



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 7: Dwellings on the eastern side of Wilton Street (116-124 Wilton Street), looking north-east 
from the corner of Goodlet Lane and Wilton Street 

 

Figure 8: Dwellings on the eastern side of Wilton Street (126-140 Wilton Street), looking east from 
the corner of Goodlet Lane and Wilton Street 

10



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 9: Dwellings and mixed use buildings opposite to the site, on the southern side of Cleveland 
Street  

Proposal 

10. The proposal involves the change of use and fitout of 2 x existing terrace buildings at 
306 and 308 Cleveland Street, to expand an existing brothel known as Ginza Club. 
The existing brothel is located at 310 and 312 Cleveland Street (Figure 3 below).  

11. The proposal involves the provision of 7 x additional working rooms, increasing the 
number of approved rooms for the brothel from 14 to 21. The proposal involves 
increasing the number of workers permitted within the premises by 7, from 12 to 19. 

12. 2 x additional staff rooms and storage rooms are proposed within the new premises at 
306 and 308 Cleveland Street. An additional waiting room is proposed to be located at 
the ground level of 308 Cleveland Street. 

13. The expanded brothel is proposed to operate in accordance with approved hours of 
operation for the existing brothel. That is, between: 

(a) 10:30am and 12.00 midnight, Sunday through to Thursdays; and  

(b) 10.30am and 2:00am the following day on Fridays and Saturdays. 

14. 2 x bicycle parking spaces are proposed at the rear of 310 Cleveland Street and a 
waste bin holding area is shown at the rear of 308 Cleveland Street. An accessible 
pedestrian entry and accessible car space are shown at the rear of 310 Cleveland 
Street.  

  

11



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

15. Proposed works involve: 

(a) the construction of new openings in the ground level party walls between the 
existing and proposed brothel components. New openings are proposed to 
connect 306 to 308 Cleveland Street and to connect 308 to 310 Cleveland 
Street. A NCC/BCA compliance report lodged with the application recommends 
the new opening between the buildings be constructed as a self-closing fire door.  

(b) a heritage impact statement lodged with the application recommends that 
conservation works be carried out at the rear of the buildings where they are in a 
visible state of disrepair from Goodlet Lane. Drawings lodged with the application 
show the following works are proposed: 

(i) reinstatement of render to the rear wings of the premises, repointing, 
replacement of missing bricks, flashings and sills; and 

(ii) replacement of aluminium windows using timber windows; and  

(iii) completion of the rear boundary walls and gates in accordance with 
historic approvals granted by Council.  

16. Plans of the proposed development are provided below. 

 

Figure 10: Ground level plan showing existing brothel component (hatched) at 310 and 312 
Cleveland Street and the proposed expanded brothel component (306 and 308 Cleveland Street). 

12



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 11: First level plan showing existing brothel component (hatched) at 310 and 312 Cleveland 
Street and the proposed expanded brothel component (306 and 308 Cleveland Street).  

 History Relevant to the Development Application 

Previous Application - D/2019/149 - for 306 and 308 Cleveland Street 

17. A previous similar development application (D/2019/149) was refused by the Local 
Planning Panel on 17 July 2019.  

18. The application was similar to the subject application in that it sought to regularise the 
unauthorised use of 2 x terraces at 306 and 308 Cleveland Street for sex services 
premises (brothel) in association with existing the existing brothel at 310-312 
Cleveland Street, Surry Hills.  

19. The subject application seeks to revisit the previously refused proposal and has 
addressed several of the reasons for refusal. Reasons for the refusal of the previous 
application include: 

(a) the proposal is contrary to the relevant SLEP2012 and SDCP2012 planning 
controls for sex services premises including controls around location of premises 
in relation to residential dwellings, clustering of sex services premises. 

Comment: as outlined in this report, the proposal to expand the area and number 
of rooms of the existing sex services premises is contrary to the relevant 
SLEP2012 and SDCP2012 planning controls for sex services premises.  

  

13



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(b) the internal layout and Plan of Management inadequately address the maximum 
patron capacity of each room and the premises, how access will be managed 
from Goodlet Lane and the provision of a sufficient break-out area for staff.  

Comment: the Statement of Environment Effects (SEE) lodged with the subject 
application states there will be 7 additional workers (in addition to the previous 
consent that provides for a maximum of 12 workers; 19 in total). The plan of 
management states there will be a maximum of 17 workers. The plan of 
management fails to outline how access will be managed from Goodlet Lane. 

(c) The application fails to demonstrate compliance with relevant planning provisions 
regarding accessibility.  

Comment: An access report has been lodged with the application that states the 
site is accessible.  

(d) Unauthorised works have been undertaken to the premises such that it currently 
appears dilapidated, adversely impacting on its contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Goodlet Street conservation area (C63).  

Comment: plans lodged with the application show that conservation works are 
proposed to the rear of the 4 terrace buildings in accordance with a heritage 
impact statement. Suitable conditions would be applied to a consent if the 
application were to be recommended for approval.  

(e) The application does not include areas for waste storage and is not 
accompanied by a demolition, construction and operational waste management 
plan.  

Comment: a waste holding area is shown on the drawings lodged with the 
application. Construction and waste related conditions could be applied in the 
event the application were to be recommended for approval.  

310 and 312 Cleveland Street 

20. Development application number D/2018/742 was approved by the Local Planning 
Panel on 10 October 2018. Consent was granted for an extension to the existing 
brothel to provide for 4 additional working rooms within a new building at Goodlet Lane 
and a new laundry. The approval provided for a maximum of 12 sex workers to be 
employed at any one time. The approved works have not commenced (Figure 12 
below).  

 

Figure 12: Approved drawings for D/2018/742, showing a new building at Goodlet Lane that would 
contain additional working rooms. The approved building has not been constructed.  

14



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

21. Reasons for the approval of development application number D/2018/742 include: 

(a) the Plan of Management adequately addresses the operational, safety and 
security requirements of the premises; 

(b) the proposed rear addition is of an appropriate scale and is sympathetic to the 
heritage conservation area; 

(c) conditions to relocate air conditioning units to remove visual clutter from the front 
of the building and to enhance the contribution of the building to the heritage 
conservation area.  

22. On 24 March 1999, development consent U98/01208 was granted to regularise the 
use of the premises as a brothel (bondage and discipline), trading from 10.30am to 
midnight Sunday to Thursday and from 10.30am to 2am Fridays and Saturdays 
(including the following day). The approval was for 10 work rooms.  

306 and 308 Cleveland Street 

23. Historic applications relate to previous uses of 306 and 308 Cleveland Street as 
boarding houses. The boarding houses are listed on the City's Boarding Houses 
inspection register.  

24. On 24 November 2017, development applications D/2017/1093 and D/2017/1094 were 
refused for alterations and additions including demolition of the rear wings and 
construction of 3 storey additions and a semi-detached 2 storey secondary dwelling 
fronting Goodlet Lane.  

25. On 8 July 2015, development consents D/2015/793 and D/2015/795 were granted for 
the removal of rear boundary walls and the construction of roller doors to Goodlet 
Lane.  

26. On 21 November 2003, development consent U03/00321 was granted to convert the 
existing boarding house at 306 Cleveland Street to a single dwelling.   

27. On 10 February 2003, development consent U02/01284 was granted to regularise the 
use of 308 Cleveland Street as a boarding house containing five boarding rooms. This 
is the most recent approved use of this property. 

Compliance history 

28. In April 2020, a complaint was received that the premises were operating during 
Covid-19 restrictions. The complainant was advised to contact NSW Police.  

29. On 27 March 2020, a complaint was received that clients had been observed using the 
rear door to the premises during Covid-19 restrictions. The complainant stated it was 
their understanding the that clients must use the Cleveland Street entrance to access 
the site. A standard response was provided to the correspondent in relation to the 
City's response to Covid-19.  

30. On 22 January 2019, a brothel closure order was issued for 306-308 Cleveland Street. 
The subject application has been lodged to formalise the use of 306-308 Cleveland 
Street, in association with an existing brothel located within 310 and 312 Cleveland 
Street. 

15



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

31. In March 2019, a Notice of Intention to Give an Order was issued to the owners of 306-
308 Cleveland Street for unauthorised works to the properties.  

32. On 18 March 2019, a complaint was received in relation to the use of Goodlet Lane by 
clients of the brothel. The complaint raised similar issues to those raised in objections 
to the previous development application (D/2018/742). That is, use of the lane by 
children, clients waiting in the lane for service, talking loudly late at night and rubbish 
being left in the lane including cigarette butts. The complaint requested that only the 
Cleveland Street entrance be used to access the site.  

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

33. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs.  

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land 

34. The aim of SEPP 55 is to ensure that a change of land use will not increase the risk to 
health, particularly in circumstances where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

35. A search of the City's archives indicates that the sites have historically been used for 
residential purposes. As such, they are unlikely to affected by contamination. Council's 
Environmental Health officers have not requested any additional information in relation 
to site contamination.  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 

36. The provisions of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 have been considered in the assessment 
of the development application. 

Clause 101 

37. The application is subject to Clause 101 of the SEPP as the site has frontage to 
Cleveland Street, which is a classified road. The proposed use is not sensitive to 
vehicle noise and emissions and does not require vehicular access to Cleveland 
Street. As such the development satisfies the provisions of the SEPP. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009  

38. The use of 308 Cleveland Street has been changed from an approved boarding house 
to a brothel without consent. The operators of the site have carried out a change of 
use that is contrary to Clause 50(1) of the ARHSEPP2009, which states that a person 
must not change the use of a building containing affordable housing to another use 
without development consent. See discussion below in the Issues section.  

39. The applicant has failed to address the provisions of ARHSEPP2009 in the subject 
application and has not provided any details required by Clause 50(2) of the 
ARHSEPP2009. In particular, the applicant has failed to address: 

(a) whether there is likely to be a reduction in affordable housing on the land to 
which the application relates; 

(b) whether there is available sufficient comparable accommodation to satisfy the 
demand for such accommodation; 

16



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(c) whether the development is likely to cause adverse social and economic effects 
on the Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 
(Deemed SEPP) 

40. Whilst the site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney 
Harbour, no works are proposed that would result in cumulative environmental impacts 
for the harbour and its surrounds. The development is consistent with the relevant 
aims of the deemed SEPP. 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

Aims of SLEP2012 and permissible land uses 

41. The proposal expands the operations and area of an existing sex services premises 
that as highlighted by submissions objecting to the proposal, currently impact 
significantly upon the residential amenity of residential dwellings located close to the 
Goodlet Lane entrance to the premises. The proposal is contrary to key aims (h) and 
(j) of SLEP2012, which state that development must enhance the amenity and quality 
of life of local communities and that new development must reflect the existing or 
desired future character of the locality. 

42. The applicant seeks consent to regularise the unauthorised change of use of a 
dwelling at 306 Cleveland Street and a boarding house at 308 Cleveland Street to an 
expanded brothel. The proposal is contrary to a key aim (e) of SLEP2012, which is to 
encourage the growth and diversity of the residential population of the City of Sydney 
by providing for a range of appropriately located housing, including affordable housing.  

43. Whilst sex services premises (brothels) are permissible with consent in the B4 Mixed 
Use zone, the proposal expands the operations and area of an existing sex services 
premises that currently impact significantly upon the residential amenity of residential 
dwellings located close to the Goodlet Lane entrance to the premises. As such, the 
proposal is contrary to a key objective of the B4 Mixed Use zone, which is to provide a 
mixture of compatible land uses. 

Clause 5.10 Heritage conservation 

44. The site is identified as a contributory item within the Goodlet Street conservation area 
(C63). A heritage impact statement lodged with the application recommends that 
conservation works be carried out to the rear elevation of the premises. Drawings 
lodged with the application reflect those recommendations.   

Clause 7.21 Location of sex services premises 

45. The proposal to expand the existing brothel from 14 to 21 rooms and to double its area 
into 2 adjoining buildings fails to satisfy the provisions of Clause 7.21 of SLEP2012. 
The provisions require the consent authority to consider whether the operation of the 
sex services premises is likely to cause a disturbance in the neighbourhood because 
of its size, location, hours of operation or number of employees and taking into account 
the cumulative impact of the sex services premises along with other sex services 
premises operating in the neighbourhood during similar hours. 

46. The site is located less than 75 metres from the entrance to a site at 278-284 
Cleveland Street that has approval to operate as a brothel. Whilst the brothel at 278-
284 Cleveland Street has relocated to a premise at 479 Elizabeth Street, Surry Hills, 
the site at 278-284 Cleveland Street can be reopened and operated as a brothel 
without further application to Council. See discussion below in the Issues section. 

17



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

47. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – Cleveland Street Locality 

The site is located within the Cleveland Street locality.   

The proposal involves works to maintain the rear heritage of the buildings that if approved, 
would contribute to the conservation of the contributory building within the conservation 
area. 

Proposed working rooms facing Cleveland Street present as inactive frontages to the 
footpath as they are blocked out for privacy (Figure 14 below). Only one door out of 4 
terraces provides access. As such, the development does not provide an active edge to 
enliven Cleveland Street frontage. The proposal is inconsistent with the locality statement 
at part (k) that encourages active uses on the ground floor including commercial, retail, 
professional services, café and dining and above ground uses, such as boutique 
accommodation, commercial, leisure and residential.  

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain 

3.2.3 Active frontages 

No Existing and proposed working rooms 
facing Cleveland Street present inactive 
frontages by blocking out windows 
(Figure 14 below). The proposal does 
not permit entry from the primary 
frontage through 306 and 308 Cleveland 
Street, retaining a single entry door to all 
4 x frontages via 310 Cleveland Street.  

The development fails to positively 
address the street and fails to contribute 
to the safety and amenity of the 
residential streets surrounding the site 
and the public domain.  

3.9 Heritage Yes A heritage impact statement (HIS) 
lodged with the application recommends 
conservation works be carried out to the 
rear of the premises. These works are 
listed on drawings lodged with the 
application.  

3.11 Transport and Parking 

3.11.3 Bike parking and 
associated facilities 

Yes SDCP2012 does not provide a minimum 
bicycle parking rate for sex services 
premises. 2 x bicycle parking spaces are 
provided at the rear of 310 Cleveland 
Street.  

18



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

Schedule 7.8.5 Accessible car 
parking spaces 

An accessible car parking space is 
provided at the rear of the premises.  

3.12 Accessible Design Yes An access report has been lodged with 
the application. The report concludes 
that there is a step free entrance to the 
premises from Goodlet Lane and that 
accessible parking is provided. An 
accessible room is provided on the 
ground floor level with access from 
Goodlet Lane.  

3.14 Waste Yes A waste bin holding area is shown at the 
rear of 308 Cleveland Street. If the 
application was to be recommended for 
approval, a condition would be applied in 
relation to waste management.   

3.15 Late Night Trading 
Management 

3.15.3 Matters for 
consideration 

Yes The site is located within a Local Centre 
Area in accordance with SDCP2012 late 
night trading controls.  

The controls do not apply to sex 
services premises, however the 
proposal is not in keeping with the 
matters for consideration when used as 
a guide to assessment. See discussion 
below in the Issues section.  

 

4.2.9 Non-residential 
development in B4 Mixed 
Uses zones 

Compliance Comment 

Objectives No The proposal intensifies existing adverse 
impacts generated by the existing 
premises including noise and 
streetscape impacts. The proposal fails 
to ensure the residential amenity of 
adjoining residences and the 
neighbourhood. 

 

 

 

 

19



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4.2.9 Non-residential 
development in B4 Mixed 
Uses zones 

Compliance Comment 

As such, the proposal is contrary to key 
objectives of part 4.2.9 of SDCP2012, 
which are to ensure non-residential 
development is compatible with, and 
does not detract from the amenity of 
residential development and to ensure 
that any impacts generated by non-
residential development are adequately 
managed to preserve the quality of life 
for residents in the area. 

 
 

4.4.6 Sex industry premises Compliance Comment 

Objectives No The proposal intensifies existing adverse 
impacts generated by the existing 
premises including noise and fails to 
ensure the residential amenity of 
adjoining residences and the 
neighbourhood. 

4.4.6.1 Location of Premises 

4.4.6.1(1)(b) Premises must 
not be immediately adjacent to 
or directly opposite land 
developed for 
residential purposes. 

4.4.6.1(1)(c) Premises must 
not be adjacent to or directly 
opposite a sensitive land use 
and within a radius of 75m of 
an existing, approved adult 
entertainment or sex industry 
premise. 

No  

The premises are located adjacent to 
and opposite to residential dwellings on 
Wilton and Cleveland Streets. 

 

The premises are located within 75m of 
an approved sex industry premises at 
278 Cleveland Street. See discussion 
below in the Issues section. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4.4.6 Sex industry premises Compliance Comment 

4.4.6.2 Design of Premises 

4.4.6.2(1)(a)-(d) All entrances 
and exits are to facilitate the 
privacy of staff and visitors 
without compromising personal 
safety. 

4.4.6.2(1)(b)-(d) Entrances are 
to be visible from public areas 
and not obstructed by any 
existing or proposed 
landscaping. Entrances are to 
be provided with adequate 
lighting and designed to 
maximise surveillance and 
safety. 

No The proposal refers to a primary entry 
from Cleveland Street and a secondary 
entry from Goodlet Lane. However, as 
raised in submissions, the Goodlet Lane 
entry is in frequent use and has been 
associated with anti-social behaviour 
within streets adjoining the site. These 
issues would be intensified should 
approval be granted to increase the 
number of approved working rooms from 
14 to 21 and to double the area of the 
brothel from 2 to 4 terrace buildings. See 
discussion below in the Issues section. 

4.4.6.2(2)  The external 
appearance of the premises 
must ensure is not a prominent 
feature in the street 

 

Yes The proposal does not involve any 
substantial changes to the premises as 
viewed from Cleveland Street.  

4.4.6.2(3) Premises are to be 
clearly numbered, with the 
number clearly visible from the 
street, subject to the signage 
provisions under Section 3.16.  

Yes The front and rear entries to the 
premises are clearly numbered.  

4.4.6.2(4) There must be no 
display of restricted material, 
sex-related products, sex 
workers, performers, or nude 
or semi-dressed staff in 
windows or doors, or outside 
the premises. 

Yes The premises do not display any 
material that is restricted or that is visible 
from the streetscape.   

4.4.6.2(5) The interior of the 
premises must not be visible 
from any place in the public 
domain.  

 

 

 

Yes Windows are blocked out as viewed 
from Cleveland Street and Goodlet 
Lane. See Figure 14 below.  

21



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4.4.6 Sex industry premises Compliance Comment 

4.4.6.2 (6) Where the interior is 
visible from neighbouring 
buildings, adequate measures 
are to be taken to screen the 
interior of the building, for 
example through the use of 
blinds or screens. 

4.4.6.3 Scale of sex services 
premises  

The consent authority may 
exercise discretion for an 
increase in the number of 
working rooms in a sex 
services premises where it can 
be demonstrated that the site 
can accommodate additional 
working rooms without adverse 
impacts, including traffic 
generation, noise and other 
amenity impacts on the 
surrounding area 

No The proposal does not increase the 
number of waiting areas within the 
premises. Issues around anti-social 
behaviour at Goodlet Lane have been 
raised in submissions. These issues 
would be intensified should approval be 
recommended for the proposed increase 
in working rooms from 14 to 21 and to 
double the size of the premises from 2 to 
4 terrace buildings. See discussion 
below in the Issues section. 

4.4.6.4 Health, safety and 
security 

 

No Whilst the plan of management (POM) 
lodged with the application is detailed in 
relation to health and safety provisions 
within the premises, it does not address 
issues around the use Goodlet Lane to 
access the site. See discussion below in 
the Issues section 

4.4.6.6 Management of 
operations 

No As above. See discussion below in the 
Issues section 

 

Issues 

Sex Services Premises - Planning Controls  

48. Planning controls in relation to sex services premises are provided by both SLEP2012 
and SDCP2012. The objectives of the controls are to minimise land use conflicts and 
adverse amenity impacts relating to sex services premises, to provide criteria for the 
location, design and ongoing management of premises and to ensure sex service 
premises do not interfere with the amenity of the neighbourhood in which they are 
located. 

22



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

49. The provisions of part 7.21 of SLEP2012 state that the consent authority must 
consider whether the operation of the sex services premises is likely to cause a 
disturbance in the neighbourhood, either  

(a) because of its size, location, hours of operation or number of employees, or 

(b) taking into account the cumulative impact of the sex services premises along 
with other sex services premises operating in the neighbourhood during similar 
hours. 

50. The provisions of part 4.4.6.1(1)(c) of SDCP2012 state that sex industry premises 
must not be located within a radius of 75m of an existing, approved adult 
entertainment or sex industry premise or adjacent or directly opposite a sensitive land 
use.  

51. The site is located less than 75 metres from the entrance to a site at 278-284 
Cleveland Street that is an approved sex industry premise. The operators of 278-284 
Cleveland Street have relocated to premises at 479 Elizabeth Street, Surry Hills. 
However, the premises at 278-284 Cleveland Street can be reopened and operated as 
a brothel without further application to Counci unless the consent is surrendered. 

52. Objections were received following the notification of the proposal to neighbouring 
properties. Of issue is the impacts the existing brothel has with regard to the 
residential amenity of dwellings that are located within close proximity to the rear of the 
subject site (see notification section below).  

53. The objections state that the operators of the subject premises are associated with the 
sex services premises at 479 Elizabeth Street, Surry Hills that has relocated from 278-
284 Cleveland Street. Evidence supporting this assertion includes that:  

(a) both premises share a similar name (Ginza Club and Ginza Empire) and that 
they have similar websites; and 

(b) a photograph dated March 2020 shows a sign on the rear entry door to the 
subject site at Goodlet Lane, directing clients of 306-312 Cleveland Street to 479 
Elizabeth Street when the subject premises were closed.  

54. The consent to operate the premises at 278-284 Cleveland Street as sex service 
premises has not been formerly surrendered in accordance with Clause 97 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.  

55. In the event that the premises at 278-284 Cleveland Street are reopened, there will be 
cumulative impacts for neighbouring dwellings and the streetscape, resulting from a 
concentration of the sex services premises operating in the neighbourhood during 
similar trading hours. This outcome would be contrary to the objective of clause 7.21 of 
SLEP2012, which is to minimise land use conflicts and adverse amenity impacts 
relating to sex services premises.  

23



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 13: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area, showing the location of the subject 
premises in relation to an approved sex services premise at 278-284 Cleveland Street and a place or 
worship (mosque) at 328-330 Cleveland Street. Residential dwellings are located within close 
proximity to the rear entry to the premises with frontages to Wilton and Goodlet Streets and adjoining 
and opposite the site on Cleveland Street.  

Proximity to residential dwellings 

56. Residential dwellings are located on sites adjoining and opposite to the subject site at 
304 and 314 Cleveland Street and at 295 and 297 Cleveland Street. Residential 
dwellings are also located on Wilton and Goodlet Streets, opposite to and near to the 
rear entry to the premises at Goodlet Lane. The premises are located within close 
proximity to a place of worship (mosque), which is approximately 45m to the east of 
the site.  

57. Objections received following the notification of the proposal highlight impacts resulting 
from the existing sex services premise on the site. The proposal fails to satisfy the 
provisions of Part 4.4.6.1(1)(b) of SDCP2012, which state that sex industry premises 
must not be located immediately adjacent to or directly opposite land developed for 
residential purposes.  

Streetscape impacts  

58. Existing and proposed working rooms facing Cleveland Street present inactive 
frontages by blocking out windows (Figure 14 below). The proposal does not permit 
entry from the primary frontage through 306 and 308 Cleveland Street, retaining a 
single entry door to 4 x frontages via 310 Cleveland Street.  

59. The development fails to positively address the street and fails to contribute to the 
safety and amenity of the residential streets surrounding the site and the public 
domain. 

24



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Late night trading 

60. The expanded brothel is proposed to operate in accordance with approved hours of 
operation for the existing brothel. That is, between 10:30am and 12.00 midnight, 
Sunday through to Thursdays; and 10.30am and 2:00am the following day on Fridays 
and Saturdays. 

61. The late night trading controls do not apply to sex services premises, however the 
proposal is not in keeping with the matters for consideration provided by the controls 
when used as a guide to assessment.  

62. The site is located within a Local Centre Area in accordance with SDCP2012 late night 
trading controls. The existing hours are consistent with the hours of operation for 
Category C unlicensed premises that allow for indoor trading between 7.00am and 
2.00am the following day.  

63. Notwithstanding this, the proposal fails to satisfy the matters for consideration for late 
night trading premises at part 3.15.3 of SDCP2012, including: 

(a) that the location and context of the premises is inappropriate, with consideration 
of its proximity to residential land uses; 

(b) that the specific nature of the premises and its activities will result in significant 
impacts for neighbouring dwellings with consideration of the issues raised in 
public submissions. Impacts on the residential amenity of dwellings including 
noise have not been addressed by the plan of management that does not extend 
to the areas outside of and surrounding the premises; 

(c) the contribution the premises makes to street activation and vibrancy of an area 
at night, noting windows are blocked out and the premises provides a passive 
street frontage to Cleveland Street. 

(d) the size and patron capacity of the premises, noting the proposal involves 
increasing the number of approved working rooms from 14 to 21 and expanding 
the area of the premises from 2 to 4 terrace buildings;  

(e) the submission of a plan of management that demonstrates a strong 
commitment to good management, particularly in relation to managing potential 
impacts on adjoining and surrounding land uses and the public domain; and 

(f) that measures have not been provided to ensure adequate safety, security and 
crime prevention in the public domain immediately adjacent to, and generally 
surrounding, the premises. 

64. The proposal fails to satisfy the Character Statement for Local Centre Areas set out at 
Schedule 3.1.3 of SDCP2012, including that:  

(a) careful consideration must be given to the residential context of the area and 
existing hours of other late night trading premises in close proximity, noting 
residential dwellings are located within close proximity to the rear entry to the 
premises and that there is an approved brothel located within close proximity to 
the site; 

  

25



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(b) late night trading hours are acceptable where it is considered that the use:  

(i) will have minimal impact on residential amenity;  

(ii) will not contribute to the clustering of high impact premises; and 

(iii) that in some locations in Local Centres it may be appropriate for low impact 
venues, to trade until 2.00am (such as small bars) but only where entry 
and egress to the premises is onto a main street and not a residential 
laneway or area. 

65. The proposal fails to demonstrate the premises can comply with the City's Guidelines 
for “Sex Industry and Adult Entertainment Premises, which state at part 1.4 that: 

(a) Effective good management and operation of adult entertainment and sex 
industry premises is fundamental to limiting any detrimental impact on the 
amenity of the neighbouring premises, in reducing the impact on the character of 
the area, and for ensuring the safety and security of all staff and visitors. A Plan 
of Management can assist in identifying the potential impacts and the measures 
to be taken to reduce these, and in clearly defining responsibilities and 
procedures.  

Planning principle  

66. The City's planning policies relating to sex services premises are clearly established, 
noting the subject proposal is assessed as being contrary to those controls. In 
addition, the Land and Environment Court (LEC) provides a planning principle that can 
be considered when assessing the appropriateness of a brothel's location.  The 
planning principle gives objective based considerations that have been used as a 
guide to assessment.  

67. In Yao v Liverpool City Council [2017] NSWLEC 1167 the LEC requires that when 
considering whether to grant consent for a development application for a “sex services 
premises” a consent authority should take into consideration 12 x matters as are 
relevant to the development application: 

(i) the proximity to any sensitive land uses, such as, but not exclusively 
educational establishments, places of public worship, child care 
centres etc 

(ii) the proximity to any premises used for residential accommodation 
(iii) paths of travel for different members of the community near the 

premises 
(iv) the hours of operation 
(v) signage 
(vi) means of access to the premises 
(vii) safety of patrons and employees 
(viii) streetscape appearance 
(ix) the existing or anticipated character of the area 
(x) car parking and public transport access 
(xi) social impact 
(xii) impacts of clustering multiple sex services premises 

26



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Comment 

68. The first consideration (i) uses similar wording to the provisions of part 4.4.6.1(c) of 
SDCP2012, which is that sex services premises should not be located adjacent or 
directly opposite to sensitive land uses. These include places of public worship.  

The SDCP2012 provisions state that brothels should be separated from sensitive land 
uses by a minimum of one non-sensitive land use. Whilst the mosque is located within 
close proximity to the brothel (45m), there is sufficient separation between the mosque 
and the existing brothel including several non-sensitive land uses. The development 
satisfies consideration (i) of the planning principle.  

69. The proposal does not satisfy the second consideration (ii) of the planning principle 
and the provisions of part 4.4.6.1(b) of SDCP2012 in relation to  the proximity of the 
premises to premises used for residential accommodation.   

As outlined elsewhere in this report, the premises are located within close proximity to 
residential dwellings that have frontages to Wilton and Goodlet Streets. Public 
submissions have raised issues in relation to the impacts of the existing premises, with 
the proposed expansion considered to result in additional impacts for those dwellings. 
In particular, the use of the entry to the premises from Goodlet Lane with associated 
noise, waste and anti-social behaviour impacts within the laneway.   

70. The proposal does not satisfy the third consideration (iii) of the planning principle, 
(paths of travel for members of the community).  Submissions objecting to the proposal 
raise issues in relation to the use of the rear lane by community members including 
children as an alternative pedestrian route to Cleveland Street (from east to west) to 
travel to the nearby Inner West High School that is being constructed and as an area 
used by children for play.  

The application states that the primary entry to the premises is at Cleveland Street and 
that the Goodlet Lane entry is secondary entry to the premises. However, submissions 
objecting to the proposal highlight that the Goodlet Lane entry is in common use and 
that this impacts upon the residential amenity of nearby dwellings and streets.  

The Plan of Management lodged with the application comprehensively covers the 
management of activities within the site, however does not adequately address 
mitigation of streetscape impacts or how the Goodlet Lane entry will be used as 
accessible entrance only. 

71. With regard to the fourth consideration (iv) of the planning principle, the proposal does 
not seek to extend the existing hours of operation for the premises that are between 
10.30am and 12.00 midnight, Sunday to Thursday and between 10.30am and 2.00am 
the following day on Friday and Saturday.  

Whilst the late night trading provisions of SDCP2012 do not apply to sex services 
premises, the site is within a Local Centre Zone, permitting late night trading up to 
2.00am. As outlined elsewhere in this report, these hours would not be considered 
acceptable in relation to the expansion of the existing premises in that the 
intensification of the existing use will have significant impacts on the residential 
amenity of nearby dwellings.  

72. The fifth consideration (v) of the planning principle is not addressed given no signage 
is proposed. 

27



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

73. As outlined above in (iii), the Plan of Management lodged with the application does not 
adequately address mitigation of streetscape impacts or how the Goodlet Lane entry 
will be used as accessible entrance only.  If approved, the proposal would intensify 
existing impacts for the amenity of neighbouring dwellings that are significant. The 
development fails to satisfy consideration (vi) of the planning principle in relation to the 
means of access to the premises.  

74. The Plan of Management lodged with the application is comprehensive in relation to 
the management of patrons and employees within the premises, however does not 
adequately address mitigation of streetscape impacts or how the Goodlet Lane entry 
will be used as accessible entrance only. As such, the development fails to satisfy 
consideration (vii) of the planning principle in relation to safety. 

75. The requirement for windows to be obscured for privacy and the proposed expansion 
of the brothel into 2 adjoining terrace buildings doubles the extent of inactive frontage 
to Cleveland Street and fails to satisfy considerations (viii) in relation to streetscape 
appearance. 

 

Figure 14: Windows facing Cleveland Street are blocked out and defensive, and fail to provide an 
active frontage to the site.  

76. The proposal fails to satisfy consideration (ix) of the planning principle in relation to the 
existing and anticipated character of the area and the provisions of part 4.4.6.1(b) of 
SDCP2012 in relation to the proximity of the premises to any premises used for 
residential accommodation.  As outlined above, the premises are located within close 
proximity to residential dwellings on Wilton and Goodlet Streets and if approved, would 
significantly impact upon the residential amenity of the locality.  

  

28



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

77. An access report lodged with the application concludes that there is a step free 
entrance to the premises from Goodlet Lane and that accessible parking is provided. 
An accessible room provided on the ground floor level. The site is well serviced by 
public transport. As such, the proposal satisfies consideration (x) in relation to car 
parking and public transport access. 

78. The proposal fails to satisfy considerations (xi) and (xii) of the planning principle in 
relation to social impacts and the impacts of clustering of sex services premises as per 
the provisions of part 4.4.6.1 of SDCP2012. As outlined above, the site is located 
within 75m of a site that is approved to operate as a brothel and the operation of the 
existing premises has social impacts that would be exacerbated by the proposal to 
intensify the number of working rooms and expand the premises from 2 to 4 terrace 
buildings.  

79. For the reasons provided above, the proposal fails to satisfy the majority of the 
objective based considerations provided by the LEC planning principle for the location 
of brothels that have been used as a guide to assessment.  

Affordable Rental Housing SEPP 2009 

80. The use of 308 Cleveland Street has been changed from an approved boarding house 
to a brothel without consent. The operators of the site have carried out a change of 
use that is contrary to Clause 50(1) of the ARHSEPP2009, which states that a person 
must not change the use of a building containing affordable housing to another use 
without development consent.  

81. The applicant has failed to address the provisions of ARHSEPP2009 in the subject 
application and has not provided any details required by Clause 50(2) of the 
ARHSEPP2009. In particular, the applicant has failed to address: 

(a) whether there is likely to be a reduction in affordable housing on the land to 
which the application relates; 

(b) whether there is available sufficient comparable accommodation to satisfy the 
demand for such accommodation; 

(c) whether the development is likely to cause adverse social and economic effects 
on the general community; 

Other Impacts of the Development 

82. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA.  

83. It is considered that the proposal to significantly increase the floor area and working 
rooms of the existing premises will result in significant detrimental impacts for the 
locality. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

84. The proposal is of a nature that is not in keeping with the overall function of the site, 
considering the rear entry to the premises that is in frequent use, is in a residential 
setting. 

  

29



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

85. The development is contrary to Section 4.4.6.1 that seeks to avoid the clustering of 
approved sex services premises within a 75 metre radius of each other, and that seeks 
to separate residential uses from sex services premises. The development is contrary 
to the controls by substantially increasing the number of working rooms, sex workers 
on site and increasing the number of buildings occupied from 2 to 4. The site is 
therefore not suitable for the proposed development.  

Internal Referrals 

86. The application was referred to the City's specialists for comment. The City's Safe City 
specialists advised that: 

(a) a ‘one way’ system should be implemented to reduce the likelihood of 
congestion, or interaction between clients entering and leaving the premises.  

Comment: whilst the application states that the Cleveland Street entrance is the 
'primary' entry and that the Goodlet Lane entry is the 'secondary' entry, the 
Goodlet Lane entry is in frequent use, and has been associated with impacts on 
the residential amenity of neighbouring dwellings.  

The applicant has failed to provide a plan of management that addresses the 
impacts of the proposal on the amenity of neighbouring dwellings and the 
locality. As such, a 'one way' system is unlikely to be able to be implemented. 

87. The City's Surveyor has advised that: 

(a) Site consolidation should be considered in the event fire doors are not installed 
at each boundary opening, noting that a NCC report recommends doors be 
installed.   

88. The City's Health and Building specialists recommended conditions of consent that 
would be applied in the event the application was recommended for approval.  

External Referrals 

NSW Police 

89. The application was referred to NSW Police for comment. NSW Police do not support 
the proposal on the following basis: 

(a) an increase in patronage of the business may have a significant detrimental 
effect on the amenity of the surrounding area due to increased pedestrian traffic, 
associated noise and anti-social behaviour; 

(b) Cleveland Street Surry Hills is a major traffic thoroughfare with no on-street 
parking and therefore it would be expected to increase competition for available 
parking spots on the nearby streets; 

  

30



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(c) there would be one manager on site to cover what is essentially four distinct 
terraces. The design of the entire complex would inhibit a rapid response to an 
emergency or threat to a staff member in a remote working room. This places an 
unacceptable risk to the workplace safety of vulnerable staff; and 

(d) there are no means outlined in the proposal to mitigate these issues. 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation  

90. In accordance the Community Participation Plan 2019 the proposed development is 
required to be notified and advertised. As such the application was notified and 
advertised for a period of 21 days between 11 May 2020 and 2 June 2020.  

91. A total of 513 properties and occupants were notified and 14 submissions by way of 
objection were received. The objections raise the following issues:  

The proposal is contrary to the relevant SLEP2012 and SDCP2012 controls  

(a) The proposal is contrary to the relevant SLEP2012, SDCP2012 and the City's 
Guidelines for “Sex Industry and Adult Entertainment Premises with regard to 
residential amenity and clustering of brothels.  

(b) A previous application was refused last year on the following grounds that the 
entrance to the site is located less than 75 metres to the entrance to an  
existing brothel at 278-284 Cleveland Street and is located adjacent to and  
opposite residential premises and a residential zone.  

(c) The operators of the premises encourage clients to visit another brothel at 479 
Elizabeth Street, Surry Hills.  The business that was previously at 278 Cleveland 
Street has relocated to that address.  

A photograph is provided, taken on 27 March 2020, of a sign pasted on the back 
door at Goodlet Lane, directing clients of the brothel to their other brothel along 
Elizabeth street. 

Response - The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the premises can be operated 
in a way that will not result in any significant additional impacts for the amenity of 
neighbouring dwellings noting the cumulative impacts of the brothel in its existing 
configuration are significant. The submitted plan of management does not address 
how the impacts on the residential amenity of neighbouring dwellings will be 
addressed and it is possible an approved brothel at 278 Cleveland Street may be 
reactivated.   

The proposal fails to demonstrate the premises can comply with the City's SLEP2012 
and SDCP2012 Planning controls and Guidelines for “Sex Industry and Adult 
Entertainment Premises, which state at part 1.4 that a Plan of Management can assist 
in identifying the potential impacts and the measures to be taken to reduce these, and 
in clearly defining responsibilities and procedures.  

Suitability of the site for the proposed use 

(d) The proposal results in a 'mega brothel', turning Cleveland Street and Goodlet 
Lane into a red light district and restricting the variety of other businesses within 
the local area limiting value to the community. 

31



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(e) The brothel would be better suited to an industrial area, where residents would 
not be impacted.  

(f) The proposal will affect students walking to the Inner City High School as 
Goodlet Lane is a safe lane for walking and riding to the school. Students 
attending that school will be using the bus stop currently situated directly outside 
these premises.  The proposal will also affect a nearby place of worship. 

(g) Goodlet lane not only serves as a walkway for pedestrians but also a place 
where children can ride their bicycles and play.  

Response - The development would have substantial impacts for the residential 
amenity of neighbouring dwellings and neighbouring streets as a result of increasing 
the number of working rooms, sex workers on site and increasing the number of 
buildings occupied from 2 to 4. The site is assessed as being unsuitable for the 
proposed development.  

Impacts on residential amenity 

(h) The proposal to expand the existing brothel should be refused with regard for the 
impacts resulting from the operation of the existing brothel. These include: 

(i) Constant noise from the intercom and the slamming of the metal door 
“back entrance” facing Goodlet lane. The brothel uses the laneway as their 
main entrance to the business rather than the entrance on Cleveland 
Street; 

(ii) Brothel workers and clients hanging around and smoking in the laneway, 
talking loudly on their mobile phones or to each other in the middle of night, 
especially on the weekends. Loud chatting and laughing noise after 
2.00am from the working girls; 

(iii) Clients sitting in their cars around either end of Goodlet Lane between 
Wilton street and Perry Street, heavier traffic along Goodlet lane in the 
middle of the night. Carloads of men parking along the street playing loud 
music as they wait for their friends to return from the brothel; 

(iv) Loud noise from staff rolling their 4-wheel rubbish skip down Wilton Street 
to the corner of Cleveland Street, for collection; and 

(v) Waste discarded in Goodlet Lane including food that has led to an increase 
in rats in the area, empty drug satchels, syringes and Viagra packets 
littering Goodlet Lane adjacent to the entrance of this Brothel. 

Response - The development is recommended for refusal on the basis that it will 
exacerbate existing impacts on residential amenity and that the site is unsuitable for an 
expanded brothel use.  

Parking impacts 

(i) Cars and Uber cars constantly blocking the Street, dropping and collecting the 
working girls and clients; 

(j) On-street parking spaces being used by the brothel's visitors, resulting in parking 
pressure for residents; and  

32



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

(k) Cars blocking and parking across driveways and laneways. 

Response - The development is recommended for refusal as outlined in this report. 

Impacts on the existing buildings and streetscape  

92. The development lacks details on what is actually to be built. The DA is of poor 
standard with a lack of information.  

93. The building is heritage listed and we should be restoring the terraces to their heritage 
look. Previous works were completed without approval and quality of previous works 
was poor, resulting in streetscape impacts. 

Response - Drawings lodged with the application show that suitable conservation works are 

proposed to the rear of the existing buildings. Notwithstanding this, the application is 

recommended for refusal for the reasons outlined elsewhere in this report.  

Public Interest 

94. For the reasons provided in this report, the development is contrary to Council's 
relevant planning controls and is therefore not in the public interest.  

S7.11 Contribution 

95. The development would generally be subject to the payment of a S7.11 contribution in 
the event it were recommended for approval. Notwithstanding this, the application is 
recommended for refusal for the reasons outlined elsewhere in this report.  

Relevant Legislation 

96. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

Conclusion 

97. The application proposes the expansion of an existing brothel that currently has 
significant impacts on the residential amenity of neighbouring dwellings, primarily in 
relation to the use of Goodlet Lane for entry and associated noise, parking and waste 
impacts for the residents of dwellings facing Wilton and Goodlet Streets.  

98. The brothel proposes to increase the number of working rooms from 14 to 21 and to 
increase the number of workers from 12 to 19. The proposal does not seek to expand 
the existing hours of operation that are between 10:30am and 12.00 midnight, Sunday 
through to Thursdays and between 10.30am and 2:00am the following day on Fridays 
and Saturdays. 

  

33



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

99. The development is located approximately 60 metres to the east of an approved 
brothel at 278-284 Cleveland Street and adjoins and is opposite to residential 
dwellings on Cleveland, Wilton and Goodlet Streets. The proposal is contrary to the 
relevant planning controls set out at Section 4.4.6.1 of the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 in the applicant has failed to demonstrate the development will not 
have any adverse impacts on the character and amenity of the surrounding area, this 
being contrary to the provisions of Clause 7.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012.  

100. The application seeks consent to regularise the unauthorised change of use of an 
approved boarding house at 308 Cleveland Street, resulting in a loss of affordable 
housing within the locality.  

101. The application was notified and advertised for 21 days and 14 submissions by way of 
objection were received. 

102. The development will adversely impact on the character and amenity of the 
surrounding area and is therefore not in the public interest.  

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Adrian McKeown, Senior Planner.   

34



Attachment A 

Selected Drawings

35



36



37



38



39



40



41



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Application: 22-28 Mandible Street, Alexandria - D/2019/578 

File No.: D/2019/578 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 31 May 2019 

Amended information submitted 3 September 2019, 10 
October 2019, 15 October 2019 and 15 July 2020 

Applicant: Sincourt Pty Ltd 

Architect: Tonkin Zulaikha Greer  

Owner: Sincourt Pty Ltd 

Cost of Works: $43,444,501 

Zoning: The site is in the B7 business park zone. The proposal 
includes indicative retail and office land uses. While retail 
use is generally prohibited, some categories of retail land 
uses are permitted with consent. Office premises are 
permitted with consent.  

Proposal Summary: The development application (DA) seeks approval for a 
concept application (stage 1) for the following: 

 One (1) concept envelope with a maximum height of 
35 metres which has been tested to accommodate 
up to a total approximate gross floor area (GFA) of 
13,062m² or a floor space ratio of 3.5:1. 

 A design excellence strategy which seeks an 
additional 10% height (or 3.5m) if the development 
undertakes a competitive design process and the 
detailed DA (stage 2) demonstrates design 
excellence.  

 Indicative retail and office land uses. 

 

 

 

1

Item 6.



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

This DA was also accompanied by a public benefit offer 
with a total value of $1,156,550 which includes the 
following: 

 To dedicate 1,060m² of land as required by the 
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney 
DCP 2012) with a value of $212,000. 

 This includes 0.5m wide footpath widening land 
dedication along Mandible Street. This equates to 
19.5m² of land.  

 A 10m wide land dedication for new road running 
north to south along the western boundary 
connecting Mandible Street with the drainage 
channel. This equates to 810m² of land to be 
dedicated.  

 A 6m wide land dedication for a new shared bicycle 
path running along the edge of the drainage channel. 
This forms part of the liveable green network. This 
equates to 230.5m² of land to be dedicated. 

 Embellishment works for the footway with a value of 
$6,922.50. 

 Road works, green network and drainage works with 
a value of $801,345.  

 A monetary contribution towards community 
infrastructure in the green square area of 
$136,282.50. 

This draft voluntary planning agreement (VPA) has been 
exhibited. One (1) submission in relation to the provision of 
the new road was received. It raised concerns about the 
impact of the new road on existing heavy vehicle 
movements on Mandible Street. Council's road safety 
officer has reviewed the road design and has advised the 
probability of a crash occurring is unlikely.   

This DA is recommended to be approved subject to a 
deferred commencement condition to require the VPA to 
be executed and registered on title prior to the consent 
becoming operative.   

The proposal was notified for 28 days between 28 June 
2019 and 27 July 2019. During this time, one (1) 
submission was received. This submission was from the 
same landowner as the submission received in relation to 
the VPA.  

2



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

This submission raised concerns with the sensitivity of 
office and retail uses on the adjoining industrial land uses 
(that being, a concrete batching plant).  

The subject land uses are both permitted with consent in 
the B7 zone. The detailed DA will need to ensure that the 
building design ameliorates the noise impacts of nearby 
land uses.  

Amended plans and information were submitted on 3 
September 2019, 10 October 2019, 15 October 2019 and 
15 July 2020, including: 

 A remediation action plan, additional site 
investigation report and letter of interim advice from a 
NSW accredited site auditor. 

 Updated public benefit offer based on quantity 
surveyors estimate of the cost of works. 

 Details of the future roads design.  

 Updated stormwater drainage plans.  

 Updated design excellence strategy. 

Subject the imposition of conditions, as detailed in the 
report and Attachment A, it is considered that the proposal 
is generally compliant with the relevant planning controls. 
In the instance where a non-compliance is proposed, for 
example height in storeys, the non-compliance can be 
supported.   

There is also opportunity through the competitive design 
process and as part of the detailed DA to refine, develop 
and improve the proposal. 

Summary Recommendation: Deferred commencement approval to allow for the VPA to 
be executed and registered on title.  

  

3



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Controls: (i) Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 

(ii) Water Management Act 2000 

(iii) Sydney Water Act 1994 No 88 

(iv) Sydney Airport Referral Act 1996 

(v) Commonwealth Airports Act 1996 

(vi) State Environmental Planning Policy No 55 - 
Remediation of Land  

(vii) State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 
2007 

(viii) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012  

(ix) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012  

(x) City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 

(xi) Green Square Affordable Housing Program 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions  

B. Proposed Building Envelope 

C. Reference Plans  

D. Perspectives 

E. Public Benefit Offer 

F. Design Excellence Strategy 

  

4



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the Design Excellence Strategy for 22-28 Mandible Street, prepared by Mersonn Pty 
Ltd on behalf of Clipper International Corporation, and dated December 2019, be 
approved pursuant to Section 3.3.1 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and 
Section 1.2 of the Competitive Design Policy; and  

(B) pursuant to section 4.16(3) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, 
deferred commencement consent be granted to Development Application No. 
D/2019/578, subject to the conditions as detailed in Attachment A to the subject report.    

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The development complies with the objectives of the B7 business park zone pursuant 
to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(B) The development complies with the permitted height pursuant to the clause 4.3 of 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(C) The development will result in additional community infrastructure in accordance with 
Clause 6.14 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, as per the submitted public 
benefit offer and voluntary planning agreement.  

(D) The development will deliver environmentally sustainable development, and this is 
secured through the commitments in the approved Design Excellence Strategy as per 
Clause 6.21 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(E) The development provides adequate setbacks to Mandible Street and the new 
north/south road. These setbacks provide opportunities for deep soil planting, provide 
an appropriate public domain interface and allow for the building to align with the 
neighbouring development at 12-20 Mandible Street. In this regard, the development 
can deliver design excellence and meets the objectives of the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012. 

  

5



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. A site visit was carried out by staff on 27 August 2019.  

2. The site is legally defined as lot A in deposited plan 155704, lot B in deposited plan 
155083, lots 4, 5, and 11 in deposited plan 37767. It is approximately 3,732m² in area 
and is L-shaped. The site has a 48.145 metre frontage to Mandible Street and a 38.74 
metre frontage to Shea's Creek drainage channel. 

3. The site is located approximately half way along Mandible Street between Wyndham 
Street to the east and Bowden Street to the west. The site is generally orientated 
north, north west and has a flat topography. The site currently contains a two-storey 
warehouse building with an at grade carpark in the north west corner. There are two 
driveway crossovers providing access, and three (3) trees located on the subject site 
between these two crossovers.  

4. Surrounding land uses are generally industrial, office and warehouses. Dangrove art 
storage warehouse is located directly adjacent at 12-20 Mandible Street. Further east 
at 177 Wyndham Street is the Rail Operations centre.  

5. To the west, at 30 Mandible Street and on the opposite side of the road at 33-39 
Mandible Street there is 'Murrays' bus depot including bus wash facility and offices. 

6. On the opposite side of the road at 23 Mandible Street, there is a warehouse building 
used as a depot, storage and offices. At 25 Mandible Street there is a concrete 
batching plant.  

7. To the rear of the site is the Shea's Creek drainage channel. This is a concrete lined 
channel that runs into Alexandra Canal. The Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
(Sydney DCP 2012) has identified this drainage channel as an area to be developed 
into the 'liveable green network' which will provide bike and pedestrian access across 
the surrounding area. This is being delivered as part of this development. 

8. On the other side of the drainage channel, a development application for a 5-storey 
office building at 15 Bourke Road was approved by the Land and Environment Court. 
A concept development application and design competition have been held for a 35m 
tall office building at 5-7 Bourke Road. The detailed development application for this 
building is currently a deemed refusal application before the Land and Environment 
Court.  

9. The site is not a heritage item or located in a heritage conservation area.  

10. Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below: 

6



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area. The site is highlighted in red. The 
concrete batching plant is annotated with a blue circle. The Murray's bus depot is annotated with 
yellow circles. Dangrove art storage facility is annotated with a purple circle. The warehouse and 
office building at 13-21 and 23 Mandible Street is annotated with an orange circle. Shea's Creek 
drainage channel is highlighted with a broken green line.   

 

Figure 2: Subject site viewed from Mandible Street 

7



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 3: Subject site viewed from Mandible Street. The apex of Dangrove art storage facility is in the 
background.  

 

Figure 4: Subject site viewed from Mandible Street. This photo shows the boundary of the subject site 
with 30 Mandible Street.  

8



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 5: Looking east along Mandible Street towards Wyndham Street. Dangrove art storage facility 
is in the foreground and the Rail Operations Centre is located further east.  

 

Figure 6: Concrete batching plant at 25 Mandible Street, opposite the subject site  

9



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 7: Murray bus depot at 33-39 Mandible Street, which is located north west of the subject site 

 

Figure 8: Murray bus depot at 30 Mandible Street, located next to the subject site  

10



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 9: Photograph looking west along Mandible Street showing Murray bus depot, located next to 
the subject site 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

11. Two pre-development application (preDAs) meetings were held with the applicant prior 
to lodgement of the subject DA. The preDAs raised several issues including the need 
for a design competition. 

12. Requests for additional information and amendments were made during the 
assessment. In response, the following information was submitted, and changes were 
made to the proposal: 

 a remediation action plan and letter of interim advice from a NSW accredited site 
auditor; 

 updated public benefit offer based on quantity surveyors estimate of the cost of 
works; 

 details of the future roads design;  

 updated stormwater drainage plans;  

 updated design excellence strategy to incorporate the option for an additional 
10% height;  

subject site 

11



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 updated plans showing how the proposed ground floor could accommodate a 
medium rigid vehicle; and  

 updated envelope plans to reduce the level of detail of the exact breakdown of 
uses on each level.  

Proposal 

13. The subject application seeks consent for a concept proposal for: 

 a 35metre tall and a 9-storey envelope;  

 indicative retail and office land uses; and  

 public domain works and dedications. 

Public domain works and dedications 

14. The subject application was accompanied by a public benefit offer. This public benefit 
offer has a value of $1,156,550 and proposes to dedicate and embellish three 
separate parcels of land, as required by the Sydney DCP 2012, and provide a 
monetary contribution. The breakdown of this is as follows: 

 To dedicate 1,060m² of land as required by the Sydney Development Control 
Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP 2012) with a value of $212,000. 

(i) This includes 0.5m wide footpath widening land dedication along Mandible 
Street. This equates to 19.5m² of land.  

(ii) A 10m wide land dedication for new road running north to south along the 
western boundary of the site connecting Mandible Street with the drainage 
channel. This equates to 810m² of land to be dedicated.  

(iii) A 6m wide land dedication for a new shared bicycle path running along the 
edge of the drainage channel. This forms part of the liveable green 
network. This equates to 230.5m² of land to be dedicated. 

 Embellishment works for the footway with a value of $6,922.50. 

 Road works, green network and drainage works with a value of $801,345.  

 A monetary contribution towards community infrastructure in the green square 
area of $136,282.50. 

15. The figure below shows the areas of land to be dedicated. This is as per the Sydney 
DCP 2012. This development will deliver half of the proposed new street between 
Mandible Street and Bourke Road. This will run from Mandible Street to the drainage 
channel. The remainder of the street connecting Mandible Street to Bourke Road 
across the drainage channel will be delivered when the rear site fronting Bourke Road 
redevelops.  

12



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 10: Land dedications required and proposed as per the Sydney DCP 2012 

16. The concept envelope reflects these land dedications and provides additional setbacks 
where required. This is discussed under the concept envelope below.  

Concept envelope 

17. The concept DA seeks consent for a building envelope with a maximum height of 35 
metres. This envelope is proposed to include 9 storeys and has been tested to 
accommodate up to a total approximate gross floor area (GFA) of 13,062m² or a floor 
space ratio of 3.5:1. 

18. In addition to the land dedications discussed above, the envelope also provides the 
additional setbacks. These setbacks are as follows and are shown in figure 11 below: 

 An additional 2.5 metres, on top of the required 0.5metres dedication for footpath 
widening, to Mandible Street for the whole of the envelope. This is to align the 
building with the newly built Dangrove development at 12-20 Mandible Street.  

 A 1m landscape setback for the full height of the building along the new road 
running north south. An additional 2.7m on the ground floor and a zone for 
building articulation/passive shading above.  

 On the eastern elevation, the building envelope steps from levels 2 upwards and 
provides an 6m wide landscape zone. This is retained for the remainder of the 
building.  

13



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

  

Figure 11: Proposed ground floor envelope plan 

19. These setbacks are as per the Sydney DCP 2012, provide for deep soil planting and 
ensure the new building aligns with the adjoining development (Dangrove Art Storage 
Facility at 12-20 Mandible Street).  

20. The proposed development also seeks consent for a design excellence strategy. This 
design excellence strategy seeks an additional 10% height (or 3.5m). Should the 
development proceed, and a detailed DA be approved, the overall development may 
have a maximum building height of up to 38.5 metres.  

  

14



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Indicative land uses and vehicular entry 

21. The envelope includes indicative ground floor 'retail' uses and car 
parking/servicing/plant. While the ground floor envelope plan does not specify the 
exact location of the vehicular entry, it does indicate an approximate position of the 
new street. The exact location of the driveway entry can be explored as part of the 
design competition and be resolved as part of the detailed design development.  

22. The indicative ground floor plans show how these retail uses, as well as end of trip 
facilities and bike parking, could be accommodated on the ground floor. The indicative 
floor plans also show an at grade carpark with loading for a medium rigid vehicle, two 
disabled parking spaces, 5 service vehicle spaces and possible car stacker. This is 
shown in the image below.  

 

Figure 12: Indicative ground floor plan showing how the envelope could accommodate these uses 
and how the site can be serviced from within the building.  

15



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

23. In addition to the ground floor plans included above, plans of the proposed 
development are provided below. 

 

Figure 13: Proposed level 1 envelope 

16



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 14: Proposed level 1 indicative/reference plan 

  

17



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 15: Proposed level 2 envelope 

18



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 16: Proposed level 2 indicative/reference plan 

19



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 17: Proposed level 3 envelope 

20



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 18: Proposed level 3 indicative/reference plan 

  

21



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 19: Proposed level 4 to 7 envelope 

22



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 20: Proposed levels 4 to 7 indicative/reference plan 

  

23



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 21: Proposed level 8 envelope 

24



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 22: Proposed level 8 indicative/reference plan 

  

25



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 23: Proposed roof plan  

26



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 24: Proposed roof indicative/reference plan 

  

27



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 25: Proposed north elevation  

 

Figure 26: Proposed east elevation 

28



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 27: Proposed south elevation  

 

Figure 28: Proposed west elevation 

29



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 29: Perspective, viewed from Mandible Street 

 

Figure 30: Perspective, viewed from corner of Mandible Street and new north south street 

30



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 

Figure 31: Perspective, viewed from south west looking north along Mandible Street 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

24. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

 Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

Airports Act 1996 (Cth) 

25. Section 182 of the Commonwealth Airports Act 1996 specifies that, amongst other 
things, constructing a building or other structure that intrudes into a prescribed 
airspace is a controlled activity. 

26. Schedules 2 and 5 of the Civil Aviation (Building Control) Regulations 1988 identify the 
subject site is subject to a prohibition of the construction of buildings more than 15.24 
metres existing ground height. 

27. Section 183 of the Commonwealth Airports Act 1996 specifies that controlled activities 
may not be carried out in relation to prescribed airspace unless an approval has been 
granted. The relevant approval body is the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA). 

28. The Sydney Airport Airfield Design Manager, as an authorised person of the CASA, 
has advised that they have no objection to this development to a maximum height of 
43 metres AHD. The proposed envelope is within this height limit.  

31



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

29. As the detailed stage 2 development application will explore an additional 10% height 
(up to an overall height of 38.5metres), further approval will be required from Sydney 
Airports. This is because the approval currently provided by Sydney Airports only 
relates to the height of the envelope proposed to be approved as part of this 
development. In any event, the detailed stage 2 development will still be below the 
OLS height of 51m AHD.  

Water Management Act 2000 (NSW) 

30. The development does not include any basement. The applicant confirmed by email 
on 27 June 2019 that the proposal does not penetrate the water table. As such, the 
development does not constitute integrated development under the Water 
Management Act 2000 and does not seek or require approval for dewatering.  

31. The application was referred to the Natural Resource Access Regulator (NRAR) under 
the Water Management Act 2000 as the site has a frontage to Shea's Creek. The 
NRAR responded on 25 June 2019 and advised that as Shea's Creek is a concrete 
lined channel and is therefore exempt from the need to obtain a controlled activity 
approval.   

Sydney Water 1994 No 88 

32. The application was referred to and discussed with Sydney Water. This is because the 
new north south road will need to bridge over the Shea's Creek (Sydney Water's 
stormwater channel). This bridge will be built when the site to the rear (9-13 Bourke 
Road) redevelops. 

33. Sydney Water, by email on 25 July 2019, confirmed that "Sydney Water agrees in 
principal to the proposed bridge over its stormwater channel subject to it meeting 
Sydney Water’s clearance requirements as per the bridge over Sydney Water’s open 
stormwater channel guidelines."  

34. The applicant was provided with these guidelines to ensure that the proposed road 
design and levels could seamlessly integrate into the future bridge.  

35. Indicative road levels have been provided as part of this concept DA. The City's public 
domain team and flood engineer are supportive of these levels.  

36. A condition is recommended to ensure that the design of the road needs to ensure that 
the road can meet the future bridge over Shea’s Creek canal. The future bridge over 
the canal needs to meet Sydney Water’s clearance requirements as per the bridge 
over Sydney Water’s open stormwater channel guidelines.  

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land 

37. The aim of SEPP 55 is to ensure that a change of land use will not increase the risk to 
health, particularly in circumstances where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

  

32



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

38. The following documentation was included as part of the development application: 

 Preliminary Site Investigation (PSI), Environmental Investigations Australia (EIA) 
dated 1 November 2019, ref E244066.E01_REV2 (2019/632242) 

 Detailed Environmental Site Investigation (DESI), Environmental Investigations 
Australia dated 10 December 2019, ref E244066.E02_REV1 (2019/632243) 

 Remedial Action Plan (RAP version 2), Environmental Investigations Australia 
dated 10 December 2019, ref E244066.E06_REV2 (2019/632244) 

 Letter of Interim Advice No 3, Phreatic Consulting Pty Ltd dated 12 December 
2019 (2019/632241) 

 Supplementary Site Assessment, Environmental Investigations Australia dated 
16 June 2020, reference E24066.E02_Rev 0 (2020/286144) 

 Acid Sulphate Management Plan, Environmental Investigations Australia, dated 
18 June 2020, reference E24066.E14.Rev 0 (2020/286146) 

 Letter of Interim Advice no 4, Tim Chambers, Phreatic Consulting dated 2 July 
2020 (2020/286148) 

 Letter of Interim Advice no 6, Tim Chambers, Phreatic Consulting dated 13 July 
2020 (2020/305280) 

 Supplementary Site Assessment, Environmental Investigations Australia dated 
13 July 2020, reference E24066.E02_Rev 1 (2020/305281) 

 Auditor response Environmental Investigations Australia dated 13 July 2020 
(2020/305282) 

 Remedial Action Plan (RAP version 3), Environmental Investigations Australia 
dated 14 July 2020, ref E244066.E06_REV3 (2020/307651) 

 Letter of Interim Advice no 7, Tim Chambers, Phreatic Consulting dated 15 July 
2020 (2020/309437) 

39. Following submission of RAP version 2 and interim advice no 3, supplementary site 
investigation was undertaken to further delineate poly fluoro alkyl substances (PFAS) 
in the groundwater. The findings within the supplementary site investigation were 
endorsed by the site auditor, and where incorporated into RAP version 3.  

40. The RAP version 3, which was endorsed by the site auditor recommends two different 
remedial approaches. These are as follows: 

 For land to be dedicated to the City of Sydney Council as part of VPA, 
excavation, removal and offsite disposal of all contaminants from the dedicated 
areas with no Long Term Environmental Management Plan. 

 For land proposed as part of this commercial development, retention and 
encapsulation of contaminants including Lead, Asbestos, Poly aromatic 
hydrocarbons and total recoverable hydrocarbons, which will be subject to a 
Long Term Environmental Management Plan (LTEMP).  

33



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

41. Council's Environmental Health Officer and Public Domain Officer has advised that 
these remediation approaches are deemed appropriate for the site and for the land to 
be dedicated to Council.  

42. A condition is recommended to ensure that where deep soil is proposed on subject site 
(that is, not on the land to be dedicated), the capping is at a sufficient depth so that 
advanced tree planting is not restricted. This can be further resolved and 
demonstrated as part of the detailed DA.    

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 

43. The provisions of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 have been considered in the assessment 
of the development application. 

44. The application is subject to Clause 45 (Subdivision 2 Development likely to affect an 
electricity transmission or distribution network) of the SEPP as the detailed DA will 
impact on nearby overhead powerlines. The DA was referred to Ausgrid, however no 
response was received.  

45. The application was also referred under clauses 85 and 86 to the Sydney Metro 
Corridor Protection given the sites proximity to the metro. The Sydney Metro Corridor 
Protection confirmed by email on 22 July 2019 that concurrence was not required 
given the distance between the site and the corridor.  

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

46. The site is located within the B7 business park zone. The proposed indicative land 
uses are defined as office and retail. Office is permissible with consent. Retail land use 
is prohibited, however nominated types of retail land uses, including shops and food 
and drink premises, are permissible with consent.   

47. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined in the table below. 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 35m is permitted. 

A height of 35m is proposed. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio 

6.14 Community infrastructure 
floor space 

Yes Clause 4.4 of Sydney LEP 2012 
stipulates a base floor space (FSR) ratio 
of 2:1 for the site.  

Clause 6.14 of Sydney LEP 2012 allows 
an additional FSR of 1.5:1 where 
community infrastructure is provided.  

 

 

 

34



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

As part of the subject application, a 
public benefit offer has been made to 
the City for land dedication, 
embellishments, road works and a 
monetary contribution towards 
community infrastructure in Green 
Square.  

The documentation submitted 
demonstrates that the proposed building 
envelope can accommodate up to 
13,062 m² of floor, which equates to an 
FSR of 3.5:1.  

6.13 End of journey floor 
space  

Yes Clause 6.13 of Sydney LEP 2012 allows  
up to an additional 0.3:1 FSR for end of 
journey floor space. The facilities that 
can be included within end of journey 
floor space include showers, change 
rooms, lockers and bicycle storage 
areas. The reference scheme includes 
these facilities and allocates 0.06:1 FSR 
to their use. While this FSR is less than 
the total 0.3:1 that potentially could be 
allocated to end of trip facilities, the 
reference scheme does generally show 
a compliant number of bike spaces, 
lockers, showers and change rooms.  

6.21 Design excellence Yes The development satisfies the 
requirements of these provisions in so 
far as they can be applied to a concept 
proposal. The detailed Stage 2 
development is capable of 
demonstrating design excellence. This 
issue, and the Design Advisory Panel's 
(DAPs) comments are discussed further 
in the issues section below.  

Part 7 Division 1 Car parking 
ancillary to other development 

7.6 Office premises and 
business premises 

7.7 Retail premises 

Able to 
comply 

The reference design includes 11 car 
parking spaces, 2 accessible spaces, 5 
service vehicle spaces and 5 motorbike 
spaces.  

Car parking numbers are approved as 
part of the detailed DA.  

35



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

7.13 Contribution for affordable 
housing 

Able to 
comply 

The detailed DA site will be subject to an 
affordable housing contribution under 
Clause 7.13 of Sydney LEP 2012. 

7.14 Acid sulphate soils Yes An acid sulphate soils management plan 
has been submitted. This plan is 
satisfactory and is recommended to be 
included as a condition of consent.  

7.15 Flood planning Yes The site is flood affected. The submitted 
flood report is acceptable. The proposed 
RLs of the ground floor meet the 
minimum floor levels required to 
overcome flood risk.  

7.16 Airspace operations Able to 
comply 

The proposed development does not 
penetrate the prescribed airspace, and 
as such, does not trigger the 
concurrence requirements of this clause.  

The height of the proposed envelope will 
breach the 15.24 metre height limit 
defined in the schedules of the Civil 
Aviation (Building Control) Regulations.  

An approval for the erection of the 
development to a maximum height of 43 
metres AHD was received on 6 March 
2020.  

7.20 Development requiring 
preparation of a development 
control plan 

Yes As the height of the subject development 
is over 25m, the provision of Clause 
7.20 of Sydney LEP 2012 requires the 
preparation of a site specific DCP.  

However, in accordance with section 
4.23(3) of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act, the lodgement of a 
concept DA can be considered as an 
alternative to a site specific DCP.  

For clause 7.20(4), see discussion under 
design excellence in the issues section 
below. 

 

 

36



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

7.23 Large retail development 
near Green Square Town 
Centre 

Yes The subject site is located on land 
identified as restricted retail 
development on the Retail Premises 
Map. As such, development consent 
cannot be granted for the purposes of 
shops or markets with a gross floor area 
greater than 1,000m².  

The detailed DA will need to ensure that 
it complies with this requirement.  

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

48. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – East Alexandria 

The subject site is in the East Alexandria locality. It is located within the Green Square 
urban renewal areas and the southern employment lands.  

The proposed development is consistent with the locality statement. That is, the 
development will see the site transition from a traditional industrial land use to a higher 
density commercial land uses. It will support the function of the Green Square town centre 
as the strategic centre for the southern part of the City. 

The development also provides for new roads making the street block more permeable 
and enabling for future access to be provided between Bourke Road and Mandible Street. 
Land is also being embellished and dedicated on Mandible Street to create a wider 
footpath. Land is also being embellished and dedicated along the rear of the site to 
facilitate the creation of the liveable green network along Shea's creek, which will provide 
new bike and pedestrian links in the area.   

 
  

37



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1.1.2 Streets Yes A new 10m wide street is proposed to be 
delivered as part of the subject 
development. This new street is being 
delivered via a voluntary planning 
agreement. The detailed design of the 
street will be a matter for the detailed DA 
and the construction certificate. The 
concept road levels and road design 
have been provided as part of this DA. 
They demonstrate how the new street 
can integrate into the future bridge over 
Shea's Creek and how the street can 
operate now and, in the future, once the 
second half of the street (connecting to 
Bourke Road) is delivered. 

3.1.1.4 Footpaths Yes A 0.5m wide land dedication to enable 
footpath widening is being provided 
along Mandible Street. This is also being 
delivered via a voluntary planning 
agreement.  

3.1.2.2 Bike network Yes A 6m wide land dedication to enable the 
delivery of the liveable green network is 
being provided at the rear. This 6m 
parcel of land will sit between the 
building and Shea's Creek and will 
facilitate the delivery of the 'Liveable 
Green Network.' The Liveable green 
network will operate as a linear park that 
connects Green Square and Alexandra 
Canal. It will provide opportunities for 
walking, cycling and passive recreation. 
It is part of the City's pedestrian and 
cycling network.  

3.1.5 Public Art  Able to 
comply 

A preliminary public art strategy has 
been provided. This can be further 
resolved as part of the detailed DA. 

 

 

 

  

38



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2.2 Addressing the street 
and public domain  

Yes The proposal will enhance the public 
domain by ensuring adequate setbacks 
between the building and public spaces. 
The proposal includes an additional 
2.5m setback to Mandible Street to 
match the adjoining building at 12-20 
Mandible Street. The proposal also 
includes a 3.7metre setback (1m to 
shading devices) along the length of the 
new road. These setbacks will enable 
additional landscaping and an improved 
public domain experience. The building 
also allows activation  

3.3 Design Excellence and 
Competitive Design Processes 

Yes Prior to lodgement of the detailed DA, a 
competitive design process is required. 

A design excellence strategy, in 
accordance with section 3.3.8 of the 
Sydney DCP, is recommended to be 
approved as part of this concept 
consent. As part of this design 
excellence strategy, the applicant is 
seeking up to an additional 10% height 
or 3.5m). While this does not provide 
space for an additional floor, it does 
provide flexibility for greater floor to floor 
heights and a green roof or solar panels. 

This design excellence strategy includes 
several ESD targets which must be 
achieved as part of the detailed DA. 
These are discussed further under 
section 3.6 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

3.4 Hierarchy of Centres, City 
South 

Yes This is addressed in Clause 7.23 of 
Sydney LEP 2012 above and will be the 
subject of the detailed DA.  

3.5 Urban Ecology Able to 
comply 

No tree removal is approved as part of 
the concept DA.  

 

 

 

 

39



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

The development, including the new 
north/south road will necessitate the 
removal of three (3) trees. While the 
survey plan only shows a casuarina tree 
in the north west corner, the other two 
trees are shown in the photos. These 
appear to be a bottle brush which has a 
lean and either a short jacaranda or 
acacia. The removal of these trees is not 
ideal, however, is required to facilitate 
the development. 

The land dedications, setbacks on the 
site and the landscaping space on 
podium allows for substantial 
replacement tree planting. This 
replacement planting will significantly 
offset the loss of these trees.  

The detailed DA will be required to 
provide sufficient tree planting to 
achieve a minimum 15% canopy cover 
across the site in 10 years. This is 
addressed by condition.  

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Able to 
comply 

The proposal is accompanied by a 
Sustainability Report, prepared by 
Northrob and dated 31 May 2019. This 
report demonstrates how the 
development will meet the requirements 
under clause 3.6 of the Sydney DCP 
and; 

 Section J of the BCA;  

 5 Star Green Star design and as 
built in accordance with the Green 
Building Council of Australia; 

 Property Council of Australia 
Office Quality criteria for a Grade 
A Office New building; and 

 NABERS 5.5-star base rating.  

 

 

40



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

This report details several requirements 
to achieve the above list, including but 
not limited to: 

 external vertical shading to east 
and west facades; 

 external horizontal shading to 
north façade;  

 provision of operable windows to 
outside air; 

 high performance building 
envelope (including efficient 
glazing and installation); 

 internal blinds to each facade; and 

 increased landscaping including 
green roof provisions to level 1 
office space.  

The requirements in this report have 
also been included in the design 
excellence strategy which is 
recommended for approval. 

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Able to 
comply 

See discussion under Clause 7.15 of 
Sydney LEP 2012. As part of the 
detailed DA, clauses 3.7.2 and 3.7.3 of 
the Sydney DCP 2012 will need to be 
addressed.   

3.11 Transport and Parking Able to 
comply 

As the gross floor area (GFA) is not 
approved as part of the concept 
consent, the exact numbers of car 
parking and bike parking cannot be 
determined. Notwithstanding this, a 
traffic report and indicative plans were 
submitted as part of this concept 
application.  

 

 

 

 

41



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

This report and plans demonstrate how 
a medium rigid vehicle (MRV) can enter 
and exit the site in a forward direction. 
Presently, the indicative plans show 11 
car parking spaces, 2 accessible 
spaces, 5 service vehicle spaces and 5 
motorbike spaces. This is well below the 
permitted maximum of 78 car parking 
spaces permitted on the site (subject to 
the limitations on above ground car 
parking). 

The plans also show that 88 bike 
parking spaces, 88 lockers, 9 showers 
and change rooms and 37 visitor parking 
space, can be accommodated within the 
proposed building. This is generally 
consistent with the amount of bike 
parking and end of trip facilities required 
for these land uses. The exact number 
will be determined by the final 
breakdown of GFA and land uses in the 
detailed DA.  

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Able to 
comply 

The indicative plans provide adequate 
passive surveillance, including by 
providing windows on all elevations and 
no concealed corners or areas. This will 
be subject to further assessment as part 
of the detailed DA.  

3.14 Waste Subject to 
detailed DA  

A detailed waste management plan is 
also required to be submitted as part of 
the detailed DA. 

  

42



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed-use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height 

5.8.2.3 Building height  

Assessed as 
acceptable 

The Sydney DCP 2012 prescribes a 7-
storey height control for the site. The 
subject proposal seeks 9 storeys. In this 
instance, the 9 storeys are considered 
acceptable as it sits within the 35-metre 
height control, the building meets the 
minimum floor to floor height, and there 
is sufficient space for roof top parapet. 
This is discussed further in the issues 
section below.  

4.2.2 Building setbacks 

5.2.10 Setbacks 

5.8.2.2 Building setbacks 

 

Yes The ground floor and upper level 
setbacks proposed are considered 
acceptable, and consistent with the 
provisions of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

4.2.3.1 Solar access Yes The proposed development, including 
with the additional 10% height that may 
be available, does not unreasonably 
overshadow any residential 
development.  

4.2.3.7 Deep soil 

4.2.3.5 Landscaping 

5.8.2.5.1 Landscaping  

Assessed as 
acceptable 

The proposed development can provide 
approximately 9% of the residual site as 
deep soil. This is less than the 10% that 
the Sydney DCP 2012 requires. While 
this is a technical non-compliance, it is 
considered on balance that 9% deep soil 
for this site is acceptable.  

The 9% figure does not include the 
approximately 225m² of land to be 
dedicated at the rear of the site which 
will also be able to accommodate deep 
soil planting.  

The figure also does not include the 
large landscaped area on the podium 
adjacent to the east boundary which is 
proposed as part of the development. 
This landscaped area will provide space 
for increased soft landscaping and 
canopy coverage on the site.  

43



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed-use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.3.11 Acoustic privacy 

5.8.6.3 Noise management 

Able to 
comply 

The site is located opposite a concrete 
batching plant. A condition is 
recommended requiring an acoustic 
report to be developed and its 
recommendations implemented within 
the detailed design of the building to 
ensure that the development mitigates 
any possible noise impact arising from 
the surrounding land uses.  

4.2.4 Fine grain, architectural 
diversity and articulation 

Assessed as 
acceptable 

While the building fronting the new north 
south street is greater than 45m long, 
the reference scheme demonstrates that 
there is sufficient space within the 
envelope to create a highly articulated, 
modulated and interesting building 
facade.  

4.2.5 Types of development Yes The indicative scheme includes a 
vertically proportioned, slender form. 
The form is setback from the boundaries 
to allow for natural ventilation and a 
narrow floor plate. The competition and 
detailed development application will 
allow for the design of the building to be 
further detailed and refined.  

 

5. Specific Areas 

Green Square and Southern 
Employment lands 

Compliance Comment 

5.2.3 Community infrastructure 

 

Yes The proposal relies on the additional 
1.5:1 community infrastructure floor 
space. A public benefit offer was 
submitted to access this floor space.  

This offer will contribute to the delivery 
of community infrastructure for Green 
Square through the dedication and 
embellishment of land for footpath, a 
new road and the liveable green 
network.  

44



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

5. Specific Areas 

Green Square and Southern 
Employment lands 

Compliance Comment 

5.2.4.1 Street Network 

5.8.3.2 Proposed streets and 
through site links 

Yes As per figure 5.35 of the Sydney DCP 
2012, the new north south street off 
Mandible Street is being proposed and 
delivered via VPA as part of this 
development. In accordance with the 
Sydney DCP 2012, this is a 10m wide 
local street. It will initially operate as a 
two-way street to service the subject 
development, however once the 
remainder of the street is provided and 
connected to Bourke Road, it will likely 
become a one-way street, as per figure 
5.186 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

5.2.5 Pedestrian and bike 
networks 

5.2.6 Public open space 

5.8.3.1 Public open space 

5.8.3.3 Liveable green network 

Yes As per figure 5.192 of Sydney DCP 
2012, 6 metres of land is being 
dedicated at the rear of the site for the 
liveable green network.  

As per the Public domain setbacks map, 
0.5m for footpath widening is being 
dedicated along Mandible Street.  

5.2.12 Above ground parking 
spaces and adaptable car 
parking spaces 

Capable of 
complying 

A small amount of above ground parking 
is proposed as part of this development. 
While the number of car spaces are not 
locked in, the reference design shows 
that the space allocated for parking 
accommodates 11 cars (in a car 
stacker), 2 accessible spaces and 5 
service spaces. These areas have 
sufficient floor to floor heights to enable 
them to be converted to other uses. The 
car park is also proposed to be screened 
from the street.  

 

  

45



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Issues 

Design excellence  

49. The development can deliver design excellence, as required by clause 6.21 of Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

50. As the development is over 25 metres in height, it is required to undertake a 
competitive design process. The applicant, in the submitted design excellence 
strategy, has elected to pursue up to an additional 10% height for the development.  

51. As part of this additional 10% height, it is the expectation that this additional height will 
not result in an additional storey or floor space beyond that which is permitted by the 
Sydney LEP 2012. This is because to accommodate another storey, a minimum of 
3.6metres would be required, as opposed to the maximum 3.5metres available through 
the design excellence process. This is recommended to be included as a condition on 
the consent.  

52. The additional 10% height is to allow for: 

 flexibility with the ground floor level should any of the ground floor requirements 
change as part of the detailed design of the road; 

 flexibility to explore greater floor to ceiling heights; and 

 space to accommodate green roofs, photovoltaic panels and architectural 
embellishments.  

53. The development was presented to the City's Design Advisory Panel (DAP) on 12 
September 2019. The panel were supportive of the proposal and made the following 
comments: 

 The Panel noted that the proponent is obliged to proceed with a design 
excellence competition under the Sydney LEP 2012.  

 The Panel did not support on-street vehicle loading area/service vehicle bay. It 
recommended that provision of loading area/ service vehicle bay be located 
within the site.  

 The Panel recommended that green roof/solar panel provisions be a project 
requirement, integrated into the competition brief.  

 Noting the changing nature of Mandible Street and recent construction of the 
Dangrove development by Tzannes Associates, the Panel commended the 
scheme’s contextual response of continuing Dangrove’s street wall datum into 
the reference design. 

54. In relation to the on-street loading, the plans have been updated to show how an MRV 
can enter and exit the site in a forward direction and load onsite. This is also included 
as a condition on the consent.  

55. The requirement for a green roof and/or solar panels are also included as conditions 
on the consent to be incorporated into the competition brief.  

  

46



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

56. Overall, the development is considered capable of delivering design excellence, as 
required by clause 6.21(4) of Sydney LEP 2012. The reasons for this are as follows: 

 The proposed bulk, massing and modulation of the buildings appropriately 
responds to the surrounding context.  

 The development will deliver a high level of environmentally sustainable 
development, including by using natural ventilation, passive shading and 
landscaping.  

 The development provides all the necessary and identified public benefit 
improvements, and by doing so improves the permeability of the pedestrian and 
cycling network.  

 Additional setbacks have been provided at the which improve the interface at 
ground level and the public domain, as well as the buildings relationship to its 
emerging surrounding context.  

Height in storeys 

57. The Sydney DCP 2012 provides a 7-storey height in storeys control for the site. The 
development seeks consent for 9 storeys. This variation to the Sydney DCP 2012 is 
supported for the following reasons: 

 The development includes a maximum 35 metre height limit for the site. The 
development is also eligible for up to an additional 3.5m (or 10%) height on the 
building. As such, there is plenty of scope within the envelope to accommodate 9 
storeys with adequate floor to floor heights.  

 Within the development, the ground floor has a proposed floor to floor height of 
4.5m. This is consistent with the clause 4.2.1.2 of Sydney DCP 2012 for ground 
floor commercial uses and will allow for a variety of uses.  

 Levels 1 to 8 have a floor to floor height of 3.6m, which is consistent with the 
requirements for any commercial floor as per clause 4.2.1.2 of Sydney DCP 
2012.  

 The envelope plan also provides a 1.47m space for parapet, roof top plant and 
equipment. This is in addition to the area within level 8 of the envelope dedicated 
to plant and servicing. A condition is also recommended to be included to ensure 
that "all plant and services are to be concealed by a parapet and contained 
within the maximum permissible height allowable by clause 4.3 and 6.21 of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan." 

 The development has setback further than the Sydney DCP 2012 requires from 
Mandible Street. The setbacks and massing have responded appropriately to the 
Dangrove development at 12-20 Mandible Street. This results in an improved 
public domain outcome and DAP also commended this aspect of the proposal.  

 The development provides a 1 metre setback clear to the sky from the new north 
south street. An additional 2.7 metre setback is provided on the ground floor, and 
only passive shading and building articulation is permitted within this 2.7m zone 
on levels 1 to 8. This will enable the building to be appropriately articulated to 
respond to the surrounding context, allow the building to be passively shaded 
and allow for deep soil planting.  

47



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 Given that 27% of the site area is being dedicated to Council, the development 
cannot accommodate the maximum permitted floor space in the slender form 
building that is proposed if 9 storeys are not permitted.  

 The floor plates at the upper levels are highly efficient and allow for natural 
ventilation. The provision of any upper level setbacks to achieve a 7-storey street 
wall height will severely impact on the massing currently proposed and result in 
bulky building at the lower levels. This is not considered to be a better urban 
design outcome.  

Other Impacts of the Development 

58. It is considered that the concept DA will not have detrimental environmental, social or 
economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

59. The proposal is of a nature consistent with the permitted land use of the B7 zone and 
the desired future character of the surrounding locality.  

Internal Referrals 

60. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

61. The application was discussed with the Urban Design Specialists; Environmental 
Health; Public Domain; and Transport and Access who advised that the proposal is 
acceptable subject to the recommended conditions. 

External Referrals 

Notification and Advertising of Planning Agreement 

62. In accordance with clause 7.5(1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 
1979, the VPA was publicly exhibited for 28 days from 2 June 2020 to 30 June 2020 
One submission from the same landowner who objected to the DA notification 
(discussed below) was received.  

63. This submission raises concerns about road safety issues arising from the new road.  

64. This issue was discussed with the City's Road Safety Officer who advised that: 

 Mandible Street is a public road of mixed use in a predominantly light industrial 
area of Alexandria.  

 The operators of the site at 25 Mandible Street do use heavy vehicles which 
raise general concerns about traffic movements particularly interactions with 
pedestrians and cyclists. 

 However, while the consequences of a crash at this location has the potential to 
be severe, the probability of one occurring are unlikely. The risk rating of the 
location would fall within the moderate risk level. 

48



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

 The moderate risk level is based on probability vs consequence of a crash. The 
moderate risk rating is supported by the crash data indicating the location has 
recorded zero crashes in the last 10 years combined with low traffic volumes. 

 The current road layout including the multiple driveways, footpaths and 
cycleways creates greater awareness of road safety as road users operate in a 
mixed environment with suitable road user separation. A separate bi-directional 
cycleway and adequate footpaths on both sides of Mandible Street provide 
suitable protection for vulnerable road users, such as pedestrians and cyclists.  

 The operator of 25 Mandible Street will continue to need to manage the entry 
and exit for 25 Mandible Street to ensure safety of all road users interacting with 
the site. 

65. In addition to this, it is noted that the existing development is currently an office, 
warehouse, and includes a large at grade carpark. Although the number of car parking 
spaces is not yet approved as part of this DA, indicatively only 18 car spaces are 
shown for the redevelopment. 

Notification and Advertising of Development Application 

66. In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development was 
notified and advertised for a period of 28 days between 28 June 2019 and 29 July 
2019. One (1) submission was received from this notification.  

67. This submission raised the following concerns about the potential unsafe interactions 
between heavy vehicles (such as concrete tricks) and light vehicles movements. A 
response to this issue is included above under the VPA notification.  

68. The submitter also raised an issue about the incompatibility with surrounding land use. 
The submitter said that industry (concrete batching plant) needs to operate freely but 
may be disruptive to more sensitive surrounding land uses. This issue was raised as 
an objection by the submitter to the planning proposal to rezone lands from IN1 to B7 
Business Park. 

69. In response, it is noted that the proposed land uses are permissible with consent in the 
B7 Business Park. The development will need to ensure it is designed to mitigate any 
external noise sources or elements that may impact on the amenity of the 
development. The impact of noise from the concrete batching plant will need to be 
considered as part of an acoustic report and the design will need to respond to this 
issue. This is addressed by condition of consent.  

Public Interest 

70. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

Contributions 

71. Section 7.11 contributions and affordable housing contributions will be applicable as 
part of the detailed DA.  

49



Local Planning Panel 12 August 2020 
 

Relevant Legislation 

72. Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

73. Water Management Act 2000. 

74. Sydney Water Act 1994 No 88. 

75. Commonwealth Airports Act 1996. 

Conclusion 

76. The DA seeks approval for a concept application (stage 1) for one (1) concept 
envelope with a maximum height of 35 metres which has been tested to accommodate 
up to a total approximate gross floor area (GFA) of 13,062m² or a floor space ratio of 
3.5:1.  

77. The DA also seeks approval of the design excellence strategy which requires the 
applicant to undertake a competitive design competition and explore up to an 
additional 10% height on the development.  

78. The DA was also accompanied by a public benefit offer with a total value of 
$1,156,550 which includes the dedication and embellishment of land for footpath 
widening, the liveable green network and new road off Mandible Street.  

79. This DA is recommended to be approved subject to a deferred commencement 
condition to require the VPA to be executed and registered on title prior to the consent 
becoming operative.   

80. Subject the implementation of conditions, as detailed in the report and Attachment A, it 
is considered that the proposal is generally compliant with the relevant planning 
controls for the site. In the instance where a non-compliance is proposed, for example 
height in storeys, it is considered, in this instance, the non-compliance can be 
supported.   

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Erin Faulkner, Senior Planner 

50



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent

51



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS (CONDITIONS TO BE 
SATISFIED PRIOR TO CONSENT OPERATING)  

The following deferred commencement conditions must be satisfied prior to the consent 
becoming operative: 

(A) PART A - DEFERRED COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 

(CONDITIONS TO BE SATISFIED PRIOR TO CONSENT OPERATING) 

The consent is not to operate until the following condition is satisfied, within 24 
months of the date of this determination: 

(1) VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 
 

(a) The Voluntary Planning Agreement between the COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF SYDNEY and Sincourt Pty Ltd which was placed on public exhibition 
between 2 June 2020 and 30 June 2020 shall be executed and submitted 
to Council; and 

(b) The Voluntary Planning Agreement, as executed, must be registered on 
the title of the land; and  

 (2) Evidence that will sufficiently enable Council to be satisfied as to those matters 
identified in deferred commencement conditions, as indicated above, must be 
submitted to Council within 24 months of the date of determination of this 
deferred commencement consent failing which, this deferred development 
consent will lapse pursuant to section 4.53(6) of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979. 

 
(3) The consent will not operate until such time that the Council notifies the 

Applicant in writing that deferred commencement consent conditions, as 
indicated above, have been satisfied. 

 
(4) Upon Council giving written notification to the Applicant that the deferred 

commencement conditions have been satisfied, the consent will become 
operative from the date of that written notification, subject to the conditions of 
consent, as detailed in Part B Conditions of Consent (Once the Consent is 
Operation) of the subject report.  

 

52



 

 

(B) PART B – CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

(1) STAGED DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

Pursuant to clause 100 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2000, this Notice of Determination relates to a concept development 
application and subsequent development applications are required for any 
works on the site.  

(2) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2019/578 dated 31 May 2019 and the following drawings prepared by 
Tonkin Zulaikha Greer Architects: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

A100, revision F Ground floor plan – building 
envelope 

9 July 2020 

A101, revision E Level 01 and level 02 plans 
– building envelope 

9 July 2020 

A102, revision E Level 03 to level 07 floor 
plans – building envelope 

9 July 2020 

A103, revision E Level 08 and roof plan – 
building envelope 

9 July 2020 

A200, revision E Elevations 1 9 July 2020 

A201, revision E Elevations 2 9 July 2020 

A300, revision D Section 2 13 July 2020 

 
and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(3) MATTERS NOT APPROVED 

(a) The following items are not approved and do not form part of this concept 
development consent: 

(i) any demolition, excavation or construction; 

(ii) any tree removal; 

(iii) any basement levels;  

(iv) the number of car parking spaces, bicycle spaces, car share or 
loading spaces/zones; 

(v) the precise quantum of floor space; and  

53



 

 

(vi) a 10% design excellence uplift in height.  

(4) BUILDING ENVELOPES 

Subject to other conditions of this consent, the building envelope is only 
approved on the basis that the ultimate building design, including services, 
balconies, shading devices and the like will be entirely within the approved 
envelopes.  

(5) BUILDING HEIGHT  

(a) The maximum height of all buildings on the site must not exceed 35 
metres, as defined in the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(b) Notwithstanding clause (a), the proposal may be eligible for an additional 
10% design excellence uplift in height for parts of the building where the 
envelope is approved at 35 metres, pursuant to the provisions of clause 
6.21(7) of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

(6) FLOOR SPACE RATIO 

(a) The floor space ratio must not exceed the maximum permissible and shall 
be calculated in accordance with the provisions of, clauses 4.4, 6.13 and 
6.14 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.  

(7) DESIGN EXCELLENCE AND COMPETITIVE DESIGN PROCESS  

(a) A competitive design process shall be in accordance with the provisions of 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, including: 

(b) be conducted prior to the lodgement of a detailed development 
application; and  

(c) be undertaken in accordance with the Design Excellence Strategy for 22-
28 Mandible Street, Alexandria, prepared by Mersonn Pty Ltd and dated 
December 2019.  

(8) ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Details are to be provided with the detailed development application to 
confirm that the building has adopted the sustainability initiatives and 
environmental performance aspects set out in the Design Excellence 
Strategy for 22-28 Mandible Street, Alexandria, prepared by Mersonn Pty 
Ltd and dated December 2019.  

(9) DETAILED DESIGN OF BUILDING  

(a) The design brief for the competitive design process shall incorporate the 
following requirements:  

(i) All plant and services are to be concealed by a parapet and 
contained within the maximum permissible height allowable by 
clause 4.3 and 6.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan.  

(ii) Green roof and solar panel provisions be incorporated into and 
maximised in the development. 

54



 

 

(iii) Operable passive shading devices must be designed as part of the 
building and incorporated on the north, west and eastern frontages.  

(iv) Improve connectivity and accessibility of ground floor retail spaces 
fronting the liveable green network.  

(v) The maximum height in storeys available for the site is 9 storeys. 
The possible additional height (up to 10%) is only to be used to 
explore greater floor to ceiling heights, architectural embellishments, 
solar panels and/or green roofs. It is not to accommodate an 
additional storey or more floor space than permitted by condition 6 of 
this consent.  

(10) ACOUSTIC REPORT 

(a) An acoustic impact assessment is to be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
acoustic consultant and is to be submitted as part of the detailed design 
development application.  

(b) The recommendations of the acoustic report are to be incorporated into 
the design of the building and a letter of verification confirming that the 
design of the building incorporates these recommendations is to be 
submitted with the detailed development application.  

(11) PUBLIC ART STRATEGY  

Public art is to be provided in accordance with the ‘Preliminary Public Art 
Plan, prepared by Tonkin Zulaikha Greer and dated May 2019. 

(12) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Proposed building floor levels, basement levels, basement car park entry 
levels and ground levels shown on the approved concept plans are 
indicative only. 

(b) As part of the lodgement of the detailed development application, 
alignment levels for the building and site frontages including the new road 
(from Mandible Street to Bourke Road) must be submitted. The 
submission must be prepared by a Registered Surveyor and designed by 
a suitably qualified engineer, must be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney's Technical Specification, Public Domain Manual and must be 
submitted with a completed Levels and Gradients Approval Application 
form (available on the City’s website). 

(13) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT  

(a) As part of the lodgement of the detailed development application 
calculations and design for the stormwater overland flow path for the 
development must be submitted. They are to be: 

(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show 
the proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and  

55



 

 

(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, 
as amended. 

(14) STORMWATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT  

(a) As part of the lodgement of the detailed development application, a 
stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken and must be 
submitted.   

(b) The stormwater quality assessment must: 

(i) be prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer with 
experience in Water Sensitive Urban Design  

(ii) use modelling from an industry-standard water quality model (e.g. 
MUSIC Model or equivalent); and 

(iii) demonstrate through reports, design plans and calculations, what 
water sensitive urban design and other drainage measures will be 
used to ensure that the development will achieve the following post-
development pollutant loads: 

a.    reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for litter and 
vegetation larger than 5mm by 90%; 

b.    reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total suspended 
solids by 85%; 

c.    reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total phosphorous 
by 65%; 

d.    reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total nitrogen by 
45%. 

(iv) include certification from a suitably qualified practicing professional 
that the requirements of parts d) (i), (ii) and (iii) of this condition have 
been met. 

 
(15) NEW ROAD DESIGN PACKAGE 

(a) Design package shall be prepared based on the requirements outlined in 
Council’s Public Domain Manual.  This design package is to be submitted 
as part of the detailed development application.  

(b) The design of the road needs to ensure that the road can meet the future 
bridge over Shea’s Creek canal. The future bridge over the canal needs to 
meet Sydney Water’s clearance requirements as per the bridge over 
Sydney Water’s open stormwater channel guidelines. This detail is 
available at 
http://www.sydneywater.com.au/web/groups/publicwebcontent/documents
/document/zgrf/mtcz/~edisp/dd_173024.pdf 

56

http://www.sydneywater.com.au/web/groups/publicwebcontent/documents/document/zgrf/mtcz/~edisp/dd_173024.pdf
http://www.sydneywater.com.au/web/groups/publicwebcontent/documents/document/zgrf/mtcz/~edisp/dd_173024.pdf


 

 

(c) A design report for the road works must be prepared by an appropriately 
qualified civil engineer certifying that the design complies with the City of 
Sydney’s policies, standards and specifications and those of all other 
relevant authorities as applicable.   

(d) All engineering plans and calculations shall be checked, signed and 
certified by a suitably qualified practicing professional engineer and 
included in the report.   

(16) DETAILED BOUNDARY SURVEY 

A detailed boundary survey prepared by a registered surveyor is to be submitted 
as part of the detailed design development application.  

(17) ON SITE LOADING AREAS AND OPERATION 

The detailed development application must ensure all loading and unloading 
operations associated with servicing the site can be carried out within the 
confines of the site and must not obstruct other properties/units or the public 
way. 

(18) SERVICE VEHICLE SIZE LIMIT 

The detailed development application must include swept paths for the largest 
vehicles to access the site in a forward in and forward out direction.  

(19) DRIVEWAY LOCATION AND WIDTH 

The driveway crossover is to as minimum as practicable and to be supported by 
a vehicle swept path analysis in the detailed development application 
submission.  

(20) LAND REMEDIATION (Where Site Auditor engaged) 

The site is to be remediated and validated in accordance with the Remedial 
Action Plan prepared by Environmental Investigations Australia dated 14 July 
2020, ref E244066.E06_REV3 (2020/307651) and the Letter of Interim Advice 
prepared by NSW Environment Protection Authority accredited Site Auditor Tim 
Chambers of Phreatic Consulting no 7 dated 15 July 2020 (2020/309437).  

 
(21) DEEP SOIL AND CAPPING 

The remedial approach must ensure that the deep soil areas proposed as part 
of the detailed development application have sufficient soil depth to ensure 
advanced tree planting.  

(22) LAND DEDICATION – NO LONG TERM ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGAMENET 
PLAN  

Land to be dedicated to the City as part of the associated Voluntary Planning 
Agreement must not be encumbered by an Environmental Management Plan or 
Long Term Environmental Management Plan. 

57



 

 

(23) COMPLIANCE WITH ACID SULFATE SOILS MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Comply with the recommendations contained in the Acid Sulphate Soils 
Management Plan prepared by Environmental Investigations Australia, dated 18 
June 2020, reference E24066.E14.Rev 0(2020/286146).  

(24) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE (TREES) 

(a) At detailed landscape plan, drawn to scale, by a qualified landscape 
architect or landscape designer, must be submitted to Council with any 
subsequent detailed design development application. The plan must 
include: 

(i) Location of existing and proposed structures on the site including, 
but not limited to, existing and proposed trees, paved areas, planted 
areas on slab, planted areas in natural ground, lighting and other 
features; 

(ii) Details of earthworks and soil depths including mounding and 
retaining walls and planter boxes (if applicable). The minimum soil 
depths for planting on slab must be 1000mm for trees, 450mm for 
shrubs and 200mm for groundcovers; 

(iii) Location, numbers, type and supply of plant species, with reference 
to the relevant Australian Standard; 

(iv) The deep soil setback areas along Mandible Street, the new road 
and parcel of land at the rear of the site must facilitate the planting of 
large canopy trees that will reach a minimum mature height of 18 
metres with a canopy spread of 8 metres.  

(v) Palms, fruit trees and species recognised to have a short life span 
will not be accepted as suitable replacements. 

(vi) The trees must be grown to Australian Standard 2303:2015 ‘Tree 
stock for landscape use’ 

(vii) At the time of planting, the container size is to be a minimum of 150 
litres and a minimum height of 3 metres.  

(viii)  New trees must be planted in natural ground with adequate soil 
volumes to allow maturity to be achieved. Planter boxes will not be 
accepted for tree planting; 

(ix) New trees must be appropriately located away from existing 
buildings and structures to allow maturity to be achieved without 
restriction; 

(x) Details of planting procedure and maintenance; 

(xi) Details of drainage, waterproofing and watering systems. 

 

58



Attachment B 

Proposed Building Envelope 

 

 

 

 

59



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 100

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:9/7/20 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 23/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

GROUND FLOOR PLAN -
BUILDING ENVELOPE

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

9/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

F

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
12/06/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019
25/03/2020
09/07/2020

A
B
C
D
E
F

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

10m 1m 2.7m

+ 8,300

+ 8,200

+ 8,300

1 1

2 2

N

W

E

S

Existing tree
to be removed

Existing vehicle crossing
and landscaping to be
removed for new road

Existing vehicle crossing
to be relocated

0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING (DCP)

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BOUNDARY 8.435m
(73°05'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)
6m SETBACK (DCP)

2.5m SETBACK10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

1m
 LA

ND
SC

AP
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

DRAINAGE CHANNEL

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

RETAIL

CARPARKING / SERVICING / PLANT

COMMERCIAL (OFFICE)

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

LANDSCAPING ZONE

SHADING TREATMENT / BUILDING
ARTICULATION

N

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
1:5001

60



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 101

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:9/7/20 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 23/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

LEVEL 01 & LEVEL 02 FLOOR
PLANS - BUILDING ENVELOPE

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

9/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

E

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019
25/03/2020
09/07/2020

A
B
C
D
E

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

1 1

2 2

N

W

E

S

6m

4m

6m

10m 1m 2.7m

0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING (DCP)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)
6m SETBACK (DCP)

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

1m
 LA

ND
SC

AP
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")
2.5m SETBACK

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

1 1

2 2

N

W

E

S

10m 1m 2.7m

0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING (DCP)

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)

6m SETBACK (DCP)

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

1m
 LA

ND
SC

AP
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

2.5m SETBACK

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

RETAIL

CARPARKING / SERVICING / PLANT

COMMERCIAL (OFFICE)

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

LANDSCAPING ZONE

SHADING TREATMENT / BUILDING
ARTICULATION

N

LEVEL 02 FLOOR PLAN
1:5002LEVEL 01 FLOOR PLAN

1:5001

61



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 102

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:9/7/20 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 23/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

LEVEL 03 - LEVEL 07 FLOOR
PLANS - BUILDING ENVELOPE

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

9/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

E

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019
25/03/2020
09/07/2020

A
B
C
D
E

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

1 1

2 2

N

W

E

S

6m

4m

6m

10m 1m 2.7m

0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING (DCP)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)
6m SETBACK (DCP)

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

1m
 LA

ND
SC

AP
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")
2.5m SETBACK

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

1 1

2 2

N

W

E

S

6m
4m

6m

10m 1m 2.7m

0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING (DCP)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)

6m SETBACK (DCP)

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

1m
 LA

ND
SC

AP
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")
2.5m SETBACK

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

RETAIL

CARPARKING / SERVICING / PLANT

COMMERCIAL (OFFICE)

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

LANDSCAPING ZONE

SHADING TREATMENT / BUILDING
ARTICULATION

N

LEVEL 04 - LEVEL 07 FLOOR PLAN
1:5002LEVEL 03 FLOOR PLAN

1:5001

62



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 103

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:9/7/20 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 23/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

LEVEL 08 & ROOF PLAN -
BUILDING ENVELOPE

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

9/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

E

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019
25/03/2020
09/07/2020

A
B
C
D
E

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

1 1

2 2

N

W

E

S

6m

4m

6m

10m 1m

0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING (DCP)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)
6m SETBACK (DCP)

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

1m
 LA

ND
SC

AP
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")
2.5m SETBACK

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

1 1

2 2

N

W

E

S

6m
4m

6m

10m 1m 2.7m

0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING (DCP)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)

6m SETBACK (DCP)

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

1m
 LA

ND
SC

AP
E 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")
2.5m SETBACK

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

RETAIL

CARPARKING / SERVICING / PLANT

COMMERCIAL (OFFICE)

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

LANDSCAPING ZONE

SHADING TREATMENT / BUILDING
ARTICULATION

N

ROOF PLAN
1:5002LEVEL 08 FLOOR PLAN

1:5001

63



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 200

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:9/7/20 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 23/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

ELEVATIONS 1

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

9/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

E

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019
25/03/2020
09/07/2020

A
B
C
D
E

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

E D C B A

GROUND FLOOR
RL +8,200

LEVEL 01
RL +12,700

LEVEL 02
RL +16,300

LEVEL 03
RL +19,900

LEVEL 04
RL +23,500

LEVEL 05
RL +27,100

LEVEL 06
RL +30,700

LEVEL 07
RL +34,300

LEVEL 08
RL +37,900

LIFT OVERRUN
RL +42,970

6m

2.7m 1m 10m

1m LANDSCAPE
SETBACK (DCP)

10m SETBACK
(DCP)

12-20
MANDIBLE

STREET

35m HEIGHT LIMIT

BO
UN

DA
RY

BO
UN

DA
RY

12 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

DRAINAGE
CHANNEL

0.5m FOOTPATH
WIDENING (DCP)

2.5m SETBACK

6m
 S

ET
BA

CK
 (D

CP
)

BO
UN

DA
RY

BO
UN

DA
RY

35m HEIGHT LIMIT

RETAIL

CARPARKING / SERVICING / PLANT

COMMERCIAL (OFFICE)

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

LANDSCAPING ZONE

SHADING TREATMENT / BUILDING
ARTICULATION

N

E

NORTH ELEVATION
1:500N EAST ELEVATION

1:500E

KEY PLAN

64



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 201

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:9/7/20 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 23/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

ELEVATIONS 2

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

9/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

E

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019
25/03/2020
09/07/2020

A
B
C
D
E

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

A B C D E

GROUND FLOOR
RL +8,200

LEVEL 01
RL +12,700

LEVEL 02
RL +16,300

LEVEL 03
RL +19,900

LEVEL 04
RL +23,500

LEVEL 05
RL +27,100

LEVEL 06
RL +30,700

LEVEL 07
RL +34,300

LEVEL 08
RL +37,900

LIFT OVERRUN
RL +42,970

10m 1m 2.7m

1m LANDSCAPE
SETBACK (DCP)

10m SETBACK
(DCP)

12-20
MANDIBLE

STREET

35m HEIGHT LIMIT

BO
UN

DA
RY

BO
UN

DA
RY

 AT
 N

OR
TH

 E
AS

T 
CO

RN
ER

BO
UN

DA
RY

 AT
 S

OU
TH

 E
AS

T 
CO

RN
ER

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

DRAINAGE
CHANNEL

0.5m FOOTPATH
WIDENING (DCP)

2.5m SETBACK

6m SETBACK (DCP)

BO
UN

DA
RY

BO
UN

DA
RY

35m HEIGHT LIMIT

RETAIL

CARPARKING / SERVICING / PLANT

COMMERCIAL (OFFICE)

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

LANDSCAPING ZONE

SHADING TREATMENT / BUILDING
ARTICULATION

W

S

SOUTH ELEVATION
1:500N WEST ELEVATION

1:500E

KEY PLAN

65



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 300

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:13/7/20 File: /Users/katepalmer/Downloads/200713 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA.pln

SECTION A

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

13/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

D

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
12/06/2019
25/03/2020
13/07/2020

A
B
C
D

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

A B C D E

GROUND FLOOR
RL +8,200

LEVEL 01
RL +12,700

LEVEL 02
RL +16,300

LEVEL 03
RL +19,900

LEVEL 04
RL +23,500

LEVEL 05
RL +27,100

LEVEL 06
RL +30,700

LEVEL 07
RL +34,300

LEVEL 08
RL +37,900

LIFT OVERRUN
RL +42,970

4.5
m

3.6
m

3.6
m

3.6
m

3.6
m

3.6
m

3.6
m

3.6
m

5.0
7m

10m 1m 2.7m

6m

6m

Preliminary min. flood
planning level to
carpark = 8.3m AHD

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

12-20
MANDIBLE

STREET

35m HEIGHT LIMIT

BO
UN

DA
RY

BO
UN

DA
RY

BO
UN

DA
RY

 AT
 N

OR
TH

 E
AS

T 
CO

RN
ER

A B D E

GROUND FLOOR
RL +8,200

LEVEL 01
RL +12,700

LEVEL 02
RL +16,300

LEVEL 03
RL +19,900

LEVEL 04
RL +23,500

LEVEL 05
RL +27,100

LEVEL 06
RL +30,700

LEVEL 07
RL +34,300

LEVEL 08
RL +37,900

LIFT OVERRUN
RL +42,970

10m 1m 2.7m

6m

Preliminary min. flood
planning level to retail
and lobby = 8.2m AHD

10
m 

SE
TB

AC
K 

(D
CP

)

12-20
MANDIBLE

STREET

35m HEIGHT LIMIT

BO
UN

DA
RY

BO
UN

DA
RY

C

RETAIL

CARPARKING / SERVICING / PLANT

COMMERCIAL (OFFICE)

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

LANDSCAPING ZONE

SHADING TREATMENT / BUILDING
ARTICULATION

1 1

2 2

N

CROSS SECTION 1
1:5001 CROSS SECTION 2

1:5002

KEY PLAN

66



Attachment C 

Reference Plans 

 

 

 

 

67



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 400

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:15/10/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

GROUND FLOOR PLAN - SHORT
TERM (INDICATIVE SCHEME)

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

15/10/19

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

D

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
12/06/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019

A
B
C
D

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

1:80

1:2
0

10,000
NEW STREET

9,000 8,700 8,450 6,200

9,1
39

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

6,0
00

+8,300

+7,500

+8,300

+8,300

+8,300

+8,000

2.5m SETBACK0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING

12-20 MANDIBLE STREET
APPROXIMATE OUTLINE

30 MANDIBLE
STREET
APPROXIMATE
OUTLINE

6m SETBACK (DCP)

SHEAS CREEK

MANDIBLE STREET

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

1:1
4

1:1
4

1:14

St
ac

ke
r 1

1 x
 ca

rs

ST
OR

E

1
2

3
4

5
1

2

ST
OR

E

LOADING
BAY

SRV

MRV

217.5 m2

LOBBY
175.0 m2

FIRE PUMPROOM
41.0 m2

LIFTS
26.5 m2

HY
D 

SP
RI

NK
. T

AN
K

27
.0 

m2

SUBST. 1
19.5 m2

SUBST. 2
19.5 m2

RETAIL / STAFF AMENITIES
75.5 m2

RETAIL
83.5 m2

P CZ PZ ELEC.

RETAIL
577.5 m2

SW
IT

CH
 R

M
39

.0 
m2

+8,200

+8,200

+8
,20

0

10
4 B

IK
ES

 (E
MP

LO
YE

E)

9 SHWR&CHANGE

88
 L

OC
KE

RS

CAFE

SERVICE

SERVICE

SERVICE

M/C
M/C

SERVICE

SERVICE

5 B
IK

ES

10
BI

KE
S

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

FUTURE GREENNETWORK

CARPARK
719.0 m2

GARBAGE
51.0 m2

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

FIRE STAIR

DRIVEWAY

N

GROUND FLOOR PLAN - SHORT TERM PLAN
1:5001

ENTRY FROM NORTH (short term)

INDICATIVE SWEPTH PATHS PROVIDED BY PTC - TRAFFIC ENGINEER

EXIT TO NORTH

68



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 401

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:15/10/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

GROUND FLOOR PLAN - LONG
TERM (INDICATIVE SCHEME)

1:500, 1:3.83@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

15/10/19

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

D

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
12/06/2019
22/08/2019
15/10/2019

A
B
C
D

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

1:80

1:2
0

10,000
NEW STREET

9,000 8,700 8,450 6,200

9,1
39

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

7,8
00

6,0
00

+8,300

+7,500

+8,300

+8,300

+8,300

+8,000

2.5m SETBACK0.5m FOOTPATH WIDENING

12-20 MANDIBLE STREET
APPROXIMATE OUTLINE

30 MANDIBLE
STREET
APPROXIMATE
OUTLINE

6m SETBACK (DCP)

SHEAS CREEK

MANDIBLE STREET

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

1:1
4

1:1
4

1:14

St
ac

ke
r 1

1 x
 ca

rs

ST
OR

E

1
2

3
4

5
1

2

ST
OR

E

LOADING
BAY

SRV

MRV

FU
TU

RE
 R

OA
D 

EX
TE

NS
IO

N
TO

 B
OU

RK
E 

RD

217.5 m2

LOBBY
175.0 m2

FIRE PUMPROOM
41.0 m2

LIFTS
26.5 m2

HY
D 

SP
RI

NK
. T

AN
K

27
.0 

m2

SUBST. 1
19.5 m2

SUBST. 2
19.5 m2

RETAIL / STAFF AMENITIES
75.5 m2

RETAIL
83.5 m2

P CZ PZ ELEC.

RETAIL
577.5 m2

SW
IT

CH
 R

M
39

.0 
m2

+8,200

+8,200

+8
,20

0

10
4 B

IK
ES

 (E
MP

LO
YE

E)

9 SHWR&CHANGE

88
 L

OC
KE

RS

CAFE

SERVICE

SERVICE

SERVICE

M/C
M/C

SERVICE

SERVICE

5 B
IK

ES

10
BI

KE
S

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

FUTURE GREENNETWORK

CARPARK
719.0 m2

GARBAGE
51.0 m2

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

FIRE STAIR

DRIVEWAY

N

GROUND FLOOR PLAN - LONG TERM PLAN
1:5001

ENTRY FROM SOUTH (long term)

EXIT TO NORTH

INDICATIVE SWEPTH PATHS PROVIDED BY PTC - TRAFFIC ENGINEER

69



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A 402

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:13/7/20 File: /Users/katepalmer/Downloads/200713 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA.pln

LEVEL 01 & LEVEL 02 FLOOR
PLANS (INDICATIVE SCHEME)

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

13/7/20

KP, CVDB22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

C

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019
12/06/2019
13/07/2020

A
B
C

ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR DA
ISSUE FOR REVISED DA

+16,300

SKY

SKY

SKY

FH

FH

LANDSCAPING
637.0 m2

OFFICE
1,362.0 m2

LIFTS
26.5 m2

S/P

PZ

R/A

H

S/PR/APZ O/A

P CZ PZ

FH
R

ELEC.

BALCONY
40.5 m2

H

O/APT/E

PZ CZ C

FHR

WC
21.0 m2

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

FIRE STAIR

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

WC
38.5 m2 EL

EC
.

+12,700

VOID

Vo
id

 fo
r c

ar
 st

ac
ke

rs

RECEPTION /
BREAKOUT

FH

FH

St
ac

ke
r 1

1 x
 ca

rs

EXHAUST FAN RM
31.0 m2

BALCONY
40.5 m2

LIFTS
26.5 m2

OFFICE
1,754.0 m2

S/P

PZ

R/A

H
H

O/APT/E

PZ CZ C

FHR

STORE
6.0 m2

S/PR/APZ O/A

P CZ PZ

FH
R

ELEC.

MDF
23.0 m2

WC
21.0 m2

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

WC
38.5 m2 EL

EC
.

FIRE STAIR

N

LEVEL 02 FLOOR PLAN
1:5002LEVEL 01 FLOOR PLAN

1:5001

70



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASE
FEASIBILITY STUDY

WEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

CLIENT:

A 403

ABN: 46002722349

MANDIBLE STREET

Plot date:31/5/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

LEVEL 03 - LEVEL 07 FLOOR
PLANS (INDICATIVE SCHEME)

A

1:500

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

31/5/19

KP, CVDB
DATE REV DESCRIPTION:

31/05/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

+23,500

FH

FH

OFFICE
1,513.5 m2

LIFTS
26.5 m2

S/P

PZ

R/A

H

S/PR/APZ O/A

P CZ PZ

FH
R

ELEC.

BALCONY
40.5 m2

H

O/APT/E

PZ CZ C

FHR

WC
21.0 m2

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

FIRE STAIR

WC
38.5 m2 EL

EC
.

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

+19,900

FH

FH

OFFICE
1,362.5 m2

LIFTS
26.5 m2

S/P

PZ

R/A

H

S/PR/APZ O/A

P CZ PZ

FH
R

ELEC.

BALCONY
40.5 m2

H

O/APT/E

PZ CZ C

FHR

WC
21.0 m2

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

FIRE STAIR

WC
38.5 m2 EL

EC
.

N

LEVEL 04 - LEVEL 07 FLOOR PLAN
1:5002LEVEL 03 FLOOR PLAN

1:5001

71



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASE
FEASIBILITY STUDY

WEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

CLIENT:

A 404

ABN: 46002722349

MANDIBLE STREET

Plot date:31/5/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

LEVEL 08 & ROOF PLANS
(INDICATIVE SCHEME)

A

1:500

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

31/5/19

KP, CVDB
DATE REV DESCRIPTION:

31/05/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

+41,600 +42,970

ROOF LEVEL
1,813.0 m2

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

356.0 m2
PLANT TBC

FH

FH

OFFICE
1,158.5 m2

LIFTS
26.5 m2

S/P

PZ

R/A

H

S/PR/APZ O/A

P CZ PZ

FH
R

ELEC.

BALCONY
40.5 m2

H

O/APT/E

PZ CZ C

FHR

WC
21.0 m2

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

FIRE STAIR

WC
38.5 m2 EL

EC
.

N

ROOF PLAN
1:5002LEVEL 08 FLOOR PLAN

1:5001

72



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASE
FEASIBILITY STUDY

WEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

CLIENT:

A700

ABN: 46002722349

MANDIBLE STREET

Plot date:22/7/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

COUNCIL DEDICATIONS

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

22/7/19

KP, CVDB

A

DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

AREA=
19.5 m2

AREA = 
810.0 m2

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

6m

10m

500

AREA =
230.5 m2

BOUNDARY 48.415m (58°20'35")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BOUNDARY 8.435m
(73°05'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

BOUNDARY 38.74m (260°01'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 81
.20

5m
 (3

42
°3

5'3
5"

)

DRAINAGE CHANNEL

12-20 MANDIBLE STREET
APPROXIMATE OUTLINE

28 MANDIBLE
STREET
APPROXIMATE
OUTLINE

SUBJECT SITE
22-28 MANDIBLE STREET

PROPOSED PUBLIC
ROAD DEDICATION

PROPOSED LIVEABLE GREEN
NETWORK DEDICATION

SITE BOUNDARY

LEGEND

SUBJECT SITE

TOTAL DEDICATION

810m2

DEDICATION TO COUNCIL AREA

230.5m2

1060.0m2
% OF SITE 28.4%

FOOTPATH WIDENING 19.5m2

N

COUNCIL DEDICATIONS
1:5001

25/06/2019 B REVISED ISSUE FOR DA

C

27/07/2019 C REVISED ISSUE FOR DA

73



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A701

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:19/8/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

DEEP SOIL PLANTING DIAGRAM

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

19/8/19

KP, CVDB

A

22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
31/05/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

46
.0 

m2
19

.5 
m2

40
.5 

m2
40

.5 
m2

79
.5 

m2

7.5 m2
8.0 m2 12.0 m2

A B C D

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

9

10

11

E

12

500

AREA =
229.5 m2

not incl. in deep soil calculations

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

 40
.75

m 
(3

42
°4

1'5
5"

)

BOUNDARY 8.435m
(73°05'55")

BO
UN

DA
RY

 58
.14

5m
 (3

42
°3

7'0
5"

)

DRAINAGE CHANNEL

12-20 MANDIBLE STREET
APPROXIMATE OUTLINE

30 MANDIBLE
STREET
APPROXIMATE
OUTLINE

SUBJECT SITE
22-28 MANDIBLE STREET

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

FOOTPATH

W
IDENING DEEP SOIL PLANTING

SITE BOUNDARY AFTER
COUNCIL DEDICATIONS

LEGEND

SUBJECT SITE

253.5m2

TOTAL DEEP SOIL % OF SITE 9.35%*

2711m2

* 229.5m2 OF DEEP SOIL PLANTING IN 6m
LIVEABLE GREEN NETWORK DEDICATION
ALONG SOUTHERN BOUNDARY NOT
INCLUDED

N

DEEP SOIL PLANTING DIAGRAM
1:5001

19/08/2019 B REVISED ISSUE FOR DA

B

74



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A702

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:10/10/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

ROAD AND LIVEABLE GREEN
NETWORK PLAN

1:250@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

10/10/19

KP, CVDB

A

22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
10/10/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

2,0
00

5,5
00

2,5
00

+7,990
+8,750

+8,300
+8,200

+8,300

S2
1 A

S2
1 A

KERB
CON2

KERB
CON2

GUTTER CON2

GUTTER CON2

PROPOSED FOOTPATH RETAINING WALL AS REQUIRED

STORE

PROPOSED BOUNDARY

PROPOSED LOCAL STREET

PROPOSED FOOTPATH
CON1

CON1

BRK

PR
OP

OS
ED

 LI
VE

AB
LE

 G
RE

EN
 N

ET
W

OR
K

LP1 LP1 LP1 LP1 LP1

LP1 LP1 LP1 LP1 LP1

LP2

LP2

LP2

LP2

TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1

EXISTING
DRIVEWAY

XPP

BIN

BIN

TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1 TR1

1:2
1

STORE

LO
AD

IN
G

DO
CK

TR2

TR2

TR2

TR2

TR2

BS
BS

BS
BS

BS

+8,300

+8,140
CON1

PROPOSED BUILDING
PROPOSED
DRIVEWAY

N

75



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASEWEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

STAGE 01 DA

CLIENT:

A703

ABN: 46002722349

Plot date:10/10/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

ROAD AND LIVEABLE GREEN
NETWORK DETAILS

1:500@ A3

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

10/10/19

KP, CVDB

A

22-28 MANDIBLE STREET
ALEXANDRIA 2015

ISSUE DATE REV DESCRIPTION:
10/10/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

SCHEDULE OF MATERIALS

CON1: Footpath - Insitu concrete (broom finish).

CON2: Kerb and Gutter - Insitu Concrete

ASP: Road - Asphalt Concrete with light coloured
aggregate.

SCHEDULE OF STREET FURNITURE & LANDSCAPING

TR1: Small Trees to proposed street - Yellow Bloodwood
- Corymbia eximia. Sawcut concrete surround with
decomposed granite infill.

LP1: CoS 7.5m Light Pole

LP2: CoS 4.5m Light Pole

TR2: Medium Trees to Green Link - Yellow Bloodwood -
Corymbia eximia. Raised concrete planter box.

BIN: Capsule bin- Internal frame and components - cast
recycled aluminium, powdercoated metropolis bronze.
Hood and bin lid opening surface and ash receptacle -
polished stainless steel

XPP: Existing power / light pole re-located

BS: Bench Seat- Bronze Powdercoated Steel frame and
recycled composite seat

BRK: Liveable Green Network paving - Brick (mixed
colour)

REFERENCE DOCUMENTS:

- Sydney Streets Design Code - City of Sydney - Part C, Materials Palette - Local Areas
- City of Sydney Street - Tree Master Plan 2011 - Adopted 5 December 2011 (Updated 2015)

N

76



A
B

C
D

87654321 9 10 11

E

12

1:6
0

1:20

10
,00

0
NE

W
 S

TR
EE

T

9,0
00

8,7
00

8,4
50

6,2
00

9,1397,8007,8007,8007,8007,8007,8007,8007,8007,8007,800

6,000

+8
,30

0

+7
,50

0

+8
,30

0

+8
,30

0

+8
,30

0

+8
,00

0

AP
PR

OX
 3m

 E
ST

AB
LIS

HE
D 

SE
TB

AC
K

12
-2

0 M
AN

DI
BL

E 
ST

RE
ET

AP
PR

OX
IM

AT
E 

OU
TL

IN
E

LE AT
E

6m
 S

ET
BA

CK
 (D

CP
)

SH
EA

S 
CR

EE
K

MA
ND

IB
LE

 S
TR

EE
T

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARYBO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

BO
UN

DA
RY

BOUNDARY

1:14

1:14

1:1
4

Stacker 9 x cars Stacker 9 x cars

21
0.5

 m
2

LO
BB

Y
17

5.0
 m

2 FI
RE

 P
UM

PR
OO

M
41

.0 
m2

LI
FT

S
26

.5 
m2

HYD SPRINK. TANK
27.0 m2

EL
EC

.

SU
BS

T. 
1

19
.5 

m2

SU
BS

T. 
2

19
.5 

m2

RE
TA

IL
 / S

TA
FF

 A
ME

NI
TI

ES
85

.5 
m2

RE
TA

IL
74

.5 
m2

P
CZ

RE
TA

IL
57

9.0
 m

2

SW
IT

CH
 R

M
38

.0 
m2

88 BIKES (EMPLOYEE)

9 S
HW

R&
CH

AN
GE

88 LOCKERS

CA
FE

EO
TF

22
 B

IK
ES

SE
RV

IC
E

SE
RV

IC
E

SE
RV

IC
E

SE
RV

IC
E

SE
RV

IC
E

31 2 1 2 54

+8
,20

0

+8
,20

0

+8,200

5 BIKES 5 BIKES5 BIKES

FU
TU

RE
 G

RE
EN

NE
TW

OR
K

M/C
M/C
M/C

MRV SERVICE
VEHICLE BAY

M/C
M/C

STORE STORESTORE

CA
RP

AR
K

67
0.5

 m
2

FIRE STAIR

FI
RE

 S
TA

IR

GA
RB

AG
E

40
.5 

m2

DR
IV

EW
AY

77

SN
SN

SN
N/

A

SN1 Civil Concept Design 13/02/19JG
Clipper International Corporation Tonkin Zulaikha Greer Architects 22-26 MANDIBLE ST, 

ALEXANDRIA

CIVIL CONCEPT DESIGN 181681

4SK01

eRL7.3

eRL7.3

NEW KERB INLET PIT TO BE
CONSTRUCTED CLEAR OF
INTERSECTION.
FURTHER INVESTIGATION OF
EXISTING STORMWATER NETWORK IN
MANDIBLE STREET REQUIRED.

OSD
TANK

eRL7.3 EXISTING LEVEL

RL7.3 PROPOSED LEVEL

PROPOSED PIPE

PROPOSED KERB
AND GUTTER OR
DISH DRAIN (TBC)

PROPOSED
SURFACE INLET PIT

PROPOSED KERB
INLET PIT

LEGEND

X% PROPOSED
SURFACE GRADE

eRL7.36

eRL7.69

OPPORTUNITY FOR
RAINGARDENS TO
TREAT ROOF RUNOFF,
TO REDUCE NUMBER
OF FILTER
CARTRIDGES
REQUIRED.

eRL7.63

NOTE: ALL LEVELS, GRADES AND DIMENSIONS SHOWN
ARE NOMINAL AND SUBJECT TO FURTHER DESIGN AND
SITE INVESTIGATION.

PROPOSED SITE
DISCHARGE
CONNECTION
POINT. 
ILUS: 6.6
ILDS: 6.2
(ASSUMED)

eRL7.47

IN THE ABSENCE OF SUFFICIENT RAINGARDEN, ROOF
RUNOFF TO BE DIRECTED TO FILTER CARTRIDGES.
DEVELOPMENT REQUIRED TO ACHIEVE 85% REDUCTION IN
TOTAL SUSPENDED SOLIDS, 65% REDUCTION IN TOTAL
PHOSPHOROUS AND 45% REDUCTION IN TOTAL NITROGEN.

PROPOSED CONCRETE
ACCESS LID

SN2 Civil Concept Design, OSD Tank Amendment 20/02/19JG

Level 11, 345 George St, Sydney NSW 2000
T (02) 9241 4188

OSD TANK TO PROVIDE TOTAL OF
58m3 OF DETENTION STORAGE, AS
PER ADVICE FROM SYDNEY WATER.
1.4m DEEP NOM.
ALL ROOF DRAINAGE TO CONNECT
TO OSD TANKS.
PERMISSIBLE SITE DISCHARGE
(PSD) = 139L/s
ORIFICES TO BE SIZED DURING DA
DESIGN.

FUTURE BRIDGE

eRL5.7 APPROX.

UNDER DECK RL8.5 (500 FREEBOAD TO 1%AEP FLOOD LEVEL)
TOP DECK RL8.75 (ASSUMING 250mm DECK)

FLOOD
LEVEL
RL8.09

FLOOD
LEVEL
RL7.99

NEW ROAD, REFER TO
SK-02 FOR
LONGITUDINAL SECTION
OF CENTRELINE.
ASSUMED 2 WAY CROSS
FALL WITH 3% FALL.

RL8.23RL8.05

RL8.15RL7.99

TOK RL8.3 
KERB REQUIREMENT TBC WITH COUNCILTOK RL8.14

RL8.3

0%
 W

IT
H

 K
E

R
B

, 
1%

 M
IN

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 K
E

R
B

1%
 W

IT
H

 K
E

R
B

, 
2%

 M
IN

 W
IT

H
O

U
T

 K
E

R
B

eRL7.04 RL7.24 RL7.74RL7.43

RL7.21 RL7.71RL7.40

RL8.2

TOK RL7.36

3%

3%

1%

1%

RAMP OR STAIRS MAY
BE REQUIRED AT THESE
ENTRANCES

TOK RL7.55 TOK RL7.86

5%

RL7.44

SN3 Civil Concept Design, Inclusion of Road 02/09/19
SN4 Civil Concept Design, Updated Levels to Suit Road 08/10/19



Attachment D 

Perspectives

78



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASE
FEASIBILITY STUDY

WEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

CLIENT:

A600

ABN: 46002722349

MANDIBLE STREET

Plot date:31/5/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

PERSPECTIVE 01

A

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

31/5/19

KP, CVDB
DATE REV DESCRIPTION:

31/05/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

79



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASE
FEASIBILITY STUDY

WEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

CLIENT:

A601

ABN: 46002722349

MANDIBLE STREET

Plot date:31/5/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

PERSPECTIVE 02

A

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

31/5/19

KP, CVDB
DATE REV DESCRIPTION:

31/05/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

80



CLIPPER INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
DRAWING TITLE

REV

SCALES

PROJECT NO : 17030
DRAWING NO

DRAWN BY

CHECKED
TONKIN ZULAIKHA GREER ARCHITECTS

EMAIL  info@tzg.com.au

117 Reservoir Street

P: (02) 9215 4900

ARCHITECTPROJECT :

F: (02) 9215 4901

PHASE
FEASIBILITY STUDY

WEB  www.tzg.com.au

DATE

ESD & CIVIL ENGINEER
Northrop
Phone: 9241 4188
Email: AGirgis@northrop.com.au

TRAFFIC ENGINEER
PTC.
Phone: 8920 0800
Email: steve.wellman@ptcconsultants.co

PLANNER
Mersonn Pty Ltd
Phone: 9326 9962
Email: andrew@mersonn.com.au

SERVICES ENGINEER
Integrated Group Services
Phone: 8488 4600
Email: mays.chalak@igs.com.au

CLIENT:

A602

ABN: 46002722349

MANDIBLE STREET

Plot date:31/5/19 File: BIMcloud: tzg-bimcloud.local - BIMcloud/ARCHICAD 22/17030 MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA/MANDIBLE STREET ALEXANDRIA

PERSPECTIVE 03

A

TG

NOTES:
Do not scale off drawings.  Use figured
dimensions only.  Report any discrepencies
to the architect.  These designs, plans,
specifications and the copyright therein are
the property of Tonkin Zulaikha Greer
Architects Pty Ltd, and must not be
reproduced or copied wholly or in part
without written permission of Tonkin Zulaikha
Greer Architects Pty Ltd.

Address: PO BOX 263, ALEXANDRIA NSW 1435
Phone: (02) 9310 8312

31/5/19

KP, CVDB
DATE REV DESCRIPTION:

31/05/2019 A ISSUE FOR DA

81



Attachment E 

Public benefit offer

82



83



84



Attachment F 

Design Excellence Strategy 

 

 

 

 

85



1  
  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

 

DESIGN EXCELLENCE STRATEGY  

 22 – 28 Mandible  Street, Alexandria  

 

Written in accordance with the City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy 2013  

December 2019 

Prepared for The Proponent – Clipper International Corporation   

 

 

86



2  
  

DESIGN EXCELLENCE STRATEGY 
 

This Design Excellence Strategy prepared by Mersonn Pty Ltd on behalf of Clipper International 
Corporation  (the Proponent).  It accompanies a Concept development application (DA) proposing a 
building envelope for a commercial development at 22 – 28 Mandible  Street, Alexandria (the site).     

 

The redevelopment of the site is guided by the building envelope within the Concept DA and the 

provisions of Sydney Local Environmental Plan (SLEP 2012) and Sydney Development Control Plan 

(SDCP 2012) in order to achieve an enhanced urban design outcome with buildings and public realm 

of high design quality.  

In accordance with the City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy 2013 and Section 3.3.2 of the 

SDCP 2012 this Design Excellence Strategy defines:   

(a) The location and extent of the competitive design process;  

(b) The type of competitive design process(es) to be undertaken:  

(i)  an architectural design competition, open or invited; or  

(ii) the preparation of design alternatives on a competitive basis;  

(c) The number of designers involved in the process(es);  

(d) How architectural design variety is to be achieved across large sites;  

(e) Whether the competitive design process is pursuing additional floor space or 

height;  

(f) Options for distributing any additional floor space or height which may be granted 

by the consent authority for demonstrating design excellence through a competitive 

design process; and 

(g) The target benchmarks for ecologically sustainable development.   

  

 

87



3  
  

  

EXTENT AND LOCATION OF THE COMPETITIVE DESIGN PROCESS 

 

The subject site is known as 22 – 28 Mandible Street, Alexandria and identified as Lot A DP 155704, 
Lot 4, 5 & 11 DP 37767,  & Lot B DP 155803.   

The site is irregular in shape with an area of approximately 3,732m2.  It has a three frontages, with 

the frontage to Mandible Street (north) measuring approximately 48.415m, the  frontage to a 

proposed new street (west) measuring approximately 81.205m and the frontage to a proposed new 

green network open space (south) measuring approximately 38.74m.  The competitive design 

process will apply to the entire site. The Competitive Design Process site is shown in yellow in Figure 

1 below. 

 

 

Figure 1 Location and Extent of the Competitive Design Process Site 

 

88



4  
  

 TYPE OF COMPETITIVE PROCESS   
  

The Proponent proposes the following design excellence strategy for the site:   

  

• Undertake an invited competitive design alternatives process for the site that will inform 
the Detailed Design Application.   
 

• Invite a minimum of four (4) competitors to participate. The selection of the invitees to the 
competitive process will be undertaken in consultation with the City of Sydney.   

 The Competitive Process brief for the site is to be developed in accordance with the following 

principles:   

−  Select a range of emerging and established architects to participate in the competitive 

process;   

−  Require that each competitor will be a person, corporation or firm registered as an architect 

in accordance with the NSW Architects Act 2003 or in the case of overseas competitors, 

eligible for registration with their equivalent association.    

 

 

 

REQUIREMENTS FOR A COMPETITIVE DESIGN PROCESS   
  

In establishing the Competitive Design Alternatives Brief the Proponent as per Section 2.3 of the 
Policy will ensure that:   

  

a) All details about the conduct of the competitive process are contained within the Competitive 

Design Alternatives Process Brief only;   

b) The Competitive Design Alternatives Process Brief and appended documents have been  

reviewed and endorsed by the City of Sydney in writing prior to its distribution to Competitors; 

and   

c) The Competitive Design Alternatives Process Brief is to be generally in accordance with the City 

of Sydney’s Model Competitive Design Process Brief 2012 and the City of Sydney Competitive 

Design Policy.  

89



5  
  

ASSESSMENT AND DECISION MAKING   
  

In establishing a Selection Panel for the competitive design alternatives process the Proponent 

understands that:  

a) The Selection Panel will be appointed by the Proponent and nominated in consultation with the 
City of Sydney. 

b) The Selection Panel is to comprise a total of four (4) members:    

• The City of Sydney will nominate two (2) of the members;   
• The Proponent will nominate two (2) of the members.  

c) Selection Panel members are to:   

  

i. Represent the public interest;  

ii. Be appropriate to the type of development proposed;   

iii. Include only persons who have expertise and experience in the development, design 

and construction professions and industry;   

iv. Include a majority of registered architects with urban design experience.  

  

d) The Chairperson of the Selection Panel will have expertise in architecture and urban design and 

be a recognised proponent of design excellence;   

e) The City of Sydney will nominate an impartial observer(s) to verify that the competitive process 

has been followed appropriately and fairly; and   

  

f) The Selection Panel’s decision will be via a majority vote. The decision of the Selection Panel will 

not fetter the discretion of the Consent Authority in its determination of any subsequent 

development application associated with the development site that is the subject of the 

competitive design process. Unless stated otherwise herein, Clause 4.2 of the City of Sydney 

Competitive Design policy will apply with regard the decision making and resolution process and 

Clause 4.3 in relation to the preparation of a Competitive Design Alternatives Report.  

90



6  
  

DESIGN INTEGRITY   
  

The architect of the winning scheme, as determined by the Selection Panel will be appointed as 

Design Architect and perform this role until the completion of the project.  

 

The role of the Design Architect will include at a minimum the following:   

  

• Prepare a Development Application for the winning scheme;   

  

• Represent the project in meetings with the community, authorities and stakeholders 

as required;   

 

• Prepare the design drawings for a construction certificate for the winning scheme; 

  

• Prepare the design drawings for contract documentation;  

 

• Provide a lead role in ensuring design integrity is maintained throughout the 

development process; and  

  

• Maintain continuity during the construction phases, through to the completion of the 

project. 

  

c)The Design Architect may work in association with other architectural practices but is to retain a 

leadership role over design decisions.  

  
 

ESD TARGETS  
The Competitive Design Alternative Process undertaken will be required to achieve environmentally 

sustainable development targets.  

The ESD targets to guide the Competitive Process are set out in the ESD Report Concept DA 

Sustainability Report prepared by Northrop and dated May 2019 approved by the concept 

development consent. ESD targets and sustainability initiatives will be carried through the competitive 

design phase, design development, construction and through to completion of the project to deliver 

an exemplar of environmentally sustainable development.  

 

91



7  
  

(a) The development will optimise opportunities for environmental sustainable design to 

achieve the following: Apply principles and processes that contribute to ecologically 

sustainable development (ESD).   

(b) The development will demonstrate effective shading to North, 

Eastern and Western facades. 

(c) The development will achieve a NABERS Energy 5.5 minimum but should attempt to 

achieve a 6 Star. 

(d) The development will include a renewable energy component (i.e. roof top p.v.) in line 

with  Option 2 or 3 in Northrop ESD Report table 14 page 29  (i.e. p.v. system of 36 kilowatt 

peak or greater). 

(e) The development will  be certified GreenStar 5 Star using version 1.3 of the GreenStar 

Design and As Built tool  – with a focus on credits relating to Energy/Greenhouse gas 

emissions, Water and Materials (waste avoidance). 

(f) The development will include rain water harvesting and reuse component for at least 

landscape irrigation and wash down areas. 

92



8  
  

PROPOSED ALLOCATION OF UP TO 10% ADDITIONAL HEIGHT.   
  

In developing the site, the Proponent will seek up to an additional 10% height under Clause 

6.21(7)(a) of Sydney LEP 2012 as a result of undertaking a competitive design process.  

 

  

Andrew Darroch  

Mersonn Pty ltd  

December 2019  

93


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Confirmation of Minutes
	3 Development Application: 21C Billyard Avenue, Elizabeth Bay - D/2019/665
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Selected Drawings
	Attachment C - Shadow Study
	Attachment D1 - 3D Visualisations - 12 Onslow Avenue
	Attachment D2 - 3D Visualisations - 13 Onslow Avenue
	Attachment D3 - 3D Visualisations - 15-19 Onslow Avenue
	Attachment D4 - 3D Visualisations - 6A Greenknowe Avenue
	Attachment E - View Sharing Photomontages

	4 Development Application: 6-8 Orwell Street, Potts Point - D/2020/65
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Selected Drawings

	5 Development Application: 306 Cleveland Street, Surry Hills - D/2020/230
	Attachment A - Selected Drawings

	6 Development Application: 22-28 Mandible Street, Alexandria - D/2019/578
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Proposed Building Envelope
	Attachment C - Reference Plans
	Attachment D - Perspectives
	Attachment E - Public Benefit Offer
	Attachment F - Design Excellence Strategy


